AMBANK ISLAMIC BERHAD
(295576-V)
(Incorporated in Malaysia)

Directors’' Report and Audited Financial Statements
31 March 2018



Company No. 295576-U

AMBANK ISLAMIC BERHAD
(Incorporated in Malaysia)

CONTENTS

Directors' report

Statement by directors

Statutory declaration

Shariah committee’s report
Independent auditors' report
Statement of financial position
Statement of profit or loss

Statement vof c;omprehensive income
Statement of changes in equity
Statement of cash flows

Notes to the financial statements

PAGE(S)

28
29
30
33
37
38
39
40
41

43




Company No. 295576-U

AMBANK ISLAMIC BERHAD
(Incorporated in Malaysia)

DIRECTORS' REPORT

The Directors have pleasure in presenting their report and the audited financial statements of
the Bank for the financial year ended 31 March 2018.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Bank is a licensed lIslamic banking institution providing Islamic retail and commercial
banking products and services in accordance with Shariah principles. There have been no
significant changes in the nature of the activities of the Bank during the financial year.

FINANCIAL RESULTS
RM'000

Profit for the financial year 239,129

There were no material transfers to or from reserves, allowances or provisions during the
financial year other than those disclosed in the financial statements.

In the opinion of the Directors, the results of the Bank during the financial year have not been
substantially affected by any item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature.

There has not arisen in the intervai between the end of the financial year and the date of this
report any item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature likely, in the opinion of the
Directors, to affect substantially the results of the operations of the Bank for the current financial
year in which this report is made.

DIVIDENDS

No dividend has been paid or declared by the Bank since the end of the previous financial year.

The Directors did not propose or declare any dividends for the current financiai year.



Company No. 295576-U

BUSINESS PLAN AND STRATEGY
Performance review for financial year ended 31 March 2018

As a manifestation of the growth momentum of our underlying business, the Bank recorded total
net income and profit before provisions of RM785.9 million and RM363.5 million respectively,
which were correspondingly 10% and 22% higher than the previous financial year. Whilst profit
after zakat and taxation of RM239.1 million was 6.5% lower compared to the previous financial
year, the decrease was attributable to higher allowance for impairment in financing, compared to
the net write back in the previous financial year.

The Bank recorded a 1.9% financing growth and slight reduction in deposits by 1.3%. There was
an attestation of the Bank’s strategy to restructure its balance sheet by growing its auto
financing in a selective manner and focusing on growing the more profitable segments such as
financing for Amanah Saham Bumiputera ("ASB"), wealth management, credit cards, small and
medium enterprises ("SMEs"), and transaction banking. The slight drop in deposits was a
reflection of the Bank’s strategy to improve its cost of funds whilst not compromising the need to
have adequate liquidity, by growing low cost deposits and consciously forgoing expensive and
chunky term deposits. This was evident from the growth of current and savings account
("CASA") and retail deposits by 8.2% and 15.7% respectively.

To fund its business growth and have adequate buffer in light of the more challenging and
complex economic environment, AMMB Holdings Berhad ("AMMB") had subscribed to ordinary
shares amounting to RM200.0 million in the financial year. Coupled with the growth in
profitability, the Bank managed to maintain a strong capital position, with total capital ratio and
common equity tier 1 capital ratio as at 31 March 2018 of 16.6% and 11.6% respectively.
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BUSINESS PLAN AND STRATEGY (CONT'D.)
Business Highlights

We have widened our scope of business beyond credit intermediation by also playing an
investment intermediation role via the introduction of the Murabahah Term Investment Account
("MTIA"). Whilst credit intermediation shall continue to remain our key earnings generator and
source of funding, the introduction of the MTIA provided an option to our customers to earn
higher returns by deploying their funds to invest in Shariah-compliant assets. The MTIA also
served as an additional funding and liquidity tool for the Bank.

Our newly set-up Islamic Business Banking Department had facilitated the seamiless interface
with the AMMB Group’s new Business Banking line of business in driving penetration into the
SME segment, which resulted in our standalone SME portfolio to grow by 16% in the financial
year. The Bank continued to focus in driving penetration into the SME segment by, amongst
others, participating in the Shariah-Compliant SME Financing Scheme 2.0 ("SSFS2"). The
SSFS2 was initiated by the Government of Malaysia to provide 2% profit expense rebate to
eligible Malaysian SMEs and is administered by SME Corporation. The Bank had fully utilised its
initial allocation and was subsequently given additional allocations whereby in total, the Bank
submitted a total application of more than RM100.0 million to SME Corporation.

During the financial year, we have been actively promoting products and services to help
institutions of higher learning to improve their collection capabilities. Leveraging on our cash
management solutions, we have been mandated as the primary banker for the operating
accounts for a number of public universities. We have also secured mandates for the collection
of student fees via JomPAY as the collection channel.

On the consumer banking front, our ASB Term Financing-i portfolio has grown to almost RM1.0
billion. The emphasis of offering auto financing and mortgages to the profitable segments,
coupled with the distribution of Islamic unit trusts and bancatakaful products, have diversified
and further improved our earnings.

Complemented by the procurement of low cost and retail deposits, these new earnings drivers
had improved our net funded margin.

In line with our value based intermediation ("VBI") journey, we have concluded the following:

*  Waqaf collection solution via JomPAY for universities and religious bodies. The public
universities which have partnered us included Universiti Teknologi Malaysia and
International Islamic University Malaysia ("llUM"). Amongst the religious bodies which
have embarked on a partnership with us was Tabung Wagaf Rakyat Johor. The
additional collection channel is to provide added convenience, accessibility and
flexibility to the public and corporate sector to make their Waqaf contributions to these
institutions.

®*  Launched the AmBank Islamic — IlUM Credit Card Programme in October 2017. Under
this programme, cardholders can convert their AmBonus Points into cash contribution
towards the HUM Endowment Fund from a minimum of 3,000 AmBonus Points. The
proceeds will then be utilised by the IlUM Endowment Fund to amongst others, provide
financial support for HUM’s needy students.
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BUSINESS PLAN AND STRATEGY (CONT'D.)
Products and Services

Amongst the products that were launched in the financial year are:

®*  Foreign Currency Current Account-i (Wadiah) — a current account denominated in
foreign currency

* Invoice Financing-i — a trade financing facility that can be utilised to finance goods and
services, arising from trade transactions

®*  True Savers-i and True Transact-i
* CASA-i (Tawarrug)

The distribution agreement between the Bank and Syarikat Takaful Malaysia Bhd ("STMB") was
executed to signify the appointment of the Bank as a distributor of STMB's takaful products such
as commercial fire takaful, motor takaful, personal accident and house owner/ residential fire
takaful. In February 2018, the keyman takaful product was on-boarded as an additional product
which could be bundled with our financing products to SMEs.

Board Composition
During the financial year, the Bank had appointed four (4) new board members being:

®*  Dato’ Sri Abdul Hamidy Abdul Hafiz
® - Farina Farikhullah Khan

*  Hjh Rosmah Ismail

* Azlan Bagee Abdullah

Dato’ Sri Abdul Hamidy Abdul Hafiz also serves as the Chairman of the Bank following the
retirement of Tan Sri Azman Hashim as Chairman of the Bank. Mr. Wasim Saifi, an Independent
Non-Executive Director of the Bank, has also retired from the Board upon the end of his tenure.

Shariah Governance

The Bank adopted the Shariah Governance Framework ("SGF") issued by BNM by having 4 key
Shariah functions. The Shariah Research & Advisory (including Shariah Legal), Shariah Risk
Management and Shariah Review functions acted as the second line of defence whilst the
Shariah Audit function which is part of the Group Internal Audit Department, acted as the third
line of defence. By having this practice in place, the Bank was able to identify, monitor and
mitigate any possible Shariah breaches. For the financial year ended 31 March 2018, there was
only one (1) actual Shariah non-Compliant ("SNC") incident recorded by the Bank with SNC
income totalling RM3,699.
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BUSINESS PLLAN AND STRATEGY (CONT'D.)
Senior Management Oversight

The oversight of the Bank’s business and compliance aspects were conducted via AmBank
Islamic’s Heads of Department Forum, Financial Performance Forum and Independent Control
Forum. The Heads of Department Forum discussed, amongst others, the strategic, human
resource, industry development, product, and other business and organisation matters, whilst
the Financial Performance Forum focused on the financial and business aspects of AmBank
Islamic. The Independent Control Forum focused on Shariah, risk management, compliance,
internal audit, liquidity, regulatory and other control matters.

Brand Presence

The Bank continued to focus on strengthening its brand presence and promote greater
awareness and knowledge in Islamic banking amongst the public through participation in various
events such as:

The 14" Kuala Lumpur Islamic Finance Forum ("KLIFF") 2017
3" Annual Symposium on Islamic Finance

®* HALFEST ASEAN 2017

Karnival Kewangan Kuching by Bank Negara Malaysia
Karnival Kewangan Alor Setar by Bank Negara Malaysia

Aside from that, the Bank had been featured in Halal Malaysia TV programme which focused on
the Islamic banking industry in Malaysia.

Corporate Social Responsibility

The Bank maintained its progress in serving the community through corporate social
responsibility ("CSR") initiatives. Similar to previous years, the Bank has fulfilled its responsibility
through business zakat distribution of RM1.8 million. A sum of RM468,000 was paid to state
zakat collection centres. The balance of RM1.3 million was distributed to eligible recipients
ranging from associations and charity homes throughout Malaysia, including Yayasan Pelajaran
Mara ("YPM"). The distribution to YPM was for the ongoing Student Adoption Programme which
was into its seventh year out of a 10-year programme.
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OUTLOOK FOR NEXT FINANCIAL YEAR

The Malaysian banking sector and economy recorded commendable performance in 2017.
Whilst the momentum is expected to continue, there remain uncertainties and challenges arising
from increasing competition, and internal and external developments.

Over the last couple of years, the Bank had restructured its balance sheet by growing its auto
financing and mortgage portfolios in a selective manner, and focusing on profitable growth for its
wholesale banking portfolio. The Bank had also introduced a number of new products and
services to diversify its earnings drivers. These have resulted in a marked improvement to the
Bank’s underlying business as manifested through its depositor and asset concentration profile,
net funded margin, contribution of fee based income and customer base.

The Bank is now poised to further improve its revenue and productivity through new growth
strategies. We aim to deliver value to all our stakeholders through sustainable returns whilst
maintaining optimal capital and funding positions.

The Bank intends to harness opportunities in the Islamic banking space to serve niche market
segments. Target areas will include Islamic wealth management, which entails the distribution of
Islamic unit trusts and bancatakaful products such as Takaful Murni (i.e. protection for hajj and
umrah), and Term Financing-i for investment in ASB and ASB2. These initiatives would be
underpinned by strategies to procure low cost deposits via cash management solutions, payroll,
merchant acquisition and utilisation of online channels.

To address the issue of margin compression, the Bank will place more emphasis on SMEs.
Leveraging on strategic partnerships would position the Bank as a preferred bank for the SMEs.
The SME segment provides the opportunity to cross-sell products such as keyman takaful and
deposits. The Bank would continue to focus on trade and mid-sized corporates to increase its
foreign exchange revenue and deposits, and boost fee income.

Managing asset quality via prudent credit underwriting standards and proactive collection
strategies will also be a key focus.

Value Based intermediation ("VBI")

We had put in motion several initiatives in our quest to integrate VBI characteristics into our
practices, conduct and offerings. Towards this end, for the next couple of years, we will focus on
two VBI-based "pillars" as we seek new customers, market share and boost our bottom line.
The first such pillar is on financial inclusion and responsible financing whilst the second is on
environmentally and socially responsible investment. We will roll out new products and aim for
targeted segments under both these pillars.

In regard to the first piliar, we plan to launch an affordable home financing product to uplift the
social economic welfare of society. We are also targeting the SMEs by taking measured
approach in providing the necessary tools to move them forward and scale up their businesses,
which is consistent with the VBI strategy of supporting the real economy.
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OUTLOOK FOR NEXT FINANCIAL YEAR (CONT'D.)

Vaiue Based Intermediation ("VBI") (Cont'd.)

As for the second pillar on environmentally and socially responsible investment, the Bank is
looking in the medium term to integrate environment and social considerations in its customer
credit assessment processes.

Moving forward, we are confident that value based considerations will boost earnings in the long
term while not compromising our financial targets.

Capacity Building

We will continue to promote capacity building in order to have the right skill set, optimal level of
resources and proper succession. To ensure the sustainability of our business and operations,
we have updated our training plan which entails systematic and targeted training for Board
members, Shariah Committee members, management and staff of the AMMB Group who are
involved in the Islamic banking business. Such systematic training on Islamic banking is key to
ensure consistent and relevant delivery throughout the AMMB Group. Training modules shall be
tailored to ensure that the specific requirements of the business are met.

The other key element is the mandatory Islamic banking 101 e-learning course. Others include
nationwide engagements with relationships managers and training for Islamic banking
champions of all 174 branches. Such internal education/ awareness programmes are key to
position Islamic banking as the preferred choice for customers.

ISSUANCE OF SHARES AND DEBENTURES

On 6 September 2017, the Bank redeemed the third tranche of the Senior Islamic securities
issuance ("Senior Sukuk") with nominal value amounting to RM300.0 million.

On 20 September 2017, the Bank redeemed the first tranche of the Senior Sukuk with nominal
value amounting to RM550.0 million.

These two tranches of Senior Sukuk were issued under the Senior Sukuk Musharakah
programme with nominal value of up to RM3.0 billion.

On 26 December 2017, the Bank redeemed the third tranche of the RM2.0 billion nominal
amount of Subodinated Sukuk Musharakah programme ("Sukuk Musharakah") with nominal
value amounting to RM130.0 million.

On 23 February 2018, the Bank had issued Tranche 6 of the Subordinated Sukuk Murabahah
with a nominal value of RM150.0 million. '
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ISSUANCE OF SHARES AND DEBENTURES (CONT'D.)

On 29 September 2017, the Bank increased its issued and paid-up ordinary share capital by
RM200.0 million from RM1,187,107,330 to RM1,387,107,331 by way of issuance of 31,446,541
new ordinary shares at an issue price of RM6.36 per ordinary share. The new ordinary shares
issued during the current financial year rank pari passu in all respects with the existing ordinary
shares of the Bank.

Other than as disclosed, there were no share buy-backs, share cancellations, shares held as
treasury shares nor resale of treasury shares or other debentures by the Bank during the
financial year.

SHARE OPTIONS

No options have been granted by the Bank to any parties during the financial year to take up
unissued shares of the Bank.

No shares have been issued during the financial year by virtue of the exercise of any option to
take up unissued shares of the Bank. As at the end of the financial year, there were no unissued
shares of the Bank under options.

INDEMNIFICATION OF DIRECTORS

The Bank through the holding company, AMMB, has maintained a Directors’ and Officers’
Liability Insurance on a group basis up to an aggregate limit of RM300.0 million against any
liability incurred by the Directors and Officers in the discharge of their duties while holding office
for the Bank. The Directors and Officers shall not be indemnified for any negligence, fraud,
breach of law or breach of trust proven against them. The amount of insurance premium paid for
the Directors and Officers by AMMB for the current financial year was RM369,550.

AMMB EXECUTIVES’ SHARE SCHEME

At the 22nd Extraordinary General Meeting held on 26 September 2008, the shareholders of
AMMB approved the proposal by AMMB to establish an executives’ share scheme ("ESS") of up
to fifteen percent (15%) (which was subsequently reduced to ten percent (10%) as approved by
the Board of Directors pursuant to the ESS By-Laws) of the issued and paid-up ordinary share
capital of AMMB at any point in time for the duration of the ESS for eligible executives (including
senior management) and executive directors of the AMMB Group (excluding subsidiaries which
are dormant or such other subsidiaries which may be excluded under the terms of the By-Laws)
who fulfil the criteria for eligibility stipulated in the By-Laws governing the ESS ("Eligible
Executives"). The ESS is implemented and administered by an executives’ share scheme
committee ("ESS Committee"), in accordance with the By-Laws. The functions of the ESS
Committee has since been consolidated with that of Group Nomination and Remuneration
Committee ("GNRC") from 29 October 2013. The ESS was established on 12 January 2009 and
would be in force for a period of ten (10) years.
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AMMB EXECUTIVES’ SHARE SCHEME (CONT'D.)

The awards granted to such Eligible Executives can comprise shares and/or options to
subscribe for shares ("Options"”). Shares to be made available under the ESS ("AMMB
Executive Scheme Shares") will only vest or Options are only exercisable by Eligible Executives
who have duly accepted the offers of awards under the ESS ("Scheme Participants”) subject to
the satisfaction of stipulated conditions. Such conditions are stipulated and determined by the
GNRC.

BAD AND DOUBTFUL FINANCING

Before the financial statements of the Bank were made out, the Directors took reasonable steps
to ascertain that proper action had been taken in relation to the writing off of bad financing and
the making of allowance for doubtful financing and have satisfied themselves that all known bad
financing had been written off and adequate allowances had been made for doubtful financing.

At the date of this report, the Directors are not aware of any circumstances that would render
the amount written off for bad financing or the amount of allowances for doubtful financing in the
financial statements of the Bank inadequate to any substantial extent.

CURRENT ASSETS

Before the financial statements of the Bank were made out, the Directors took reasonable steps
to ascertain that any current assets, which were unlikely to be realised in the ordinary course of
business, their values as shown in the accounting records of the Bank, have been written down
to their estimated realisable values.

At the date of this report, the Directors are not aware of any circumstances which would render
the values attributed to the current assets in the financial statements of the Bank misleading.

VALUATION METHODS

At the date of this report, the Directors are not aware of any circumstances which have arisen
which would render adherence to the existing methods of valuation of assets or liabilities of the
Bank misleading or inappropriate.
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CONTINGENT AND OTHER LIABILITIES
At the date of this report, there does not exist:

(a) any charge on the assets of the Bank which has arisen since the end of the financial year
which secures the liability of any other person; or

(b) any contingent liability of the Bank which has arisen since the end of the financial year,
other than those incurred in the normal course of business.

No contingent or other liability of the Bank has become enforceable, or is likely to become
enforceable within the period of twelve months after the end of the financial year which, in the
opinion of the Directors, will or may substantially affect the ability of the Bank to meet its
obligations as and when they fall due.

CHANGE OF CIRCUMSTANCES

At the date of this report, the Directors are not aware of any circumstances, not otherwise dealt
with in this report or the financial statements of the Bank that would render any amount stated in
the financial statements misleading.

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Bank who served on the Board since the beginning of the current financial
year to the date of this report are:

Dato' Sri Abdul Hamidy Abdul Hafiz (appointed on 1.4.2017)
Raja Anuar Raja Abu Hassan

Hjh Rosmah Ismail (appointed on 1.4.2017)

Farina Farikhullah Khan (appointed on 14.4.2017)

Azlan Bagee Abdullah (appointed on 3.7.2017)

Tan Sri Azman Hashim (resigned on 1.4.2017)

Wasim Akhtar Saifi (resigned on 15.1.2018)

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS
Under the Bank's Constitution, the Directors are not required to hold shares in the Bank.

None of the Directors in office at the end of the financial year had any interest in shares in the
related corporations during and at the end of the financial year.

10
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DIRECTORS’ BENEFITS

Since the end of the previous financial year, no Director of the Bank has received or become
entitled to receive a benefit (other than benefits included in the aggregate amount of
emoluments received or due and receivable by Directors as shown in Note 36 to the financial
statements and from related corporations) by reason of a contract made by the Bank or a
related corporation with the Director or with a firm in which the Director is a member, or with a
company in which the Director has a substantial financial interest except for related party
transactions as shown in Note 41 to the financial statements.

Neither during nor at the end of the financial year, did there subsist any arrangements to which
the Bank is a party to any arrangements whose object is to enable the Directors to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Bank or any other body
corporate, other than those arising from the scheme shares and/or options granted pursuant to
‘the Executives' Share Scheme ("ESS") of AMMB, the holding company.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
(a) DIRECTORS' PROFILES

DATO’ SRI ABDUL HAMIDY ABDUL HAFIZ
Chairman/Independent Non-Executive Director

YBhg Dato’ Sri Abdul Hamidy bin Abdul Hafiz ("Dato’ Sri Hamidy"), a Malaysian, aged 61,
was appointed as Chairman/Independent Non-Executive Director of the Bank on 1 April
2017. Dato’ Sri Hamidy is the Chairman of the Board Credit Committee ("BCC") of the
Bank. He is also an Independent Non-Executive Director and a Member of the BCC of
AmBank (M) Berhad.

Dato’ Sri Hamidy holds a Bachelor's Degree and a Master in Business Administration from
Ohio University, USA. He is also a Fellow Member of the Asian Institute of Chartered Banks
("AICB") (formely known as Institut Bank-Bank Malaysia) and a Member of the Association
of Chartered Islamic Finance Professionals ("ACIFP").

Dato’ Sri Hamidy is an experienced banker with over 30 years of extensive banking
experience in the fields of Commercial and Finance Banking, Investment Banking and
Islamic Banking. Dato’ Sri Hamidy was previously the Chief Executive Officer of Kuwait
Finance House (Malaysia) Berhad and prior to that, Dato’ Sri Hamidy was the Chairman of
Danajamin Nasional Berhad. He was also previously the Managing Director/Chief Executive
Officer of Affin Bank Berhad, Chairman of the Association of Banks Malaysia and the
Managing Director of Pengurusan Danaharta Nasional Berhad.

Dato’ Sri Hamidy is currently the Chairman of Eastland Equity Berhad and he also sits on
the Boards of Chubb Insurance Malaysia Berhad, Sime Darby Berhad and Sky Xchange
Sdn Bhd. Besides directorship in companies, Dato’ Sri Hamidy also serves as the Chairman
of Corporate Debt Restructuring Committee ("CDRC") since 2009 and as a Member of
Listing Committee of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad.

11
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (CONT'D.)
(a) DIRECTORS' PROFILES (CONT'D.)

YM RAJA ANUAR RAJA ABU HASSAN
Independent Non-Executive Director

YM Raja Anuar Raja Abu Hassan ("Raja Anuar"”), a Malaysian, aged 62, was appointed as
an Independent Non-Executive Director of the Bank on 18 February 2016. Raja Anuar is
the Chairman of the Audit and Examination Committee and a Member of the Risk
Management Committee of the Bank.

Raja Anuar is a Chartered Accountant by profession and is a Member of the Malaysian
Institute of Accountants, a Member of the Malaysian Institute of Certified Public
Accountants, a Fellow of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and a
Chartered Member of the Institute of Internal Auditors.

During his career, Raja Anuar held senior positions in finance and internal audit in several
public listed companies in the banking, telecommunications, plantations, manufacturing,
and financial services industries. Raja Anuar’s previous experiences also include holding
senior board directorships in several public listed Malaysian companies, namely Perdana
Petroleum Berhad as the Independent Non-Executive Chairman and MSM Holdings Berhad
as the Senior Independent Director. He also served as the Chairman of the Audit
Committee and the Nomination and Remuneration Committee of both public listed
companies. Currently, he is an Independent Non-Executive Director of Panasonic
Manufacturing Malaysia Berhad.

12
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (CONT'D.)
(a) DIRECTORS' PROFILES (CONT'D.)

HJH ROSMAH ISMAIL
Independent Non-Executive Director

Hjh Rosmah ismail ("Hjh Rosmah"), a Malaysian, aged 54, was appointed as an
Independent Non-Executive Director of the Bank on 1 April 2017. Hjh Rosmah is a Member
of the Board Credit Committee of the Bank.

Hjh Rosmah graduated with the Master of Laws (LLM) in Banking Law specialising in
Banking, Securities Law and Islamic Finance at the International Islamic University of
Malaysia with Top Honours as the Best Postgraduate Student and the Bachelor of Science
(Economics) Honours degree in International Relations from the London School of
Economics & Political Science (University of London) in United Kingdom. She is also a
holder of the Takaful Licence Ceriificate (Distinction) from the Malaysian Institute of
Insurance.

Hjh Rosmah is an international banker with a total of more than 25 years at international
banks in Malaysia and overseas, covering Conventional and Islamic Finance across both
corporate and consumer client segments across all banking products, and 3 years in the
financial consultancy including Price Waterhouse Associates. During her career, she has
been commended by top international Shariah Advisors for having authored among the
best Shariah Compliance, Risk and Business Operational Policy & Procedures Manual for
Islamic Banking and Finance. She has set up Islamic Banking entities in the Middle East
and Malaysia, and the businesses under her leadership had also won corporate awards
during her tenure. Hjh Rosmah is also on the Board of the Arab-Malaysian Chamber of
Commerce.

13
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (CONT'D.)
(a) DIRECTORS' PROFILES (CONT'D.)

PUAN FARINA FARIKHULLAH KHAN
Independent Non-Executive Director

Puan Farina Farikhullah Khan ("Pn Farina"), a Malaysian, aged 46, was appointed as an
Independent Non-Executive Director of the Bank on 14 April 2017. Pn Farina is the
Chairman of the Risk Management Committee and a Member of the Audit and Examination
Committee of the Bank. She is also an Independent Non-Executive Director and a Member
of the Audit and Examination Committee and Group Nomination & Remuneration
Committee of AMMB Holdings Berhad.

Pn Farina graduated from the University of New South Wales in Australia with a Bachelor of
Commerce in Accounting in 1993. She is a Fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants
in Australia. She has also completed the Advanced Management Program at Harvard
Business School in the USA.

Pn Farina has 23 years of working experience, with 20 years in the oil and gas industry and
10 years of which in the management capacity. She started out her career in 1994 with
Coopers & Lybrand, Australia as a Senior Associate for the Business Services unit whereby
she provided assistance and advisory services on accounting, audit, tax requirements and
business services for 3 years. :

In 1997, Pn Farina returned to Malaysia to join Petroliam Nasional Berhad ("PETRONAS")
in the Corporate Planning and Development Division where she started as an executive and
in the ensuing years until 2005, she held various positions including Senior Manager
(Strategy and Portfolio) in Group Strategic Planning of PETRONAS.

Pn Farina subsequently assumed the position of the Chief Financial Officer of PETRONAS
Carigali Sdn. Bhd, one of the largest subsidiaries of PETRONAS with operations in over 23
countries, from 2006 to 2010. She then served as the Chief Financial Officer at
PETRONAS Exploration and Production Business, the largest arm of PETRONAS
Business, from mid-2010 until 2013, where the business included both PETRONAS Carigali
Group of Companies as well as the Petroleum Management Unit of PETRONAS.

Prior to leaving PETRONAS Group at the end of 2015 to pursue her other interests, Pn
Farina was the Chief Financial Officer of PETRONAS Chemical Group Berhad, the largest
listed entity of PETRONAS, for two years.

Pn Farina is also an Independent Non-Executive Director of icon Offshore Berhad effective
18 May 2016. She had also previously served on the Board of various PETRONAS entities
such as Progress Energy Canada Ltd as well as a number of PETRONAS joint venture
entities with foreign partners.

14
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (CONT'D.)
(a) DIRECTORS' PROFILES (CONT'D.)

ENCIK AZLAN BAQEE ABDULLAH
Non Independent Non-Executive Director

Encik Azlan Bagee Abdullah ("En Azlan"), a Malaysian, aged 55, was appointed to the
Board of the Bank on 3 July 2017 and is a Member of the Board Credit Committee of the
Bank.

He obtained a Bachelor of Science in Business Administration, majoring Accounting and
Finance from the California State Universitiy, Chico in 1985.

Encik Azlan started his early career in 1986 as a Loan Rehabilitation Unit Officer in MUI
Bank and subsequently joined Arab-Malaysian Finance Berhad as a Corporate Loans
Marketing Officer in 1988.

In 1990, he joined Amcorp Group Berhad ("Amcorp") and has since undertaken various
challenging and multi-tasking positions within the Group. He was responsible for the overall
management and development of a high rise development project, Amcorp Trade Centre in
Petaling Jaya, a 1.2 million sq ft mixed development joint venture with Yayasan Selangor, -
from commencement to completion of the project. He was also responsible for the
management and development of the 400 acres Kayangan Heights in Shah Alam, the
1,000 acres Sibu Jaya Township in Sarawak, and various other mid-sized projects
throughout Malaysia prior to these.

In 2007, Encik Azlan was appointed as Chief Operating Officer of Amcorp Properties
Berhad, a listed subsidiary of Amcorp. He was involved in the company’s reorganisation
exercise where he had successfuily turned-around the previously known AMDB Berhad into
a focused, profitable business and re-branded it and now known as Amcorp Properties
Berhad ("AMPROP"). He has since then been involved in a series of corporate exercises,
including disposal of non-core and non-controlling businesses, rehabilitation of non-
profitable divisions as well as acquisition of new businesses in different markets and
regions, delivering much of the needed recurring profits for AMPROP since 2009 to date.

He was also involved in expanding AMPROP's property sector by venturing into overseas
markets at prime central London, Tokyo, Madrid, Hong Kong and Singapore, and acts as
the principal liaison officer with reputable joint venture partners such as Temasek Holdings
of Singapore and Grosvenor Group of UK.

15
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' CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (CONT'D.)
(a) DIRECTORS' PROFILES (CONT'D.)

ENCIK AZLAN BAQEE ABDULLAH (CONT'D.)
Non Independent Non-Executive Director

In addition to the property sector, he was also instrumental in AMPROP Group's venture
into Sustainable Renewable Energy Power Plants i.e. BMW Sg Perting Mini Hydro Power
plant, 10.25MW Gemas Solar Power Plant and 20MW Sg Liang Mini Hydro Power Plant,
some of which have garnered awards and accolades.

He was previously an Exco member of KESAS Sdn Bhd, the concession holder and
operator of the Shah Alam Expressway. Currently, he is a Board Member of AMREIT
Holdings Sdn Bhd (formerly known as Am ARA REIT Holdings Sdn Bhd) and AmREIT
Managers Sdn Bhd (formerly known as Am ARA REIT Managers Sdn Bhd) and serves as
board member of the subsidiaries within Amcorp and AMPROP groups.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (CONT'D.)
(b) DIRECTORS' TRAINING

The Board recognised the importance of ensuring that Directors are continuously being
developed to acquire or enhance the requisite knowledge and skills to discharge their
duties effectively.

All new Directors appointed to the Board would attend a formal induction programme to
familiarise themselves with the Bank’s strategy and aspiration, understanding of the line of
businesses and corporate functions, key financial highlights, people initiatives,
requirements of audit, compliance and risk management conducted by the various
Managing Directors / Chief Executive Officers / Heads of the business units as well as
Senior Management, and organised by the Group Learning and Development unit. The
Company Secretary would also provide the new Directors with an information kit regarding
disclosure obligations of a director, Board Charter, Code of Ethics, Constitution of the Bank,
Board Committees’ Terms of Reference and Schedule of Matters Reserved for the Board,
amongst others.

Apart from the Financial Institutions Directors’ Education ("FIDE") Programme accredited by
The ICLIF Leadership and Governance Centre, all Directors appointed to the Board, have
also attended other relevant training programmes and seminars organised by the regulatory
authorities and professional bodies to further enhance their business acumen and
professionalism in discharging their duties to the Bank. The Directors also attend offsite
Strategy Meeting to have an in-depth understanding and continuous engagement with
Management pertaining to the AMMB Group’s strategic direction. In addition, the Directors
are constantly updated on information relating to the AMMB Group’s development and
industry development through discussion at Board meetings with the Senior Management
team.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (CONT'D.)

(c¢) BOARD RESPONSIBILITY AND OVERSIGHT

(d)

The Board of Directors (the "Board") remains fully committed in ensuring that the principles
and recommendations in corporate governance are applied consistently in the Bank. The
Board complies with the recommendations in corporate governance as set out in the
Malaysian Code on Corporate Governance 2017.

The Board supervises the management of the Bank’s businesses, policies and affairs with
the goal of long term sustainability of the Bank. The Board met fourteen (14) times during
the financial year to carry out its duties and responsibilities, with additional Board meetings
being convened, whenever required.

The Board addresses key matters concerning strategy, finance, organisation structure,
business developments, human resource (subject to matters reserved for shareholder's
meetings by law), and establishes guidelines for overall business, risk and control policies,
capital allocation and approves all key business developments. The Board also gives due
regard to any decision of the Shariah Committee on any Shariah issue relating to the
carrying on of business, affairs or activities of the Bank and approves policies relating to
Shariah matters upon consultation with the Shariah Committee.

The Board currently comprises five (5) Directors with wide skills and experience, four (4) of
whom are Independent Non-Executive Directors. The Directors participate fully in decision-
making on key issues regarding the Bank. The Independent Non-Executive Directors
ensure strategies proposed by the management are fully discussed and examined, as well
as taking into account the long term interests of various stakeholders.

There is a clear division between the roles of Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer of
the Bank. The Senior Management team of the Bank are invited to attend Board Meetings
to provide presentations and detailed explanations on matters that have been tabled. The
Company Secretary has been empowered by the Board to assist the Board in matters of
governance and in complying with statutory duties.

COMMITTEES OF THE BOARD

The Board delegates certain responsibilities to the Board Committees. The Board
Committees together with the Committees established at AMMB Group level which were
created to assist the Board in certain areas of deliberations, are:

Group Nomination and Remuneration Committee (at AMMB Group level)
Audit and Examination Committee (at Bank level)

Risk Management Committee (at Bank level)

Board Credit Committee (at Bank level)

PN~

The roles and responsibilities of each Committee are set out under the respective terms of
reference, which have been approved by the Board. The minutes of the Committee
meetings are tabled at the subsequent Board meetings for comment and notation.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (CONT'D.)

(d) COMMITTEES OF THE BOARD (CONT'D.)

The attendance of Board members at the meetings of the Board and the various Board

Committees is set out below:-

Number of meetings attended in Financial Year 2018 ("FY2018")
Group
Nomination
and Audit and Risk Board
Board of Remuneration Examination Management Credit
Directors Committee Committee Committee Committee
Dato’ Sri Abdul Hamidy Abdul Hafiz 1313 N/A N/A N/A 21/21
(appointed on 1.4.2017) (Chairman)
Wasim Akhtar Saifi 910 N/A 77? 572 N/A
(resigned on 15.1.2018)
Raja Anuar Raja Abu Hassan 1313 N/A 1111 8/9 N/A
(Chairman)
Hjh Rosmah Ismail 13113 N/A N/A N/A 21121
(appointed on 1.4.2017)
Farina Farikhullah Khan 1212 8/8° 11111 8/9¢ N/A
(appointed on 14.4.2017) (Chairman)
Azlan Bagee Abdullah 1010 N/A N/A N/A 17178
|(appointed on 3.7.2017)
Number of meetings 13 11 11 9 21
held in FY2018

a Ceased as Member following resignation as Director
b Appointed as Member on 8.8.2017
c Appointed as Chairman on 27.2.2018
d  Appointed as Member on 3.7.2017

Notes:

1. All attendances reflect the number of meetings attended during the Directors’ tenure of service.

2. NIA represents non-Committee member.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (CONT'D.)
(d) COMMITTEES OF THE BOARD (CONT'D.)
Group Nomination and Remuneration Committee

The Committee was established at AMMB Group level ("AMMB") and the Committee
comprises five (5) members, all of whom are Non-Executive Directors and chaired by an
Independent Non-Executive Director. The Committee is responsible for:-

- regularly reviewing the board structure, size and composition, as well as making
recommendation to the Board of the Bank with regard to any changes that are deemed
necessary,

- recommending the appointment of Directors to the Board and Committees of the Board
as well as annually review the mix of skills, experience and competencies that Non-
Executive and Executive Directors should bring to the Board,;

- on an annual basis, assessing the effectiveness of the Board as a whole and the
Committees as well as the contributions of the Chairman and each Director to the
effectiveness of the Board;

- recommending to the Board the framework/methodology for the remuneration of the
Directors, Chief Executive Officer and other Senior Management staff, with the relevant
experience and expertise needed to assist in managing the AMMB Group effectively.
The services of consultants are utilised to review the methodology for rewarding
Executive Directors and Management staff according to the Key Performance
Indicators required to be achieved;

- recommending the appointment of Shariah Committee members as well as reviewing
the annual performance of the Shariah Committee members and recommending the
remuneration for the Shariah Committee members; and

- to implement the ESS in accordance with the By-Laws of the ESS or approved by the
shareholders of the AMMB.

The Committee met eleven (11) times during the financial year ended 31 March 2018.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (CONT'D.)
(d) COMMITTEES OF THE BOARD (CONT'D.)
Audit and Examination Committee

The Committee comprises two (2) members, both of whom are Independent Non-Executive
Directors. The Board has appointed the Audit and Examination Committee (“AEC”") to
assist in discharging its duties of maintaining a sound system of internal controls to
safeguard the Bank’s assets and shareholder’s investments.

The AEC met during the financial year to review the scope of work of both the internal audit
function and the statutory auditors, the results arising thereafter as well as their evaluation
of the system of internal controls. The AEC also followed up on the resolution of major
issues raised by the internal auditors, statutory auditors as well as the regulatory authorities
in their audit reports. The financial statements were reviewed by the AEC prior to their
submission to the Board of the Bank for adoption.

In addition, the AEC has reviewed the procedures set up by the Bank to identify and report,
and where necessary, seeks approval for related party transactions and, with the
assistance of the internal auditors, reviewed related party transactions.

The Committee met eleven (11) times during the financial year ended 31 March 2018.

Internal Audit Function

The Internal Audit function is established at AMMB Group level, headed by the Group Chief
Internal Auditor.

The Group Chief Internal Auditor reports to the AEC. Group Internal Audit assists the AEC
in assessing and reporting on business risks and internal controls, operating within the
framework defined in the Audit Charter.

The AEC approves Group Internal Audit's annual audit plan, which covers the audit of all
major business units and operations within the Bank. The results of each audit are
submitted to the AEC and significant findings are discussed during the AEC meeting. The
minutes of the AEC meetings are formally tabled to the Board for notation and action,
where necessary. The Group Chief Internal Auditor attends the AEC meeting by invitation.
The AEC also holds separate meetings with the Group Chief Internal Auditor whenever
necessary.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (CONT'D.)
(d) COMMITTEES OF THE BOARD (CONT'D.)
Internal Audit Function (Cont'd.)

The scope of internal audit includes the review of risk management processes, operational
controls, financial controls, compliance with laws and regulations, and information
technology systems and security.

Group Internal Audit prioritises its efforts on performing audits in accordance with the audit
plan, based on a comprehensive risk assessment of all areas of banking activities. The risk-
based audit plan is reviewed at least semi-annually taking into account of the changing
business and risk environment.

Group Internal Audit also performs investigations and special reviews, and participates
actively in major system development activities and projects to advise on risk management
and internal control measures.

Risk Management Committee

Risk management is an integral part of the Bank’s strategic decision-making process which
ensures that the corporate objectives are consistent with the appropriate risk-return trade-
off. The Board approves the risk management strategy and sets the broad risk tolerance
level and also approves the engagement of new products or activities after considering the
risk bearing capacity and readiness of the Bank.

The Risk Management Committee exercises oversight on behalf of the Board to ensure
adequate overall management of credit, market, liquidity, operational, legal and capital
risks, cyber security risk impacting the Bank.

The Committee is independent from management and comprises two (2) members, both of
whom are Independent Non-Executive Directors. The Committee ensures that the Board's
risk tolerance level is effectively enforced, the risk management process is in place and
functioning and reviews high-level risk exposures to ensure that they are within the overall
interests of the Bank. It also assesses the Bank’s ability to accommodate risks under
normal and stress scenarios.

The Risk Management Departmeént is independent of the various business units and acts
as the catalyst for the development and maintenance of comprehensive and sound risk
management policies, strategies and procedures within the Bank. The functions encompass
research and analysis, portfolio risk exposure reporting, compliance monitoring, formulation
of policies and risk assessment methodology, and formulation of risk strategies.

The Committee met nine (9) times during the financial year ended 31 March 2018.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (CONT'D.)
(d) COMMITTEES OF THE BOARD (CONT'D.)
Risk Management Functions

The Risk Management Division is independent of the various business units and acts as the
catalyst for the development and maintenance of comprehensive and sound risk
management policies, strategies and procedures within the Bank. This Risk Management
Division encompasses Wholesale Credit Risk, Business Credit Risk, Retail Credit Risk,
Investment Banking and Markets Risk, Operational Risk & IT Governance, Governance
and Provisioning (which is responsible for the development of credit models).

Risk Management Division take its lead from the Board’s Approved Risk Appetite
Framework that forms the foundation of the Bank to set its risk/reward profile. The
framework is approved annually by the Board taking into account the Bank's desired
external rating and targeted profitability/return on equity and is reviewed periodically
throughout the financial year to take account of prevailing or expected changes to the
operating environment.

The Bank has an IT Risk Management Framework that is designed to protect the Bank's IT
systems against internal and external risks and threats. It is our objective to ensure that the
IT Risk Management Framework is continuously enhanced and robustly tested to safeguard
the Bank’s and the customers’ data from potential cyber-attacks.

Board Credit Committee

The Committee comprises three (3) members, all of whom are Non-Executive Directors.
The Board has established the Committee to assist in ensuring that credit facilities and
commitments, and connected party credit transactions are approved in accordance with
policies approved by the Board.

The Committee met twenty-one (21) times during the financial year ended 31 March 2018.
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MANAGEMENT INFORMATION

All Directors review Board papers and reports prior to the Board meeting. Information and
materials, relating to the operations of the Bank that are important to the Directors’
understanding of the items in the agenda and related topics, are distributed in advance of the
meeting. The Board reports, include among others, minutes of meetings of all Committees of
the Board, monthly performance of the Bank, credit risk management, asset liability and market
risk management and industry benchmarking as well as prevailing regulatory developments and
the economic and business environment.

These reports are issued giving sufficient time before the meeting to enable the Directors to be
prepared and to obtain further explanations, where necessary, and provide input on Bank
policies.

HOLDING COMPANY

The Directors regard AMMB Holdings Berhad which is incorporated in Malaysia, as the holding
company.

RATING BY EXTERNAL AGENCIES

The Bank continues to maintain credit ratings with RAM Rating Services Berhad ("RAM").

Rating agency Date accorded Rating classification Ratings
RAM Rating December 2017 Long-term financial institution rating AA2
Services Berhad Short-term financial institution rating P1
Outlook Stable
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SHARIAH COMMITTEE

The Shariah Committee comprises five (5) members and is responsible and accountable for ail
Shariah-related decisions, views and opinions. The main functions and duties of the Shariah
Committee shall include, but are not limited to the following:

vi.

vii.

viii.

to advise the Board and the Bank on Shariah matters to ensure that the business
operations of the Bank comply with Shariah principles at all times;

ii. to review and endorse the Shariah policies and procedures of the Bank and to ensure that

the contents do not contain any elements which are not in line with Shariah principles;

iii. to review and approve relevant documentation in relation to the Bank’s products to ensure

that the products are in compliance with Shariah principles;

. to perform oversight on the work carried out by the Shariah Research and Advisory, and

Shariah Review functions in order to ensure compliance with Shariah matters which form
part of their duties in providing their assessment of Shariah compliance and assurance
information in the annual report;

to assess the work carried out by Group Internal Audit relating to the Shariah Audit function
and the Shariah Risk Management function in order to ensure compliance with Shariah
matters which form part of their duties in providing their assessment of Shariah compliance
and assurance information in the annual report;

to provide assistance to related parties of the Bank such as its legal counsel, auditor or
consultant on Shariah matters upon request;

to provide advice and guidance on management of zakat fund, charity and other social
program or activities; and

to oversee strategies and initiatives implemented by key organs carrying out the Shariah
functions including the Shariah Research & Advisory, Shariah Review, Shariah Audit and
Shariah Risk Management functions.
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SHARIAH COMMITTEE (CONT'D.)

The Shariah Committee members also sit in Shariah Oversight Committee, a sub-committee to
the Shariah Committee. The Shariah Oversight Committee is established to assist the Shariah
Committee in discharging its responsibilities relating to the oversight from Shariah perspectives
of the Shariah Review function. In addition, the Shariah Oversight Committee is to assess the
work carried out by Group Internal Audit relating to the Shariah Audit function and Shariah Risk
Management function in order to ensure compliance with Shariah matters.

The main functions and duties of Shariah Oversight Committee shall include, but are not limited
to the following:

i. to determine and confirm actual and potential Shariah non-compliance incidents and
endorse corresponding rectifications plans;

ii. to recommend alternative ways to rectify issues identified through Shariah Audit, Shariah
Review and Shariah Risk Management activities and other sources;

ii. to provide advice on the recognition of income pursuant to Shariah non-compliance
incidents and its disposal; and

iv. to recommend possible implementation methods to improve the Bank’s Shariah business
activities in line with applicable statutes and guidelines/policies/circulars issued by relevant
regulatory bodies.

Shariah Committee met eight (8) times and Shariah Oversight Committee met seven (7) times
during the financial year ended 31 March 2018.

The attendance of Shariah Committee members at the meetings of Shariah Committee and
Shariah Oversight Committee is set out below:-

Number of Meetings Attended in Financial Year Ended 31 March 2018

Shariah
Shariah Oversight
Committee Committee

Asst. Prof. Dr. Tajul Aris Ahmad Bustami (Chairman) 8 7
Prof. Dr. Amir Husin Mohd Nor

Assoc. Prof. Datin Dr. Noor Naemah Abdul Rahman
Assoc. Prof. Dr. Adnan Yusoff

Dr. Asmak Ab Rahman

O O N~
~N[o O O N

Number of meetings held in financial year 2018
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AUDITORS AND AUDITORS' REMUNERATION

The auditors, Ernst & Young, have éxpressed their willingness to continue in office. The
auditors' remuneration is disclosed in Note 35 to the financial statements.

Signed on behalf of the Board in accordance with a resolution of the Directors.

-

DATO' SRI ABDUL HAMIDY ABDUL HAFIZ RAJA ANUAR RAJA ABU HASSAN
Director Director

Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia
24 May 2018
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AMBANK ISLAMIC BERHAD
(Incorporated in Malaysia)

STATEMENT BY DIRECTORS
PURSUANT TO SECTION 251(2) OF THE COMPANIES ACT 2016

We, DATO' SRI ABDUL HAMIDY ABDUL HAFIZ and RAJA ANUAR RAJA ABU HASSAN,
being two of the Directors of AMBANK ISLAMIC BERHAD, do hereby state that, in the opinion of
the Directors, the accompanying financial statements set out on pages 37 to 196 are drawn up in
accordance with Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards, International Financial Reporting
Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act 2016 in Malaysia so as to give a true and
fair view of the financial position of the Bank as at 31 March 2018 and of its financial
performance and cash flows for the financial year then ended.

Signed on behalf of the Board in accordance with a resgiution of the Directors.

\¢
DATO' SRI ABDUL HAMIDY ABDUL HAFIZ RAJA ANUAR RAJA ABU HASSAN
Director Director

Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia
24 May 2018
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AMBANK ISLAMIC BERHAD
(Incorporated in Malaysia)

STATUTORY DECLARATION
PURSUANT TO SECTION 251 (1)(b) OF THE COMPANIES ACT 2016

|, JAMIE LING FOU-TSONG, being the Officer primarily responsible for the financial
management of AMBANK ISLAMIC BERHAD, do solemnly and sincerely declare that the
accompanying financial statements set out on pages 37 to 196 are, in my opinion correct, and |
make this solemn declaration conscientiously believing the same to be true and by virtue of the
provisions of the Statutory Declarations Act 1960.

Subscribed and solemnly declared by the
abovenamed JAMIE LING FOU-TSONG

- T
at Kuala Lumpur in the Wilayah Persekutuan ez e %éwg
on 24 May 2018
JAMIE LING FOU-TSONG

e,
s N
0 - %§§AYA a\?;‘?
Before me,
MOHAN A8, MANIAM
\ 112017 bingga  /

COMMISSIONER FOR/

Lodged on behalf by: ;
Address: 22nd Floor, Bangunan AmBank Group,
No. 55 Jalan Raja Chuian,
50200 Kuala Lumpur
Telephone Number: 03-20362633

el LATIDUE
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AMBANK ISLAMIC BERHAD
(Incorporated in Malaysia)

SHARIAH COMMITTEE'S REPORT TO THE MEMBER OF AMBANK ISLAMIC BERHAD

In the Name of Allah, The Compassionate, The Most Merciful,

All Praise is due to Allah, the Cherisher of the World, and the Peace and Blessing be upon the
Prophet of Allah, on his Family and all his Companions.

In carrying out our roles and responsibilities as members of the Shariah Committee (‘the
Committee”) of AmBank Islamic Berhad (‘the Bank”) pursuant to the Shariah Governance
Framework for Islamic Financial Institutions issued by Bank Negara Malaysia.and in compliance
with our letter of appointment, we are required to submit the following report:

We hereby confirm that we have reviewed the principles and the contracts relating to the
transactions and applications introduced by the Bank during the financial year ended 31 March

2018.

Shariah advisory services were provided on various aspects to the Bank in order to ensure
compliance with applicable Shariah principles as well as the relevant resolutions and rulings
made by the Shariah Advisory Council of Bank Negara Malaysia (“SAC”). We have also
conducted our review to form an opinion as to whether the Bank has complied with the Shariah
principles and with the Shariah rulings issued by SAC, as well as Shariah decisions made by.us.

The Bank’s management is responsible for ensuring that the Bank conducts its business in
accordance with Shariah rules and principles. It is our responsibility to form an independent
opinion, based on our review of the operations of the Bank and to produce this report.

Through our sub-committee, being the Shariah Oversight Committee (“SOC"),A we have assessed
the work carried out by Shariah review and Shariah audit which included examining, on a test
basis, each type of transactions, the relevant documentation and procedures adopted by the

The reviews were planned and performed so as to obtain all the information and explanations

which we considered necessary in order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable
assurance that the Bank has complied with the Shariah principles.

30




Company No. 295576-U

AMBANK ISLAMIC BERHAD
(Incorporated in Malaysia)

SHARIAH COMMITTEE'S REPORT TO THE MEMBER OF AMBANK ISLAMIC BERHAD
(CONT'D.)

To the best of our knowledge based on the information provided to us, we are of the opinion that
during the financial year ended 31 March 2018:

a)

b)

c)

d)

The contracts, transactions and dealings entered into by the Bank and legal documents used
by the Bank, that we have reviewed and assessed are in compliance with the Shariah
principles;

The allocation of profit and charging of losses relating to investment accounts conform to the
basis that had been approved by us in accordance with Shariah principles;

For the financial year ended 31 March 2018, there was only one (1) SNC incident. The
incident was attributable to the lack of awareness of the staff in handling extension case for
a particular Islamic financing product, for which the granting of extensions is uncommon.
Pursuant to the incident, the Bank has implemented certain measures to mitigate recurrence
of similar incident in the future, including heightened staff awareness and review of process.
The SNC income totalling RM3,699 has been disposed in accordance with the method as
determined by the SOC which included channelling the SNC income to charitable
organisations and returning a portion of it to the affected customer; and

The calculation and distribution of zakat is in compliance with Shariah principles.

We, the members of the Shariah Committee of the Bank, do hereby confirm to the best of our
knowledge that the operations of the Bank for the financial year ended 31 March 2018 have been
conducted in conformity with the Shariah principles.

We beg Allah the Almighty to grant us all the success and straightforwardness and Allah knows
best.
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AMBANK ISLAMIC BERHAD
(Incorporated in Malaysia)

SHARIAH COMMITTEE'S REPORT TO THE MEMBER OF AMBANK ISLAMIC BERHAD
(CONT'D.)

On behalf of the Shariah Committee

s /
ASST. PROF. DR. TAJUL ARIS AHMAD BUSTAMI
Chairman of the Committee

R

=4
PROF. DR. AMIR HUSIN MOHD NOR
Member of the Committee

Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia
24 May 2018
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Independent auditors' report to the member of
AmBank Islamic Berhad
(Incorporated in Malaysia)

Report on the audit of the financial statements
Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of AmBank Islamic Berhad, which comprise the
statement of financial position as at 31 March 2018, and the statement of profit or loss,
statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash
flows for the financial year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies, as set out on pages 37 to 196.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial
position of the Bank as at 31 March 2018, and of its financial performance and cash flows for
the financial year then ended in accordance with Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards,
International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act 2016
in Malaysia.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with approved standards on auditing in Malaysia and
international Standards on Auditing. Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of
our report. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence and other ethical responsibilities

We are independent of the Bank in accordance with the By-Laws (on Professional Ethics,
Conduct and Practice) of the Malaysian Institute of Accountants (“By-Laws") and the
international Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (“IESBA Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with the By-Laws and the IESBA Code.
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Independent auditors' report to the member of
AmBank Islamic Berhad (cont'd.)
(Incorporated in Malaysia)

Information other than the financial statements and auditors’ report thereon

The directors of the Bank are responsible for the other information. The other information
comprises the directors’ report, but does not include the financial statements of the Bank and
~ our auditors’ report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements of the Bank does not cover the other information and
we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements of the Bank, our responsibility is to
read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the financial statements of the Bank or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of
this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this
regard.

Responsibilities of the directors for the financial statements

The directors of the Bank are responsible for the preparation of financial statements of the
Bank that give a true and fair view in accordance with Malaysian Financial Reporting
Standards, International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the
Companies Act 2016 in Malaysia. The directors are also responsible for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements of
the Bank that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements of the Bank, the directors are responsible for assessing
the Bank's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Bank or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do
SO.

34

A mernber firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited




Building a better
working worid

295576+-U

Independent auditors' report to the member of
AmBank Isfamic Berhad (cont'd.)
(Incorporated in Malaysia)

Auditors’ responsibility for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements of
the Bank as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and
to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with approved
standards on auditing in Malaysia and International Standards on Auditing will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with approved standards on auditing in Malaysia and
International Standards on Auditing, we exercise professional judgment and maintain

professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

- o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements of the
Bank, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control;

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Bank's internal control;

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the directors;

e Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Bank’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditors' report to the related disclosures in the financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors' report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Bank to cease to continue as a going concern;

e Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements of the
Bank, including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements of the Bank represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
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Independent auditors' report to the member of
AmBank Islamic Berhad (cont'd.)
(Incorporated in Malaysia)

Auditors’ responsibility for the audit of the financial statements ( cont'd.)

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

Other matters

This report is made solely to the member of the Bank, as a body, in accordance with Section
266 of the Companies Act 2016 in Malaysia and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility to any other person for the content of this report.

Tt

/ -
Ernst & Young Chan Hooi Lam
AF: 0039 No. 02844/02/2020 J
Chartered Accountants Chartered Accountant

Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia
24 May 2018
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Company No. 295576-U

AMBANK ISLAMIC BERHAD
(Incorporated in Malaysia)

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT 31 MARCH 2018

ASSETS
Cash and short-term funds
Deposits and placements with banks
and other financial institutions
Derivative financial assets
Financial assets held-for-trading
Financial investments available-for-sale
Financial investments held-to-maturity
Financing and advances
Receivables: Investments not quoted in active markets
Statutory deposit with Bank Negara Malaysia
Other assets
Property and equipment
Intangible assets
TOTAL ASSETS

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

Deposits from customers

Investment accounts of customers

Deposits and placements of banks and other
financial institutions

Investment account due to a licensed bank

Recourse obligation on financing sold to
Cagamas Berhad

Derivative financial fiabilities

Term funding

Subordinated Sukuk

Deferred tax liability

Other liabilities

Provision for zakat

TOTAL LIABILITIES

Share capital

Reserves

Equity attributable to equity holder of the Bank
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
CONMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

NET ASSETS PER SHARE (RM)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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Note

18
19

20
21

22
23
24

25
26

27
28

45

31 March 31 March 1 April
2018 2017 2016
(Restated) (Restated)

(Note 52) (Note 52)

RM’000 RM’000 RW’000
1,588,429 2,286,658 4,098,552
200,000 635,000 500,000
87,408 42,381 57,273
1,584,632 681,465 174,550
2,838,566 2,435,724 3,177,516
1,090,010 1,278,221 1,263,639
27,775,836 27,239,756 27,391,553
790,833 814,720 468,141
821,000 810,000 842,000
270,731 311,664 329,821
426 320 351

1,207 448 14
37,049,078 36,536,357 38,303,410
26,493,802 26,836,697 28,383,783
138,956 24,374 18,411
1,223,524 1,266,337 993,510
2,859,110 1,600,000 1,000,000
520,405 617,713 1,127,824
92,939 47,870 67,685
1,080,000 1,985,000 2,300,000
999,839 979,679 1,399,528
2,947 89 5,883
294,273 274,296 354,525
1,513 1,286 1,343
33,707,308 33,633,341 35,652,492
1,387,107 1,187,107 462,922
1,954,663 1,715,909 2,187,996
3,341,770 2,903,016 2,650,918
37,049,078 36,536,357 38,303,410
11,346,899 9,860,517 8,365,766
6.76 6.27 5.73




Company No. 295576-U

AMBANK ISLAMIC BERHAD
(Incorporated in Malaysia)

STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018

Income derived from investment of depositors'
funds

Income derived from investment of investment
account funds

Income derived from investment of shareholder's
funds

(Allowance for)/writeback of impairment on
financing and advances

Writeback of provision for commitments
and contingencies

Total distributable income

Income attributable to the depositors
and others

Income attributable to investment account
holders

Total net income

Other operating expenses

Finance cost

Profit before zakat and taxation

Zakat

Taxation

Profit for the financial year

Basic earnings per share (sen)

Note

29
30
31
32

26(a)

33
34

35
38

39

40

2018 2017
RM’000 RM’000
1,698,932 1,665,395
103,215 68,007
119,540 90,860
(61,396) 24,343
801 41
1,861,092 1,848,646
(933,032) (913,241)
(92,326) (60,643)
835,734 874,762
(422,391) (415,594)
(110,451) (135,954)
302,892 323,214
(2,034) (1,505)
(61,729) (66,051)
239,129 255,658
49.95 55.23

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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Company No. 295576-U

AMBANK ISLAMIC BERHAD
(Incorporated in Malaysia)

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018

2018 2017
RNM’000 RM’000
Profit for the financial year 239,129 255,658
Other comprehensive income/(loss)
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to
profit or loss :
Financial investments available-for-sale:
Net unrealised gain/(loss) on changes
in fair value 3,864 (2,228)
Gain transfer to statement of profit or loss
upon disposal (4,315) (2,456)
Income tax relating to the components of other
comprehensive income (Note 25) 108 1,124
Other comprehensive loss for the financial year,
net of tax : (343) (3,560)
Total comprehensive income for the financial year 238,786 252,098

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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Company No. 295576-U

AMBANK ISLAMIC BERHAD
(Incorporated in Malaysia)

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Profit before zakat and taxation
Adjustments for:

Accretion of discount less amortisation of premium on
securities

Allowance for impairment on financing and
advances

Amortisation of intangible assets

Amortisation of issuance costs for Subordinated Sukuk

Depreciation of property and equipment

Gain on disposal of financial assets held-for
- trading

(Gain)/loss on revaluation of financial assets
held-for-trading

Gain on disposal of financial investments
available-for-sale

Loss/(gain) on revaluation of derivatives

Shares/options granted under AMMB ESS -
write back

Unrealised (gain)/loss on revaiuation of hedged item
arising from fair value hedge

Writeback of provision for commitments and
contingencies

Operating profit before working capital changes

(Increase)/decrease in operating assets:
Financial assets held-for-trading
Financing and advances
Statutory deposit with Bank Negara Malaysia
Other assets

41

2018 2017
(Restated)
(Note 52)

Note RM’000 RM’000
302,892 323,214
(94,142) (56,329)

32 166,919 94,396
35 90 44
160 152

35 100 80
29 (3,317) (2,584)
29 (1,890) 957
29, 31 (4,315) (2,456)
42 (4,923)
35 (86) (191)
13 (260) 3,421
26(a) (801) (41)
365,392 355,740
(887,279) (503,592)

(702,999) 57,401

(11,000) 32,000

40,987 7,445




Company No. 295576-U

AMBANK ISLAMIC BERHAD
(Incorporated in Malaysia)

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018 (CONT'D.)

2018 2017
(Restated)
(Note 52)
Note RM’000 RN’000
Increase/(decrease) in operating liabilities:
Deposits from customers (342,895) (1,547,086)
investment accounts of customers 114,582 5,963
Deposits and placements of banks and other financial
institutions (42,813) 272,827
Investment account due to a licensed bank 1,259,110 600,000
Term funding (905,000) (315,000)
Other liabilities 29,082 (94,455)
Recourse obligation on financing sold to Cagamas Berhad (97,308) (510,111)
Cash used in operations (1,180,141)  (1,638,868)
Zakat paid (1,807) (1,562)
Tax paid (66,896) (45,552)
Net cash used in operating activities (1,248,844)  (1,685,982)
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
(Purchase)/disposal of financial investments
available-for-sale (net) (327,306) 779,615
Disposal of financial investments held-to-maturity (net) 200,000 -
Purchase of intangible assets 17 (1,020) (478)
Purchase of property and equipment 16 (2086) (49)
(Purchase)/redemption of receivables: Investments not quoted
in active market , 24,147 (350,000)
Net cash (used in)/generated from investing activities (104,385) 429,088
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from issuance of shares 200,000 -
Net issuance/(redemption) of Subordinated Sukuk 24(a), (b) 20,000 (420,000)
Net cash generated/(used in) from financing activities 220,000 (420,000)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents : (1,133,229) (1,676,894)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of financial year 2,921,658 4,598,552
Cash and cash equivalenis at end of financial year 1,788,429 2,921,658
Cash and cash equivalents comprise:
Cash and short-term funds 1,588,429 2,286,658
Deposits and placements with banks and other
financial institutions with original maturity of
less than 3 months 200,000 635,000
1,788,429 2,921,658

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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Company No. 295576-U

AMBANK ISLAMIC BERHAD
(Incorporated in Malaysia)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 MARCH 2018
1. CORPORATE INFORMATION
AmBank Islamic Berhad (the "Bank") is a licensed Islamic banking institution providing Islamic

retail and commercial banking products and services in accordance with Shariah principles.
There have been no significant changes in these activities during the financial year.

The Bank is a licensed lIslamic Bank under the Islamic Financial Services Act, 2013,
incorporated and domiciled in Malaysia. The registered office of the Bank is located at 22nd
Floor, Bangunan AmBank Group, No. 55, Jalan Raja Chulan, 50200 Kuala Lumpur. The
principal place of business is located at Menara AmBank, Jalan Yap Kwan Seng, 50450
Kuala Lumpur.

The Bank is a wholly-owned subsidiary of AMMB Holdings Berhad ("AMMB"), a company
incorporated in Malaysia. AMMB is listed on the Main Market of Bursa Malaysia Securities
Berhad.

The financial statements of the Bank have been approved and authorised for issue by the
Board of Directors on 24 April 2018.

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES
2.1 Basis of preparation

The financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis unless otherwise
indicated in the financial statements.

2.2 Statement of compliance
The financial statements of the Bank have been prepared in accordance with Malaysian

Financial Reporting Standards ("MFRSs"), International Financial Reporting Standards
("IFRSs") and the requirements of the Companies Act 2016 in Malaysia.

2.3 Presentation of financial statements

The financial statements are presented in Ringgit Malaysia ("RM") and all values are
rounded to the nearest thousand ("RM’000") except when otherwise indicated.

The statements of financial position are presented in order of liquidity. An analysis
regarding recovery or settlement within 12 months after the reporting date ("current”) and
more than 12 months after the reporting date ("non-current”) is presented in Note 46.
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Company No. 295576-U

2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT'D.)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

2.4a Foreign currencies

()

(i)

Functional and presentation currency

The Bank’s financial statements are presented in RM, which is also the Bank’s
functional currency.

Transactions and balances

Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded by the Bank at its
functional currency spot rates at the date the transaction first qualifies for
recognition.

Monetary assets and liabilites denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the functional currency spot exchange rate at the reporting
date.

All differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary items are
recognised in profit or loss with the exception of monetary items that are
designated as part of the hedge of the Bank’s net investment of a foreign
operation (if any). These are recognised in other comprehensive income
("OCI") until the net investment is disposed, at which time, the cumulative
amount is reclassified to profit or loss. Tax charges and credits attributable to
exchange differences on those monetary items are also recorded in OCI.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are translated using the exchange rates as at the dates of the initial
transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency
are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value is
determined. The gain or loss arising on retranslation of non-monetary items is
treated in line with the recognition of gain or loss on changes in fair value of
the item (i.e., translation differences on items whose fair value gain or loss is
recognised in OCI or profit or loss are also recognised in OCI or profit or loss,
respectively).
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Company No. 295576-U

2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT'D.)
2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies (Cont'd.)

2.4b Property and equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost, net of accumulated depreciation and
accumulated impairment losses. Such cost includes its purchase price and any
cost that is directly attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condition
necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by
management, as well as borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset. When significant parts
of property and equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, the Bank
recognises such parts as individual assets with specific useful lives and
depreciates them accordingly. Likewise, when a major inspection is performed, its
cost is recognised in the carrying amount of the equipment as a replacement if the
recognition criteria are satisfied. All other repair and maintenance costs are
recognised in profit or loss as incurred. The present value of the expected cost for
the decommissioning of an asset after its use is included in the cost of the
respective asset if the recognition criteria for a provision are met.

Purchased computer software that is integral to the functionality of the related
equipment is capitalised as part of that equipment.

Depreciation of property and equipment is calculated on a straight-line basis to
write off the cost of each asset to.its residual value over the estimated useful lives
of the assets.

The annual depreciation rates for the various classes of property and equipment
are as follows:

Leasehold improvements 15 to 20%
Motor vehicles 10% to 20%
Computer equipment 12.5% t0 33.33%
Office equipment, furniture and fittings 10% to 50%

An item of property and equipment and any significant part initially recognised is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset
(calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset) is included in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.

The assets’ residual values, useful lives and methods of depreciation are reviewed
at each financial year end and adjusted prospectively if the expectations differ from
previous estimates.
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Company No. 295576-U

2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT'D.)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies (Cont'd.)

2.4c Leases

The determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains, a lease is based on
the substance of the arrangement at inception date, whether fulfiment of the
arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific asset or assets or the
arrangement conveys a right to use the asset, even if that right is not explicitly
specified in an arrangement.

(i)

(i)

Bank as a lessee

Leases that transfer to the Bank substantially all the risks and benefits
incidental to ownership of the leased item are classified as finance leases, and
are capitalised at the commencement of the lease at the fair value of the
leased property or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease
payments. Any initial direct costs are also added to the amount capitalised.
The corresponding lease obligations, net of finance charges, are included in
other short-term and long-term payables. Lease payments are apportioned
between finance charges and reduction of the lease liability so as to achieve a
constant rate of profit on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance
charges are recognised in finance costs in profit or loss.

A leased asset is depreciated over the useful life of the asset. However, if
there is no reasonable certainty that the Bank will obtain ownership by the end
of the lease term, the asset is depreciated over the shorter of the estimated
useful life of the asset and the lease term.

Leases that do not transfer to the Bank substantially all the risks and benefits

incidental to ownership of the leased items are operating leases. Operating
lease payments are recognised as an operating expense in profit or loss on a
straight-line basis over the lease term. The aggregate benefits of incentives
provided by the lessor are recognised as a reduction of rental expenses over
the lease term on a straight line basis.

Bank as a lessor

Leases in which the Bank does not transfer substantially all the risks and
benefits of ownership of the asset are classified as operating leases. Rental
income is recognised over the term of the lease on a straight-line basis. Initial
direct costs incurred in negotiating an operating lease are added to the
carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised over the lease term on
the same basis as rental income. Contingent rents are recognised as revenue
in the period in which they are earned.
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Company No. 295576-U
2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT'D.)
2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies (Cont'd.)
2.4d Intangible assets, other than goodwill arising from business combination

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost.
The cost of intangible assets acquired in a business combination is their fair value
as at the date of acquisition. Following initial recognition, intangible assets are
carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.
Internally generated intangible assets, excluding capitalised development costs,
are not capitalised and expenditure is reflected in profit or loss in the year in which
the expenditure is incurred.

Following initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost less any
accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses. The useful
lives of intangible assets are assessed as either finite or indefinite.

Intangible assets with finite lives are amortised over the useful life and assessed
for impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be
impaired. The amortisation period and the amortisation method for an intangible
asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at the end of each reporting
period. Changes in the expected useful life or the expected pattern of consumption
of future economic benefits embodied in the asset are accounted for by changing
the amortisation period or method, as appropriate, which are treated as changes in
accounting estimates. The amortisation expense on intangible assets with finite
lives is recognised in profit or loss in the expense category consistent with the
function of the intangible assets.

Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset are measured as
the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset and are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.

(i) Research and development costs

Research costs are expensed as incurred. Development expenditure on an
individual software project are recognised as an intangible asset when the
Bank can demonstrate:

- the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be
available for use or sale;

- its intention to complete and its ability to use or sell the asset;

- how the asset will generate future economic benefits;

- the availability of resources to complete the asset;

- the ability to measure reliably the expenditure during development;

- the ability to use the intangible asset generated.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT'D.)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies (Cont'd.)

2.4d Intangible assets, other than goodwill arising from business combination
(Cont'd.)

0]

Research and development costs (Cont'd.)

Following initial recognition of the software development expenditure as an
asset, the asset is carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and
accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation of the asset begins when
development is complete and the asset is available for use. It is amortised on
a straight-line basis over the period of expected benefit of 3 to 10 years.
During the period of development, the asset is tested for impairment annually.

2.4e Financial instruments — initial recognition and subsequent measurement

0]

(i)

(iii)

Date of recognition

All financial assets and liabilities are initially recognised on the trade date, i.e.,
the date that the Bank becomes party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument. This includes regular way trades; purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame established by
regulation or convention in the market place.

Initial measurement of financial instruments

The classification of financial instruments at initial recognition depends on
their purpose and characteristics and the management’s intention in acquiring
them.

All financial assets are recognised initially at fair value plus, in the case of

financial assets not recorded at fair value through profit or loss, transaction
costs that are attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the case of
borrowings and payables, net of directly attributable transaction costs.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial instruments depends on their
classification as described below:
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Company No. 295576-U

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT'D.)
2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies (Cont'd.)

2.4e Financial instruments — initial recognition and subsequent measurement
(Cont'd.)

(i) Subsequent measurement (Cont'd.)

a. Financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss:
held-for-trading

Financial assets or financial liabilities held-for-trading are recorded in the
statement of financial position at fair value. Changes in fair value are
recognised in profit or loss.

Included in this classification are debt securities and equities that have
been acquired principally for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the
near term.

b. Financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss:
designated as fair value through profit or loss.

Financial assets and financial liabilities classified in this category are those
that have been designated by management on initial recognition.
Management may only designate an instrument at fair value through profit
or loss upon initial recognition when the following criteria are met, and
designation is determined on an instrument by instrument basis:

- the designation eliminates or significantly reduces the inconsistent
treatment that would otherwise arise from measuring the assets or
liabilities or recognising gains or losses on them on a different basis;

- the assets and liabilities are part of a group of financial assets,
financial liabilities or both which are managed and their performance
evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with a documented risk
management or investment strategy;

- the financial instrument contains one or more embedded derivatives
which significantly modify the cash flows that otherwise would be
required by the contract.

Financial assets and financial liabilities designated at fair value through
profit or loss are recorded in the statement of financial position at fair
value. Changes in fair value are recognised in profit or loss.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT'D.)
2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies (Cont'd.)

2.4e Financial instruments - initial recognition and subsequent measurement
(Cont'd.)

(iii) Subsequent measurement (Cont'd.)

¢. Financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss:
derivatives

The Bank uses derivatives such as profit rate swap, forward foreign
exchange contracts and options on commodities. Derivatives are
recorded at fair value and carried as assets when their fair value is
positive and as liabilities when their fair value is negative. Changes in the
fair value of derivatives are recognised in profit or loss.

Derivatives embedded in other financial instruments are treated as
separate derivatives and recorded at fair value if their economic
characteristics and risks are not closely related to those of the host
contract, and the host contract is not itself held for trading or designated at
fair value through profit or loss. The embedded derivatives separated
from the host are carried at fair value in the trading portfolio with changes
in fair value recognised in profit or loss.

d. Financial investments available-for-sale ("AFS")

Financial investments AFS include equity investments and debt securities.
Equity investments classified as AFS are those that are neither classified
as held-for-trading nor designated at fair value through profit or loss. Debt
securities in this category are those which are intended to be held for an
indefinite period of time and that may be sold in response to needs for
liquidity or in response to changes in the market conditions.

The Bank has not designated any financing and advances as AFS.

After initial measurement, financial investments AFS are subsequently
measured at fair value with unrealised gains or losses recognised in OClI
in the AFS reserve until the investment is derecognised, at which time the
cumulative gain or loss is recognised in “other operating income”, or the
investment is determined to be impaired, when the cumulative loss is
reclassified from the AFS reserve to profit or loss in “impairment losses
on financial investments’. Profit earned whilst holding financial
investments AFS is reported under "finance income and hibah" and is
calculated using the effective profit method. Dividends earned whilst
holding financial investments AFS are recognised in profit or loss as “other
operating income” when the right to the payment has been established.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT'D.)
2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies (Cont'd.)

2.4e Financial instruments — initial recognition and subsequent measurement
(Cont'd.)

(iii) Subsequent measurement (Cont'd.)
d. Financial investments available-for-sale ("AFS") (Cont'd.)

The Bank evaluates whether the ability and intention to sell its financial
investments AFS in the near term is still appropriate. When, in rare
circumstances, the Bank is unable to trade these financial investments
due to inactive markets and management’s intention to do so significantly
changes in the foreseeable future, the Bank may elect to reclassify these
financial investments. Reclassification to financing and receivables is
permitted when the financial investments meet the definition of financing
and receivables and the Bank has the intent and ability to hold these
investments for the foreseeable future or until maturity. Reclassification to
the held-to-maturity category is permitied only when the entity has the
ability and intention to hold the financial investments accordingly.

Equity instruments received as a result of financing and advances
restructuring or financing and advances conversion which do not have a
guoted market price in an active market that are carried at cost as their
fair values cannot be reliably measured are also classified as financial
investments AFS.

e. Financial investments heid-to-maturity

Non-derivative financial instruments with fixed or determinable payments
and fixed maturities are classified as financial investments held-to-maturity
when the Bank has the positive intention and ability to hold them to
maturity. After initial measurement, financial investments held-to-maturity
are measured at amortised cost using the effective profit method, less
impairment. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral
part of the effective profit rate ("EPR"). The EPR amortisation is included
in “finance income and hibah” in profit or loss. The losses arising from
impairment are recognised in profit or loss in “impairment losses on
financial investments”.

If the Bank were to sell or reclassify more than an insignificant amount of
financial investments held-to-maturity before maturity (other than in
certain specific circumstances), the entire category would be tainted and
would have to be reclassified as financial investments AFS. Furthermore,
the Bank would be prohibited from classifying any financial investments as
held-to-maturity during the following two financial years.
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2.4e Financial instruments - initial recognition and subsequent measurement
(Cont'd.)

(iiiy Subsequent measurement (Cont'd.)
f. Financial assets at amortised cost - financing and receivables

Financing and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or
determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market.

After initial measurement, such financial assets are subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective profit method, less
allowance for impairment. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into
account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are
an integral part of the EPR. The EPR amortisation is included in “finance
income and hibah” in profit or loss. The losses arising from impairment are
recognised in profit or loss in “allowance for impairment on financing and
advances” for financing and advances or “impairment losses on doubtful
receivables” for losses other than financing and advances.

g. Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities issued by the Bank, that are not designated at fair
value through profit or loss, are classified as financial liabilities at
amortised cost, where the substance of the contractual arrangement
results in the Bank having an obligation either to deliver cash or another
financial asset to the holder, or to satisfy the obligation other than by the
exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another financial asset for a fixed
number of own equity shares.

After initial measurement, term funding, debt capital and other borrowings
are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective profit
method. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount
or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of
the EPR.

A compound financial instrument which contains both a liability and an
equity component is separated at the issue date. A portion of the net
proceeds of the instrument is aliocated to the debt component on the date
of issue based on its fair value (which is generally determined based on
the quoted market prices for similar debt instruments). The equity
component is assigned as the residual amount after deducting from the
fair value of the instrument as a whole the amount separately determined
for the debt component. The value of any derivative features (such as a
call option) embedded in the compound financial instrument other than the
equity component is included in the debt component.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT'D.)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies (Cont'd.)

2.4e Financial instruments — initial recognition and subsequent measurement
(Cont'd.)

(iv) "Day 1” profit or loss

(v)

When the transaction price differs from the fair value of other observable
current market transactions in the same instrument or based on a valuation
technique whose variables include only data from observable markets, the
Bank immediately recognises the difference between the transaction price and
fair value (a “Day 1" profit or loss) in “other operating income”. In cases where
fair value is determined using data which is not observable, the difference
between the transaction price and model value is only recognised in profit or
loss on a systematic and rational basis that reflects the nature of the
instrument over its tenure.

Reclassification of financial assets

The Bank may reclassify a non-derivative trading asset out of the *held-for-
trading” category and “availabie-for-sale” category under rare circumstances
and into the “financing and receivables” category if it meets the definition of
financing and receivables and the Bank has the intention and ability to hold
the financial asset for the foreseeable future or until maturity. Reclassifications
are recorded at fair value at the date of reclassification, which becomes the
new amortised cost. If a financial asset is reclassified, and if the Bank
subsequently increases its estimates of future cash receipts as a result of
increased recoverability of those cash receipts, the effect of that increase is
recognised as an adjustment to the EPR from the date of the change in
estimate.

(vi) Derecognition of financial assets and financial liabilities

a. Financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable a part of a financial asset or part of
a group of similar financial assets) is derecognised when:

- the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired, or
- the Bank has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the
asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the received cash flows in
full without material delay to a third party under a “pass-through”
arrangement; and either:
- the Bank has transferred substantially ail the risks and rewards of
the asset, or
- the Bank has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the
risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the
asset.
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2, ACCOUN;I'ING POLICIES (CONT'D.)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies (Cont'd.)

2.4e Financial instruments - initial recognition and subsequent measurement

(Cont'd.)
(vi) Derecognition of financial assets and financial liabilities (Cont'd.)

a. Financial assets (Cont'd.)

When the Bank has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an
asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement, and has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset
nor transferred control of the asset, the asset is recognised to the extent
of the Bank’s continuing involvement in the asset. In that case, the Bank
also recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and the
associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and
obligations that the Bank has retained.

. Financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is
discharged, cancelled or expires. Where an existing financial liability is
replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms,
or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an
exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original
liability and the recognition of a new liability. The difference in the
respective carrying amount of the original financial liability and the
consideration paid, including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities
assumed, is recognised in profit or loss.

2.4f Sell and buy back agreements for Islamic securities

249

These are obligations of the Bank to perform its commitment to buy back specified
Islamic securities at maturity. Gains and losses are recognised upon sale and
shown as trading gain or loss from financial assets held-for-trading.

Fair value measurement

The Bank measures financial instruments such as financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss, financial investments AFS and derivatives at fair value at
each reporting date.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a
liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement
date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction
to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either:
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2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT'D.)
2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies (Cont'd.)

2.4g Fair value measurement (Cont'd.)

- inthe principal market for the asset or liability; or
- in the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the
asset or liability.

The principal or most advantageous market must be accessible to the Bank.

The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that
market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that
market participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market
participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest
and best use or by selling it to another market participant that would use the asset
in its highest and best use.

The Bank uses valuation techniques that are in the circumstances and for which
sufficient data are available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant
observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the
financial statements are categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described as
follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurements as a whole:

Level1 - Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical
assets or liabilities :

Level 2 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant
to the fair value measurement is directly or indirectly observable

Level 3 - - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant

to the fair value measurement is unobservable

For assets or liabilities that are recognised at fair value in the financial statements
on a recurring basis, the Bank determines whether transfers have occurred
between levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing categorisation (based on the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at
the end of each reporting period.

The fair value hierarchies of:
a) financial instruments that are measured at fair vaiue.

b) financial assets and financial liabilities that are not measured at fair value, but
for which fair value is disclosed are presented on Note 49.
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2.4h Impairment of financial assets

The Bank assesses at each reporting date, whether there is any objective
evidence that a financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired. An
impairment exists if one or more events that has occurred since the initial
recognition of the asset (an incurred “loss event”), has an impact on the estimated
future cash flows of the financial asset or the group of financial assets that can be
reliably estimated. Evidence of impairment may include indications that the
debtors or a group of debtors is experiencing significant financial difficulty, default
or delinquency in profit or principal payments, the probability that they will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation and observable data indicating that
there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such as
changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate with defaults. Financing
and receivables are classified as impaired in accordance with the criteria as
disclosed in Note 48.2 Credit risk management - Impairment: Definition of past due
and impaired financing and advances.

(i) Financial assets carried at amortised cost - financing and receivables

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Bank first assesses whether
impairment exists individually for financial assets that are individually
significant, or collectively for financial assets that are not individually
significant. If the Bank determines that no objective evidence of impairment
exists for an individually assessed financial asset, whether significant or not, it
includes the asset in a group of financial assets with similar credit risk
characteristics and collectively assesses them for impairment. Assets that are
individually assessed for impairment and for which an impairment loss is or
continues to be, recognised are not included in a collective assessment of
impairment.

The amount of any impairment loss identified is measured as the difference
between the asset's carrying amount and the present value of estimated
future cash flows (excluding future expected credit losses that have not yet
been incurred). The present value of the estimated future cash flows is
discounted at the financial asset’s original EPR. If a financing has a variable
profit rate, the discount rate for measuring any impairment loss is the current
EPR. If the Bank has reclassified trading assets to financing and advances,
the discount rate for measuring any impairment loss is the new EPR
determined at the reclassification date. The calculation of the present value of
the estimated future cash flows of a collateralised financial asset reflects the
cash flows that may result from foreclosure less costs for obtaining and selling
the collateral, whether or not foreclosure is probable.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT'D.)
2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies (Cont'd.)
2.4h Impairment of financial assets (Cont'd.)
() Financial assets carried at amortised cost - financing and receivables (Cont'd.)

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an aillowance
account and the loss is recognised in profit or loss. Profit income continues to
be accrued as “financing income on impaired financing” in profit or loss on the
reduced carrying amount and is accrued using the rate of profit used to
discount the future cash flows for the purpose of measuring the impairment
loss. Financing together with the associated allowance are written off when
there is no realistic prospect of future recovery and all collateral has been
realised or has been transferred to the Bank. If, in a subsequent year, the
amount of the estimated impairment loss increases or decreases because of
an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously
recognised impairment loss is increased or reduced by adjusting the
allowance account. If a write-off is later recovered, the recovery is credited to
“allowance for impairment on financing and advances” in profit or loss.

Financial assets which are not individually significant and that have been
individually assessed but with no impairment loss are grouped together for
collective impairment assessment. These financial assets are grouped based
on the Bank’s internal credit grading system, that considers credit risk
characteristics such as asset type, industry, geographical location, collateral
type, past-due status and other relevant factors.

Future cash flows on a group of financial assets that are collectively evaluated
for impairment are estimated on the basis of historical loss experience for
assets with credit risk characteristics of the Bank. Historical loss experience is
adjusted on the basis of current observable data to reflect the effects of
current conditions that do not affect the period on which the historical loss
experience is based and to remove the effects of conditions in the historical
period that do not exist currently. Estimates of changes in future cash flows for
a group of assets should reflect and be directionaily consistent with changes
in related observable data from year to year. The methodology and
assumptions used for estimating future cash flows are reviewed regularly to
reduce any differences between loss estimates and actual loss experience.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT'D.)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies (Cont'd.)

2.4h Impairment of financial assets (Cont'd.)

(ii)

(iii)

Financial investments AFS

For financial investments AFS, the Bank assesses at each reporting date
whether there is objective evidence that an investment is impaired.

In the case of debt instruments classified as AFS, the impairment is assessed
based on the same criteria as financial assets carried at amortised cost.
However, the amount recorded for impairment is the cumulative loss
measured as the difference between the amortised cost and the current fair
value, less any impairment loss on that investment previously recognised in
profit or loss.

Future profit income continues to be accrued based on the reduced carrying
amount of the asset, using the rate of profit used to discount the future cash
flows for the purpose of measuring the impairment loss. The profit income is
recorded as part of “finance income and hibah”. If, in a subsequent year, the
fair value of a debt instrument increases and the increase can be objectively
related to a event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised in profit
or loss, the impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss.

In the case of equity investments classified as AFS, objective evidence would
include a “significant” or “prolonged” decline in the fair value of the investment
below its cost. “Significant” is evaluated against the original cost of the
investment and “prolonged” against the period in which the fair value has been
below its original cost. When there is evidence of impairment, the cumulative
loss, measured as the difference between the acquisition cost and the current
fair value; less any impairment loss on that investment previously recognised
in profit or loss, is removed from OCI and recognised in profit or loss.
Impairment losses on equity investments are not reversed through profit or
loss; increases in their fair value after impairment are recognised in OCl.

Rescheduled and restructured financing

Where possible, the Bank seeks to restructure facilities rather than to take
possession of collateral. This may involve extending the payment
arrangements and the agreement of new facility conditions. Once the terms
have been rescheduled or restructured, any impairment is measured using the
original EPR as calculated before the modification of terms. Management
continually reviews impaired rescheduled or restructured facilities for a certain
period to ensure all terms are adhered to and that future payments are likely
to occur before reclassification back to performing status.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT'D.)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies (Cont'd.)

2.4h Impairment of financial assets (Cont'd.)

2.4i

(iv) Collateral valuation

The Bank seeks to use collateral, where possible, to mitigate its risks on
financial assets. The collateral comes in various forms such as cash,
securities, letters of credit/guarantees, real estate, receivables, inventories,
other non-financial assets and credit enhancements such as netting
agreements. The fair value of collateral is generally assessed, at a minimum,
at inception and based on the Bank's quarterly reporting schedule, however,
some collateral, for example, cash or securities relating to margining
requirements, is valued daily.

To the extent possible, the Bank uses active market data for valuing financial
assets held as collateral. Other financial assets which do not have a readily
determinable market value are valued using models. Non-financial collateral,
such as real estate, is valued based on data provided by third parties such as
mortgage brokers, housing price indices, audited financial statements, and
other independent sources. (See Note 48.2 for further analysis of collateral).

Hedge accounting

The Bank makes use of derivative instruments to manage exposures to profit rate,
foreign currency and credit risks, including exposures arising from forecast
transactions and firm commitments. In order to manage particular risks, the Bank
applies hedge accounting for transactions which meet specified criteria.

At inception of the hedge relationship, the Bank formally documents the
relationship between the hedged item and the hedging instrument, including the
nature of the risk, the risk management objective and strategy for undertaking the
hedge and the method that will be used to assess the effectiveness of the hedging
relationship at inception and on an ongoing basis.
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2.4i

Hedge accounting (Cont'd.)

At each hedge effectiveness assessment date, a hedge relationship must be
expected to be highly effective on a prospective basis and demonstrate that it was
effective (retrospective effectiveness) for the designated period in order to qualify
for hedge accounting. A formal assessment is undertaken by comparing the
hedging instrument’s effectiveness in offsetting the changes in fair value or cash
flows attributable to the hedged risk in the hedged item, both at inception and at
each quarter end on an ongoing basis. A hedge is expected to be highly effective
if the changes in fair value or cash flows attributable to the hedged risk during the
period for which the hedge is designated were offset by the hedging instrument in
a range of 80% to 125% and were expected to achieve such offset in future
periods. Hedge ineffectiveness is recognised in profit or loss. For situations
where the hedged item is a forecast transaction, the Bank also assesses whether
the transaction is highly probable and presents an exposure to variations in cash
flows that could ultimately affect profit or loss.

(i) Fair value hedges

The change in the fair value of a hedging derivative is recognised in profit or
loss. The change in the fair value of the hedged item attributable to the risk
hedged is recorded as part of the carrying value of the hedged item and is
also recognised in profit or loss. '

For fair value hedges relating to items recorded at amortised cost, any
adjustment to carrying value is amortised through profit or loss over the
remaining term of the hedge using the effective profit method. EPR
amortisation may begin as soon as an adjustment exists and no later than
when the hedged item ceases to be adjusted for changes in its fair value
attributable to the risk being hedged.

If the hedged item is derecognised, the unamortised fair value is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

(i) Cash flow hedges

The effective portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument is
recognised in OCI in the “cash flow hedge reserve”, while any ineffective
portion is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Amounts recognised as OCI are transferred to profit or loss when the hedged
transaction affects profit or loss, such as when the hedged financial income or
financial expense is recognised or when a forecast sale occurs. When the
hedged item is the cost of a non-financial asset or non-financial liability, the
amounts recognised as OCI are transferred to the initial carrying amount of
the non-financial asset or lability.
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2.4i

2.4

2.4k

Hedge accounting (Cont'd.)
(i) Cash flow hedges (Cont'd.)

If the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or exercised without
replacement or rollover (as part of the hedging strategy), or if its designation
as a hedge is revoked, or when the hedge no longer meets the criteria for
hedge accounting, any cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in OCl
remains separately in equity until the forecast transaction occurs or the foreign
currency firm commitment is met.

Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in
the statement of financial position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to
offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, to
realise the assets and settle the liabilities simuitaneously.

Impairment of non-financial assets

The Bank assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an
asset may be impaired. If any indication exists, or when annual impairment testing
for an asset is required, the Bank estimates the asset's recoverable amount. An
asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset's or cash - generating unit's
("CGU”) fair value less costs to sell and its value in use. Recoverable amount is
determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash
inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets.
When the carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount,
the asset is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount.

In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. In
determining fair value less costs of disposal, recent market transactions are taken
into account. If no such transactions can be identified, an appropriate valuation
model is used. These calculations are corroborated by valuation multiples, quoted
share prices for publicly traded entities or other available fair value indicators.
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2.4k

2.41

2.4m

Impairment of non-financial assets (Cont'd.)

For assets excluding goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful lives, an
assessment is made at each reporting date to determine whether there is any
indication that previously recognised impairment losses no longer exist or have
decreased. If such indication exists, the Bank estimates the asset's or CGU’s
recoverable amount. A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed only if
there has been a change in the assumptions used to determine the asset’s
recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. The reversal is
limited so that the carrying amount of the asset does not exceed its recoverable
amount, nor exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of
depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years.
Such reversal is recognised in profit or loss.

The following asset has specific characteristics for impairment testing:
(i) Intangible assets

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for impairment annually
either individually or at the CGU level, as appropriate, and when
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and short-term funds in the statement of financial position comprise cash
and bank balances with banks and other financial institutions, and short-term
deposits maturing within one month.

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist
of cash and short-term funds with original maturity of less than 3 months,
excluding deposits and monies held in trust and net of outstanding bank
overdrafts.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Bank has a present obligation (legal or
constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of economic
resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation
and reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.
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2.4n Contingent liabilities and contingent assets

2.40

2.4p

A contingent liability is a present obligation that is not recognised because it is not
probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation or in
extremely rare cases whereby there is a liability that cannot be recognised
because it cannot be measured with sufficient reliability. The contingent liability is
not recognised but instead is disclosed in the financial statements. A possible
obligation that arises from past events whose existence will be confirmed only by
the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not
wholly within the control of the Bank is also disclosed as a contingent liability
unless the probability of outflow or economic resources is remote.

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events whose
existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or
more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the Bank. The Bank
does not recognise contingent assets in the financial statements but discloses its
existence where inflows of economic benefits are probable, but not virtually certain.

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Bank are those contracts that require
a payment to be made to reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because the
specified customer fails to make a payment when due in accordance with the
terms of a debt instrument. Financial guarantee contracts are recognised initially
as a liability at fair value, adjusted for transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the issuance of the guarantee. Subsequently, the liability is measured at the
higher of the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the present
obligation at the reporting date and the amount recognised less cumulative
amortisation.

Recognition of income and expenses

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits
will flow to the Bank and the revenue can be reliably measured.
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The following specific recognition criteria must be met before revenue is
recognised:

(i) Profitincome and similar income and expense

For all profit-bearing financial assets and financial liabilities measured at
amortised cost, profit-bearing financial investments classified as AFS and
financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss,
profit income or expense is calculated using the effective profit method. EPR
is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts
through the expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter period, where
appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset or financial
liability. The calculation takes into account all contractual terms of the financial
instrument and includes any fees or incremental costs that are directly
attributable to the instrument and are an integral part of the EPR, but not
future credit losses.

The carrying amount of the financial asset or financial liability is adjusted if the
Bank revises its estimates of payments or receipts. The adjusted carrying
amount is calculated based on the original EPR and the change in carrying
amount is recorded in profit or loss. However, for a reclassified financial asset
for which the Bank subsequently increases its estimates of future cash
receipts as a result of increased recoverability of those cash receipts, the
effect of that increase is recognised as an adjustment to the EPR from the
date of the change in estimate.

Once the recorded value of a financial asset or a group of similar financial
assets has been reduced due to an impairment loss, profit income continues
to be recognised using the rate of profit used to discount the future cash flows
for the purpose of measuring the impairment loss.

Income and expense are recognised in accordance with the principles of
Shariah. This includes financing provided, deposits accepted and investment
account under the following Shariah contracts:

Murabahah

This is a contract of sale of goods/assets at a mark-up price, which includes a
profit margin as agreed by the contracting parties. The price, costs and profit
margin in Murabahah shall be made transparent and agreed upon between
buyer and seller. Income on financing is recognised on EPR basis over the
period of the contract based on the principal amounts outstanding.
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(i) Profit income and similar income and expense (Cont'd.)
Bai’ Bithaman Ajil

This is a contract of sale and purchase of an asset in which the payment of
price is deferred either be paid in lump-sum or instalment basis within an
agreed period of time. Income is recognised on EPR basis over the expected
life of the contract based on principal amount outstanding.

The Islamic Negotiable Instruments ("INI") can also be structured along the
concept of Bai’ Bithaman Ajil for Negotiable Islamic Debt Certificate. Profit
attributable to the buyer of the INI will be based on the fixed profit rate which is
quoted on the placement date.

Bai' Inah

This is an arrangement that involves sale of an asset to the purchaser on a
deferred basis and subsequent purchase of the asset at a cash price lower
than the deferred sale price or vice versa, and which complies with the
specific requirements of Bai' Inah. Income is recognised on EPR basis over
the expected life of the contract based on principal amount outstanding.

Tawarrug

This is an arrangement that involves of two sale and purchase contracts. The
first involves the sale of an asset by a seller to a purchaser on a deferred
basis. Subsequently, the purchaser of the first sale will sell the same asset to
a third party on a cash and spot basis. Income is recognised on EPR basis
over the period of the contract based on the principal amounts outstanding.

For Commodity Murabahah term deposits placed by customers, profit
attributable to the depositors based on the fixed profit rate which is quoted to
the customer on the placement date. The commaodity trading fee incurred in
the Tawarrug arrangement is borne by the Bank and is recognised as an
expense in profit or loss as incurred.
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(i) Profitincome and similar income and expense (Cont'd.)

Al-liarah Thumma Al-Bai'

This is a contract of lease ending with the transfer of ownership from the
lessor to the lessee in the form of sale transaction based on agreed terms and
conditions. There are two contracts in this arrangement. The first contract is
ijarah where the lessee enjoys the usufruct of the assets for an agreed rental
during an agreed period of time while the ownership remains with the lessor.
The second contract is the sale contract which may take place at the end of
the ijarah period or at any point of time during the period subject to the agreed
terms and conditions between the contracting parties. Financing income is
recognised on EPR basis over the lease term.

Mudarabah

This refers to a contract between the customer known as an investment
account holder and the Bank where the customer agrees to participate in the
financial activities undertaken by the Bank and shares the profit generated
from financing and/or investment activities based on an agreed Profit Sharing
Ratio ("PSR"). Profit is distributed according to the agreed PSR at the point of
the contract. The profit attributable to Investment Account Holder is based on
the indicative profit rate that may change based on the financial performance
of the Bank.

Musharakah Mutanagisah

In Musharakah Mutanagisah financing, the customer and the Bank jointly
acquire and own the asset. The Bank then leases its equity or share of asset
to the customer on the basis of ijarah. The customer is given the right to
acquire the Bank's equity in the asset periodically. Financing income is
accounted for on the basis of the reducing balance on a time apportioned
basis that reflects the effective yield of the asset.

Ujrah
Ujrah refers to fee for services rendered. Income is recognised based on a fee

charged by the Bank in providing the credit card facility to credit card
customers.
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2.4p Recognition of income and expenses (Cont'd.)

)

(ih)

Profit income and similar income and expense (Cont'd.)
Wakalah

This refers to an "investment agency" contract where the Bank is appointed as
an agent to undertake investment activities on behalf of the customer for a
fee. The Bank acts in two capacities - as "Agent" in accepting funds from the
customer who plans to invest, and as Investment Manager in carrying out
Shariah compliant investment activities as agreed by both parties. The Bank,
as an agent, does not guarantee the profit expected from the investments.
Profit distributed is based on the expected profit rate which is quoted to the
customer on placement date.

Wadiah (Yad Dhamanah)

A safe keeping contract whereby the custodian guarantees payment of the
whole amount of deposits, or any part thereof, outstanding in the account of
the depositors, when demanded. The depositors are not entitled to any share
of the profits (generated from usage of the deposits by the custodian) but the
custodian may provide returns to the depositors as a token of appreciation
which is known as hibah.

Fee and commission income

The Bank earns fee and commission income from a diverse range of services
it provides to its customers. Fee income can be divided into the following two
categories:

a. Fee income earned from services that are provided over a period of time

Fees earned for the provision of services over a period of time are
accrued over that period by reference to the stage of completion of the
services. These fees include financing arrangement, commission income,
asset management, custody and other management and advisory fees.
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2.4p Recognition of income and expenses (Cont'd.)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Fee and commission income (Cont'd.)
b. Fee income from providing transaction services

Fees or components of fees that are linked to a certain performance are
recognised after fulfilling the corresponding criteria.

Investment and trading income

Results arising from trading activities include all gains and losses from
changes in fair value for financial assets “held-for-trading”. This includes any
ineffectiveness recorded in hedging transactions.

Customer loyalty programmes

Award credits under customer loyalty programmes are accounted for as a
separately identifiable component of the transaction in which the award credits
are granted. The fair value of the consideration received in respect of the
initial sale is allocated between the award credits and the other components of
the sale such that the award credits are recognised at their fair value.
Revenue from the award credits is recognised when the award credits are
redeemed or expired. The amount of revenue recognised when the award
credits are redeemed is based on the number of award credits redeemed
relative to the total number expected to be redeemed.

2.4q Employee benefits

()

Short-term benéefits

Wages, salaries, bonuses and social security contributions that are expected
to be settled wholly within 12 months after the end of the financial year in
which the employees render the related service are recognised as an expense
in the financial year in which the associated services are rendered by
employees of the Bank and are measured at the amounts paid or expected to
be paid when the liabilities are settled. Short-term accumulating compensated
absences such as paid annual leave are recognised when services are
rendered by employees that increase their entitlement to future compensated
absences, and short-term non-accumulating compensated absences such as
sick leave are recognised when the absences occur.
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(ii)

(iii)

Defined contribution pension plan

The Bank makes contributions to the Employee Provident Fund ("EPF") as
well as defined contribution private retirement schemes in Malaysia. Such
contributions are recognised as an expense in profit or loss in the financial
year to which they relate. Once the contributions have been paid, the Bank
has no further payment obligations.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable whenever an employee’s employment is
terminated before the normal retirement date or whenever an employee
accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for these benefits. The Bank
recognises termination benefits when it is demonstrably committed to either
terminate the employment of current employees according to a detailed formal
plan without possibility of withdrawal or to provide termination benefits as a
result of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy. Benefits falling
due more than 12 months after the reporting date are discounted to present
value.

Share-based payment transactions

The hoiding company, AMMB, operates an equity-settied share-based
compensation scheme wherein shares or options to subscribe for shares of
AMMB are granted to eligible directors and employees of the AMMB Group
based on the financial and performance criteria and such conditions as it may
deem fit.

The Bank recognises the cost of this equity-settled share-based
compensation (being the fair value at grant date) as prepayment made to the
holding company on grant date, and amortised to profit or loss as "Personnel
costs", over the period in which the performance and/or service conditions are
fulfilled, ending on the date on which the relevant employees become fully
entitled to the award (“the vesting date”).

The estimated number of grants to be ultimately vested and its financial
impact are reviewed quarterly and adjustments made accordingly to profit or
loss to reflect changes in the non-market vesting conditions.

Upon vesting, any losses arising from differences of fair value at vesting date

against fair value at grant date is recognised directly to the retained earnings
of the Bank.
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2.4r Dividends on ordinary shares

Dividends on ordinary shares are recognised as a liability and deducted from
equity when they are approved by the Bank’s shareholder. Interim dividends are
deducted from equity when they are declared.

Dividends for the year that are approved between the end of the reporting period
and the date the financial statements are authorised for issue are disclosed as an
event after the reporting period.

2.4s Taxes

(i)

(ii)

Current tax

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior financial years are
measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation
authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those
that are enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date.

Current taxes are recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that the tax
relates to items recognised outside profit or loss. Current taxes relating to
items recognised in OCI or directly in equity is recognised in OCI or equity
respectively. ‘

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for
financial reporting purposes at the reporting date.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences,
except:

a. where the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill
or an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination
and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor
taxable profit or loss; and

b. in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in
subsidiaries and associates, where the timing of the reversal of the
temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable that the
temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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2.4s Taxes (Cont'd.)

(iiy Deferred tax (Cont'd.)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences,
the carry forward of unused tax credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred
tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will
be available against which the deductible temporary differences, and the carry
forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

a. where the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary
difference arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss;
and

b. In respect of deductible temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries and associates, deferred tax assets are
recognised only to the extent that it is probable that the temporary
differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date
and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at each reporting
date and are recognised to the extent that it has become probable that future
taxable profits will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered. '

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are
expected to apply in the year when the asset is realised or the liability is
settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted, or
substantively enacted, at the reporting date.

Deferred tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised
outside profit or loss. Deferred tax items are recognised in correlation to the
underlying transaction either in OCI or directly in equity.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a legally
enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the
same taxation authority.
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2.4s Taxes (Cont'd.)

2.4t

2.4u

(i) Deferred tax (Cont'd.)

Tax benefits acquired as part of a business combination, but not satisfying the
criteria for separate recognition at that date, would be recognised
subsequently if new information about facts and circumstances changed. The
adjustment is either treated as a reduction in goodwill (as long as it does not
exceed goodwill) if it was incurred during the measurement period or
recognised in profit or loss.

Zakat

This represents business zakat payable by the Bank to comply with Shariah
principles approved by the Bank’s Shariah Committee. Zakat provision is
calculated by reference to the zakat rate of 2.5% of the net profit after tax and is
based on percentage of Muslim shareholders of the holding company. The Bank
has fulfilled its obligation to pay business zakat to state zakat authorities and other
identified beneficiaries (asnaf) comprising poor and needy students under student
adoption programme, and charitable organisations.

Earnings Per Share (“EPS”)

The Bank presents basic and diluted (where applicable) EPS data for its ordinary
shares. Basic EPS is calculated by dividing the profit or loss attributable to
ordinary shareholder of the Bank by the weighted average number of ordinary
shares outstanding during the period. Diluted EPS is determined by adjusting the
profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholder and the weighted average number
of ordinary shares outstanding for the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary
shares.
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2.4v

2.4w

Segment reporting

Segment reporting in the financial statements are presented on the same basis as
is used by management internally for evaluating operating segment performance
and in deciding how to allocate resources to operating segments. Operating
segments are distinguishable components of the Bank about which separate
financial information is available and is evaluated regularly by the chief operating
decision maker in deciding how to allocate resources and in assessing
performance. Reportable segments are operating segments or aggregations of
operating segments of similar economic characteristics that meet specific
aggregation criteria.

The Bank’s segmental reporting is based on the following operating segments:
retail banking, wholesale banking and group funding and others, as disclosed in
Note 51.

Share capital and share issuance expenses

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets
of the Bank after deducting all the liabilities. Ordinary shares are equity
instruments.

Ordinary shares are recorded at the proceeds received, net of directly attributable
incremental transaction costs. Changes in the fair value of the ordinary shares are
not recognised in the financial statements.
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3. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
3.1 Adoption of Amendments and Annual Improvements to Standards

The significant accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial
year except for the adoption of the following new standards and amendments to published
standards which became effective for the first time for the Bank on 1 April 2017:

- Disclosure Initiative (Amendments to MFRS 107)
- Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealised Losses (Amendments to MFRS 112)
- Annual Improvements to MFRSs 2014-2016 Cycle - amendments to MFRS 12

The adoption of these new standards and amendments to published standards did not have
any material impact on the financial statements of the Bank. The Bank did not have to change
its accounting policies or make retrospective adjustments as a result of adopting these new
standards and amendments to published standards.

The nature of the new standards and amendments to published standards relevant to the
Bank are described below:

Disclosure Initiative (Amendments to MFRS 107)

The amendments to MFRS 107 introduce an additional disclosure on changes in liabilities
arising from financing activities. The disclosure requirement could be satisfied in various ways,
and one method is by providing reconciliation between the opening and closing balances in
the statement of financial position for liabilities arising from financing activities. This disclosure
has been provided in Note 24.

Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealised Losses (Amendments to MFRS 112)

The amendments clarify the requirements for recognising deferred tax assets on unrealised
losses arising from deductible temporary difference on asset carried at fair value. In addition,
in evaluating whether an entity will have sufficient taxable profits in future periods against
which deductible temporary differences can be utilised, the amendments require an entity to
compare the deductible temporary differences with future taxable profits that excludes tax
deductions resulting from the reversal of those temporary differences. The existing policy
applied by the Group and the Company in respect of the recognition of deferred tax assets
comply with these requirements.

Annual Improvements to MFRSs 2014-2016 Cycle
The Annual Improvements to MFRSs 2014-2016 Cycle include minor amendments affecting 3
MFRSs, in which 1 of them is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2017, as summarised below:
(i) MFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities

The amendment clarified that the disclosure requirements of MFRS 12 are applicable to

interests in subsidiaries, joint arrangements, associates or unconsolidated structured
entities classified as held for sale
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3.2 Standards issued but not yet effective

The following are standards issued but not yet effective up to the date of issuance of the
Bank’s financial statements. The Bank intends to adopt the relevant standards when they

become effective.

Description

Annual Improvements to MFRSs 2014-2016 Cycle
- amendments to MFRS 1 and MFRS 128

MFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

MFRS 9 Financial Instruments

Applying MFRS 9 Financial Instruments with MFRS 4 Insurance
Contracts (Amendments to MFRS 4)

Classification and Measurement of Share-based Payment
Transactions (Amendments to MFRS 2)

Transfers of Investment Property (Amendments to MFRS 140)

IC Interpretation 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance
Consideration

MFRS 16 Leases

IC Interpretation 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments

Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation
{(Amendments to MFRS 9)

Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures
{(Amendments to MFRS 128)

Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement
{(Amendments to MFRS 119)

Annual Improvements to MFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle

MFRS 17 Insurance Contracts

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate

or Joint Venture (Amendments to MFRS 10 and MFRS 128)

The nature of the standards that are issued and relevant to the Bank but not yet effective are

Effective for
annual period
beginning on or
after

1 January 2018
1 January 2018
1 January 2018

1 January 2018

1 January 2018
1 January 2018

1 January 2018
1 January 2019
1 January 2019

1 January 2019
1 January 2019

1 January 2019

1 January 2019

1 January 2021

To be determined
by MASB

described below. The Bank is assessing the financial effects of their adoption.
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Standards effective for financial year ending 31 March 2019
Annual Improvements to MFRSs 2014-2016 Cycle

The Annual Improvements to MFRSs 2014-2016 Cycle include minor amendments affecting 3
MFRSs, in which two of them is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2018, as summarised below:

(i) MFRS 1 First-time Adoption of Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards

The amendments deleted short-term exemptions covering transition provisions of MFRS
7, MFRS 10, and MFRS 119. These transition provisions were available to entities for
past reporting periods and are therefore no longer applicable.

(ii) MFRS 128 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures

MFRS 128 allows venture capital organisations, mutual funds, unit trusts and similar
entities to elect measuring their investments in associates or joint ventures at fair value
through profit or loss. The amendments clarified that this election should be made
separately for each associate or joint venture at initial recognition.

MFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

MFRS 15 establishes a new five-step model that will apply to revenue arising from contracts
with customers. MFRS 15 will supersede the current revenue recognition guidance including
MFRS 118 Revenue, MFRS 111 Construction Contracts and the related interpretations when
it becomes effective.

The core principle of MFRS 15 is that an entity should recognise revenue which depict the
transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the
consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or
services.

Under MFRS 15, an entity recognises revenue when (or as) a performance obligation is
satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or services underlying the particular performance
obligation is transferred to the customer.

Either a full or modified retrospective application is required for annual periods beginning on
or after 1 January 2018 with early adoption permitted. The Bank intends to adopt the standard
using the modified retrospective approach which means that the cumulative impact of the
adoption will be recognised in retained earnings as of 1 April 2018 and that comparatives will
not be restated.
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3.2 Standards issued but not yet effective (Cont'd.)
Standards effective for financial year ending 31 March 2019 (Cont'd.)
MFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Cont'd.)
The following areas have been identified to be impacted by the requirements of MFRS 15:
(i) Customer loyalty programme

The Bank concluded that under MFRS 15 the loyalty programme gives rise to a separate
performance obligation because it generally provides a material right to the customer.
Under MFRS 15, the Bank will need to allocate a portion of the transaction price to the
loyalty programme based on relative stand-alone selling price instead of the allocation
using the fair value of points issued.

MFRS 9 Financial Instruments

In November 2014, MASB issued the final version of MFRS 9 Financial Instruments which
reflects all phases of the financial instruments project and replaces MFRS 139 Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement and all previous versions of MFRS 9. The
standard introduces new requirements for classification and measurement, impairment and
hedge accounting. MFRS 9 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2018. Retrospective application is required, but comparative information is not compulsory.

MFRS 9 will require all financial assets, other than equity instruments and derivatives, to be
classified on the basis of two criteria, namely the entity’s business model for managing the
assets, as well as the instruments’ contractual cash flow characteristics. Financial assets will
be measured at amortised cost if they are held within a business model whose objective is to
hold financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and profit. If the financial assets are held within a business model whose objective is
achieved by both selling financial assets and collecting contractual cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and profit, the assets shall be measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“‘FVOCI”). Any financial assets that are not measured at amortised
cost or FVOCI will be measured at fair value through profit or loss (‘FVTPL”). MFRS 9 will
also allow entities to continue to irrevocably designate instruments that qualify for amortised
cost or FVOCI as FVTPL, if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or
recognition inconsistency. Equity instruments are normally measured at FVTPL; nevertheless
entities are allowed to irrevocably designate equity instruments that are not held for trading as
FVOCI, with no subsequent reclassification of gains or losses to the statement of profit or
loss.
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MFRS 9 Financial Instruments (Cont'd.)

MFRS 9 will fundamentally change the financing loss impairment methodoiogy. The standard
will replace MFRS 139’s incurred loss approach with a forward-looking expected credit foss
("ECL") approach. The impairment requirements based on ECL approach is applicable for all
financing and other debt financial assets not held at FVTPL, as well as financing commitments
and financial guarantee contracts. The allowance for expected losses shall be determined
based on the expected credit losses associated with the probability of default in the next
twelve months unless there has been a significant increase in credit risk since origination, in
which case, the allowance is based on the probability of default over the remaining lifetime of
the asset.

The Bank has planned to adopt MFRS 9 on the required effective date and, as permitted by
the new standard, will not restate comparative information. The AMMB Group has set up a
multidisciplinary Programme Working Group ("PWG") to prepare for MFRS 9 implementation
with the involvement from Risk, Finance and Operations personnel, as well as the assistance
from external consultants. The PWG regularly report to the Programme Steering Committee
("PSC") chaired by the AMMB Group Chief Financial Officer. The Programme has clear
individual work streams for classification and measurement, impairment, hedge accounting
and disclosures. The AMMB Group has also engaged its external auditor to independently
verify and validate the accounting policies and solution tools developed under the Programme
and to report on whether they comply with the requirements of MFRS 9.

During the financial year, the Bank has performed a detailed impact assessment on all
aspects of MFRS 9. This assessment is based on currently available information and may be
subject to changes arising from further reasonable and supportable information being made
available to the Bank in financial year ending 31 March 2019 when the Bank will adopt MFRS
9. The estimable impact from the adoption of MFRS 9 based on currently available information
are as discussed below. ‘
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Standards effective for financial year ending 31 March 2019 (Cont'd.)

MFRS 9 Financial Instruments (Cont'd.)

U

Classification and measurement

Financing and advances, which forms a substantial portion of the Bank's financial
assets, will satisfy the conditions for classification at amortised cost and hence there wiil
be no change to the accounting of these assets. Similarly, investments in corporate
bonds and sukuk currently classified as held-to-maturity will meet the conditions for
classification at amortised cost under MFRS 9.

Financial assets held for trading will continue to be measuresd at FVTPL.

Certain investments in sukuk that are currently classified as available-for-sale will qualify
for classification at amortised cost going forward. The reclassification will be effected by
way of a retrospective application of the effective profit method and accordingly, the
related cumulative fair value loss will be reversed on 1 April 2018. Other investments in
sukuk that are currently classified as available-for-sale will satisfy the conditions for
classification at FVOCI and hence there will be no change to the accounting of these
assets.

The maijority of the Bank's debt investments not quoted in active market that are
currently measured at amortised cost will satisfy the conditions for classification at
FVOCI and the related fair value gains will be recognised in fair value reserve on 1 April
2018. However, certain debt investments do not meet the cash flow characteristics
criterion to be classified either at FVOCI or at amortised cost and shall be classified at
FVTPL accordingly with related fair value loss to be recognised in retained earnings on
1 April 2018.

There will be no impact on the Bank’s accounting for financial liabilities, as the new
requirements only affect the accounting for financial liabilities that are designated at
FVTPL and the Bank does not have any such liabilities.
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3.2 Standards issued but not yet effective (Cont'd.)

Standards effective for financial year ending 31 March 2019 (Cont'd.)

MFRS 9 Financial Instruments (Cont'd.)

(ii)

(ii)

Hedge accounting

The Bank determined that all existing hedge relationships that are currently designated
in effective hedging relationships will continue to qualify for hedge accounting under
MFRS 9. As MFRS 9 does not change the general principles of how an entity accounts
for effective hedges, applying the hedging requirements of MFRS 9 will not have a
significant impact on Bank’s financial statements.

Impairment

The Bank has established a policy to perform an assessment at the end of each
reporting period of whether credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition
by considering the change in the risk of default occurring over the remaining life of the
financial instrument. To calculate ECL, the Bank will estimates the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument during its expected life. ECLs are estimated based
on the present value of all cash shortfalls over the remaining expected life of the financial
asset, i.e. the difference between the contractual cash flowsthat are due to the Bank
under the contract and the cash flows that the Bank expects to receive, discounted at the
effective profit rate of the financial asset.

In comparison to MFRS 139, the Bank expects the impairment charge under MFRS 9 to
be more volatile than under MFRS 139 and to result in an increase in the total level of
current impairment allowances.

Based on the assessments undertaken to date, the Bank expects an increase in the loss
allowance in respect of financing and advances, as well as investments in sukuk that
are not classified at FVTPL. A negative adjustment will be made to retained earnings on
1 April 2018 to recognise the additional loss allowance.

Following the detailed impact assessment performed based on currently available
information, the Group's Capital Adequacy Ratio is to be not significantly different on 1
April 2018 when the impact of MFRS 9 adoption as discussed above are adjusted to the
Group's opening equity.
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3.2 Standards issued but not yet effective (Cont'd.)
Standards effective for financial year ending 31 March 2019 (Cont'd.)

Classification and Measurement of Share-based Payment Transactions (Amendments
to MFRS 2)

The amendments clarify the measurement basis and the effects of vesting conditions on the
measurement of cash-settled share-based payments, as well as the accounting for
modifications that change an award from cash-settied to equity-settled. It also introduces an
exception to the principles in MFRS 2 that will require an award to be treated as if it was
wholly equity-settled when an employer is obliged to withhold an amount for the employee's
tax obligation associated with a share-based payment and pay that amount to the tax
authority.

The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018 with
early adoption permitted. The transition provisions specify that the amendments apply to
awards that are not settled as at the date of first application or to modifications that happen
after the date of first application, without restatement of prior periods. Notwithstanding this, the
amendments can be applied retrospectively provided that this is possible without hindsight.

IC Interpretation 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration

The Interpretation provides guidance on how to determine the date of the transaction when
applying MFRS 121 in situations where an entity either pays or receives consideration in
advance for foreign currency-denominated contracts. For the purpose of determining the
exchange rate to use on initial recognition of the related item, the Interpretation states that the
date of the transaction shall be the date on which an entity initially recognises the non-
monetary asset or liability arising from the advance consideration.

The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018 with
early adoption permitted. Entities can choose to apply the Interpretation retrospectively,
prospectively to items that are initially recognised on or after the beginning of the reporting
period in which the Interpretation is first applied, or prospectively from the beginning of a prior
reporting period presented as comparative information.
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Standards effective for financial year ending 31 March 2020
MFRS 16 Leases
MFRS 16 ‘Leases’ supersedes MFRS 117 ‘Leases’ and the related interpretations.

Under MFRS 16, a lease is a contract (or part of a contract) that conveys the right to control
the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

The right-of-use asset is depreciated in accordance with the principle in MFRS 116 ‘Property,
Plant and Equipment and the lease liability is accreted over time with profit expense
recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

For lessors, MFRS 16 retains most of the requirements in MFRS 117. Lessors continue to
classify all leases as either operating leases or finance leases and account for them
differently.

MERS 16 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019, with early
application permitted provided MFRS 15 is also applied. At this stage, the Bank do not intend
to adopt the standard before its effective date. The Bank intends to apply the simplified
transition approach and will not restate comparative amounts.

The Bank are in the process of assessing the financial implication for adopting MFRS 16. ltis
therefore not yet possible to estimate the amount of right-of-use assets and lease liabilities
that will have to be recognised on adoption of the new standard.
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Standards effective for financial year ending 31 March 2020
IC Interpretation 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments

The Interpretation provides guidance on how to recognise and measure deferred and current
income tax assets and liabilities in situations where there is uncertainty over whether the tax
treatment applied by an entity will be accepted by the tax authority. If it is probable that the tax
authority will accept an uncertain tax treatment that has been taken or is expected to be taken
on a tax return, the accounting for income taxes shall be determined consistently with that tax
treatment. If an entity concludes that it is not probable that the treatment will be accepted, it
should reflect the effect of the uncertainty in its income tax accounting in the period in which
that determination is made, by applying the most likely amount method or the expected value
method.

The Interpretation is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019 with
early adoption permitted. Entities can choose to apply the Interpretation on full retrospective
basis if possible without the use of hindsight, or retrospectively with the cumulative effect of
initial application recognised as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings.

Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation (Amendments to MFRS 9)

Under the current MFRS 9 requirements, the "solely payments of principal and profit on the
principal amount outstanding” ("SPPI") condition is not met if the lender has to make a
settiement payment in the event of early termination by the borrower. The existing
requirements are amended to enable entities, to measure at amortised cost or at fair value
through other comprehensive income (depending on the business model), some prepayable
financial assets with negative compensation if the negative compensation is a reasonable
compensation for early termination of the contract. An example of such reasonable
compensation is an amount that reflects the effect of the change in the relevant benchmark
rate of profit at the time of termination; the caiculation of this compensation payment must be
the same for both the case of an early repayment penalty and the case of a early repayment
gain.

The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019 with
early adoption permitted. The amendments shall be applied retrospectively.
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3. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D.)

3.2 Standards issued but not yet effective (Cont'd.)

Annual Improvements to MFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle

‘The Annual improvements to MFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle include minor amendments affecting 4
MFRSs, which are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019, as
summarised below:

(®)

(i)

(iif)

(iv)

MFRS 3 Business Combinations

The amendments clarified that obtaining control of a business that is a joint operation is a
business combination achieved in stages. The acquirer shall remeasure its previously
held interest in the joint operation at fair value at of the acquisition date.

MFRS 11 Joint Arrangements

The amendments clarified that the party obtaining joint control of a business that is a joint
operation shall not remeasure any previously held interest in the joint operation.

MFRS 112 Income Taxes

The amendment clarified that the income tax consequences of dividends on financial
instruments classified as equity should be recognised according to where the past
transactions or events that generated the distributable amounts were recognised. Hence
the tax consequences are recognised in profit or loss only when an entity determines
payments on such instruments are distributions of profits.

MFRS 123 Borrowing Costs

The amendments clarify that if any specific borrowing remains outstanding after the
related asset is ready for its intended use or sale, that borrowing becomes part of the
funds that an entity borrows generally when calculating the capitalisation rate on general
borrowings.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS

4.1

4.2

4.3

Bank Negara Malaysia ("BNM") Policy Document on Capital Funds

On 3 May 2017, BNM issued revised policy document, Capital Funds for Islamic Banks
which is applicable for licensed Islamic banks. The key change in the revised policy
document is the removal of the requirement for banking institutions to maintain a
reserve fund. The Bank had previously maintained the reserve fund via transfer from
retained earnings to Statutory Reserve. Arising from this change, during the current
financial quarter, the Bank had reclassified the balance in Statutory Reserve to
Retained earnings.

BNM circular on Classification and Regulatory Treatment for Structured
Products under the Financial Services Act ("FSA") and Islamic Financial
Services Act ("IFSA") 2013

On 21 June 2017, BNM issued a circular to clarify that structured products that do not
guarantee the full repayment of the principal amount on demand do not fulfil the
definition of deposits under Section 2 of the FSA and IFSA and must not be classified
as deposits.

The Bank had previously classified structured products issued to customers and other
financial institutions which are principal protected if held to maturity as Deposits from
customers and Deposits and placement of banks and other financial institutions.
Accordingly, during the current financial quarter, the Bank had reclassified all
structured products that do not fulfill the definition of the deposits under Section 2 of
the IFSA to Term Funding. The comparatives were also restated as per Note 52.

Financial Reporting

On 2 February 2018, BNM issued the following revised policy documents which are
effective for financial years beginning on or after 1 January 2018:

(a) Financial Reporting
(b)  Financial Reporting for Islamic Banking Institutions

Certain requirements in the policy documents have been revised in response to the
changes in the loan loss impairment methodology arising from the expected credit loss
approach under MFRS 9. In addition, the credit-impaired classification requirements
which was previously provided in BNM's policy document on Classification and
Impairment Provisions for Loans/Financing have also been incorporated into the above
revised policy documents.
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4. SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS (CONT'D.)

Following the application of MFRS 9 impairment requirements, the revised policy
documents require banking institutions and Islamic banking institutions to maintain, in
aggregate, loss allowance for non-credit-impaired exposures and regulatory reserves
of no less than 1% of total credit exposures, net of loss allowance for credit-impaired
exposures.

The revised policy documents also introduced new disclosure requirements in the
annual financial statements, as follows:

(i)  amovement schedule of financial instruments classified as credlt-lmpalred with a
breakdown by class of financial instrument;

(i) a movement schedule of loss allowance with a breakdown by class of financial
instrument and showing separately the loss allowance measured by different

(iii) intercompany charges with a breakdown by type of services received and
geographical distribution; and

(iv) nature of the underlying assets in connection with placement of funds in an
investment account with an Islamic banking institution.

The Bank shall apply the above requirements from the financial year ending 31 March
2019.
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5.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS

The preparation of the financial statements in accordance with MFRSs requires management
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting
policies and reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, the
accompanying disclosures and the disclosure of contingent liabilities. Judgements,
estimates and assumptions are continually evaluated and are based on past experience,
reasonable expectations of future events and other factors. Uncertainty about these
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that require a material adjustment to the
carrying amount of assets or liabilities affected in future periods.

In the process of applying the Bank’s accounting policies, management has made the
following judgements, estimates and assumptions which have the most significant effect on
the amounts recognised in the financial statements.

5.1 Allowance for impairment on financing and advances (Notes 12 and 32)

The Bank reviews its individually significant financing and advances at each reporting
date to assess whether an impairment loss should be recorded in the statement of
profit or loss. In particular, management’s judgment is required in the estimation of the
amount and timing of future cash flows when determining the impairment loss. These
estimates are based on assumptions about a number of factors and actual results may
differ, resuiting in future changes to the allowance.

Financing and advances that have been assessed individually and found not to be
impaired and all individually insignificant financing and advances are then assessed
collectively, in groups of assets with similar risk characteristics, to determine whether
allowance should be made due to incurred loss events for which there is objective
evidence but whose effects are not yet evident. The collective assessment takes
account of data from the financing portfolio (such as levels of arrears, credit utilisation,
financing to collateral ratios), and judgments on cover model risks (e.g. errors for
design/development process, data quality, data extraction and transformation) and
macro risks (such as covering economic, portfolio and procedural issues).

5.2 Impairment losses on financial investments AFS

The Bank reviews its debt securities classified as financial investments AFS at each
reporting date to assess whether they are impaired. This requires similar judgment as
applied to the individual assessment of financing and advances.

The Bank also records impairment loss on AFS equity investments when there has
been a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value below their cost. The
determination of what is “significant” or “prolonged” requires judgment. In making this
judgment, the Bank evaluates, among other factors, historical share price movements
and duration and extent to which the fair value of an investment is less than its cost.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS
(CONT'D.)

5.3

5.4

Deferred tax assets and income taxes (Notes 25 and 39)

Deferred tax assets are recognised in respect of tax losses to the extent that it is
probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the tax losses can be
utilised. Management judgment is required to determine the amount of the deferred
tax assets that can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and level of future
taxable profits together with future tax planning strategies.

The Bank is subjected to income taxes in Malaysia and significant judgment is required
in estimating the provision for income taxes. There are many transactions and
interpretations of tax law for which the final outcome will not be established until some
time later. Liabilities for taxation are recognised based on estimates of whether
additional taxes will be payable. The estimation process may involve seeking advice of
experts, where appropriate. Where the final liability for taxation assessed by the

Inland Revenue Board is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, these

differences will affect the income tax expense and deferred tax provisions in the period
in which the estimate is revised or when the final tax liability is established.

Fair value measurement of financial instruments (Notes 8, 9, 10, 13, 29 and 31)

When the fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded on the
statement of financial position cannot be derived from active markets, they are
determined using a variety of valuation techniques that inciude the use of financial
models. The inputs to these models are taken from observable markets where
possible, but where this is not feasible, judgment is required to establish fair values.
Judgments include considerations of liquidity and model inputs such as volatility for
longer-dated derivatives and discount rates, prepayment rates and default rate
assumptions for asset-backed securities.
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6.

CASH AND SHORT-TERM FUNDS

2018 2017

RM’000 RM’000

Cash and bank balances 41,149 24,658
Deposits and placements maturing within one month:

Licensed banks 100,000 200,000

Bank Negara Malaysia 1,447,280 2,062,000

‘ 1,588,429 2,286,658
Deposit and placements with original maturity of three

months or less 1,547,280 2,262,000

DEPOSITS AND PLACEMENTS WITH BANKS AND OTHER FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS

2018 2017

RM’000 RM’000

Islamic banks 200,000 635,000
Deposit and placements with original maturity of three

months or less 200,000 635,000

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL ASSETS/LIABILITIES

The table below shows the Bank’s derivative financial instruments as at the reporting date. The
contractual or underlying principal amounts of these derivative financial instruments and their
corresponding gross positive (derivative financial asset) and gross negative (derivative financial
liability) fair values at the reporting date are analysed below:

Contract/Notional Fair Value
Amount Assets Liabilities
2018 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000
Trading Derivatives
Foreign exchange related contracts
One year or less 1,539,601 35,762 35,278
Over one year to three years 81,123 3,146 3,113
Over three years 608,346 44 222 42,644
Profit rate related contracts
QOver three years 260,000 4,278 4278
Hedging Derivatives
Profit rate related contracts
Profit rate swap
- Fair value hedge
Over three years 350,000 - 7,626

Total 2,839,070 87,408 92,939
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8. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL ASSETS/LIABILITIES (CONT'D.)

Contract/
Notional Fair Value
Amount Assets Liabilities
2017 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000
Trading Derivatives
Foreign exchange related contracts
One year or less 1,880,550 27,136 26,954
Over three years 696,535 7,797 5,504
Profit rate related contracts
Over three years 570,000 7,448 7,448
Hedging Derivatives
Profit rate related contracts
Profit rate swap
- Fair value hedge
Over three years 350,000 - 7,964
Total 3,497,085 42,381 47,870
9. FINANCIAL ASSETS HELD-FOR-TRADING
2018 2017
RWM’000 RM’000
At fair value:
Money market instruments:
Malaysian Islamic Treasury bills 486,655 47,509
Government Investment Issues 241,988 494 074
Bank Negara Monetary Notes ' 199,560 -
928,203 541,583
Unquoted securities:
In Malaysia:
Sukuk 656,429 139,882
1,584,632 681,465
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10. FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE

1.

2018 2017
RM’000 RM’000
At fair value:
Money market instruments: .
Malaysian Government Investment Issues 223,813 422,300
Islamic negotiable instruments of deposit 1,510,068 1,096,546
1,733,881 1,518,846
Unquoted securities:
In Malaysia:
Sukuk 1,104,685 916,878
2,838,566 2,435,724

During the current financial year, the Bank was appointed as Islamic Principal Dealer ("iPD")
respectively for specified securities issued by the Government, BNM and BNM Sukuk Berhad for
the period 1 January 2017 to 31 December 2018.

As iPD, the Bank is required to undertake certain obligations and was also accorded incentives.
One of the incentives accorded was the eligibility to maintain specified amounts of the Statutory
Reserve Requirements ("SRR") balances in the form of Malaysian Government Secuirites
("MGS") and/or Malaysian Government Investment Issues ("MGII") instead of cash effective for
the period from January 2017 to December 2017. As at 31 March 2018, MGS and MGI! were
maintained by the Bank for SRR purposes was RM Nil (31 March 2017: RM79,743,000).

Previously, the Bank had reclassified securities amounting to RM7.6 million out of financial
investments available-for-sale category to the financing and receivables category as the Bank
had the intention to hold the securities until maturity.

As at 31 March 2018, the fair value gain that would have been recognised in other
comprehensive income for the current financial year if the securities had not been reclassified
amounted approximately to RM564,000 (31 March 2017: RM533,000).

FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS HELD-TO-MATURITY

2018 2017
RM’000 RM’000
At amortised cost:
Unguoted securities:
In Malaysia:
Sukuk 1,090,010 1,278,221
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12. FINANCING AND ADVANCES (CONT'D.)

(b) Gross financing and advances analysed by type of customer are as follows:

Domestic non-bank financial institutions
Domestic business enterprises

- Small medium enterprises

- Others

Government and statutory bodies
Individuals

Other domestic entities

Foreign individuals and entities

(c) All financing and advances reside in Malaysia.

(d) Gross financing and advances analysed by profit rate sensitivity are as follows:

Fixed rate

- Housing financing

- Hire purchase receivables
- Other financing

Variable rate

- Base rate and base financing rate plus
- Cost plus

- Other variable rates
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2018 2017
RN’O00 RM’000
1,192,612 1,544,039
5,294,379 4,582,846
7,357,710 8,582,585
716,111 300,962
13,384,249 12,409,237
1,344 13,137
88,017 75,271
28,034,422 27,508,077
2018 2017
RM’000 RM’000
205,376 223,038
5,686,447 7,106,297
2,703,476 2,654,145
8,726,336 6,122,200
8,817,540 9,878,868
1,895,247 1,523,529
28,034,422 27,508,077
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12. FINANCING AND ADVANCES (CONT'D.)

(e)

Gross financing and advances analysed by sector are as follows:

Agriculture

Mining and guarrying

Manufacturing

Electricity, gas and water

Construction

Wholesale and retail trade and hotel
and restaurants

Transport, storage and communication

Finance and insurance

Real estate

Business activities

Education and health

Household of which:
- Purchase of residential properties
- Purchase of transport vehicles
- Others

Others

2018 2017
RM’000 RM’000
1,696,977 2,027,331
1,041,439 894,872
3,322,092 3,022,927
313,429 105,722
883,579 1,121,287
1,320,133 1,238,007
939,582 1,578,905
1,192,616 1,544,039
2,288,154 2,391,868
432,013 385,129
1,127,642 707,017
13,471,899 12,473,022
4,874,534 3,326,314
5,759,757 7,292,033
2,837,608 1,854,675
4,867 17,951
28,034,422 27,508,077

Gross financing and advances analysed by residual contractual maturity are as follows:

Maturing within one year
Over one year to three years
Over three years to five years
Over five years
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2018 2017
RM’000 RM’000
9,900,413 10,819,946
3,124,095 2,403,919
4,182,047 5,210,480
10,827,867 9,073,732
28,034,422 27,508,077
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12. FINANCING AND ADVANCES (CONT'D.)

(@)

(h)

(i)

Movements in impaired financing and advances are as follows:

2018 2017
RM’000 RM’000
Balance at beginning of the financial year 488,700 605,200
Impaired during the year 359,171 265,280
Reclassified as non-impaired (25,231) (92,536)
Recoveries (63,456) (70,415)
Amount written off (176,646) (218,829)
Balance at end of the financial year 582,538 488,700
Gross impaired financing and advances
as % of gross financing and advances 2.08% 1.78%
Financing loss coverage (including regulatory reserve) 100.6% 66.9%
All impaired financing and advances reside in Malaysia.
Impaired financing and advances analysed by sector are as follows:
2018 2017
RM’000 RM’000
Agriculture 571 206
Mining and quarrying 3,806 3,873
Manufacturing 1,863 6,137
Electricity, gas and water 7,030 7,863
Construction 8,807 10,550
Wholesale and retail trade and hotel
and restaurants 15,890 13,820
Transport, storage and communication 76,990 5,302
Real estate 308,100 307,959
Business activities 1,659 2,064
Education and health 5,859 5,715
Household of which: 151,832 125,210
- Purchase of residential properties 48,899 28,549
- Purchase of transport vehicles 75,209 80,919
- Others 27,724 15,742
Others 131 1
582,538 488,700
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12. FINANCING AND ADVANCES (CONT'D.)

() Movements in allowances for impaired financing and advances are as follows:

2018 2017
RM’000 RM’000
Individual allowance
Balance at beginning of the financial year 16,041 63,715
Allowance made during the
year, net (Note 32) 29,090 16,108
Amount written off (19,817) (63,782)
Balance at end of the financial year 25,314 16,041
Collective allowance
Balance at beginning of the financial year 252,280 329,392
Allowance made during the
year, net (Note 32) 137,829 78,288
Amount written off ‘ (156,829) (155,409)
Foreign exchange differences (8) 9
Balance at end of the financial year* 233,272 252,280
Collective allowance (including regulatory
reserve) as % of gross financing and
advances (excluding RIA financing)
less individual allowance 2.23% 1.20%

On 29 September 2017 and 19 December 2017, the Bank entered into RIA contracts
for the sum of RM529.4 million and RM857.6 million respectively, with AmBank.

*  As at 31 March 2018, the gross exposure and collective allowance relating to the RIA
financing amounted to RM2,869.6 million and RM2.7 million respectively (31 March
2017: RM1,604.4 milion and RM2.3 million respectively) are included in the Bank's
collective allowance. )

There was no individual allowance provided for the RIA financing. Further details of the
RIA are disclosed in Note 21.
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13. RECEIVABLES: INVESTMENTS NOT QUOTED IN ACTIVE MARKETS

2018 2017

RM’000 RM’000

Unquoted sukuk in Malaysia 782,502 806,649
Accumulated fair value changes arising from fair value hedge 8,331 8,071
790,833 814,720

The Bank has undertaken a fair value hedge on the profit rate risk of unquoted securities of
RM350.0 million using profit rate swap with AmBank. The gain/(loss) during the financial year
arising from the fair value hedge is as follows:

2018 2017

RM'000 RM'000

Relating to hedged item 260 (3,421)
Relating to hedging instrument 338 3,322
: 598 (99)

14. STATUTORY DEPOSIT WITH BANK NEGARA MALAYSIA

The non-profit bearing statutory deposit is maintained with Bank Negara Malaysia in compliance
with Section 26(2)(c) of the Central Bank of Malaysia Act, 2009, the amount of which is
determined as a set percentage of total eligible liabilities.

15. OTHER ASSETS

2018 2017
Note RM’000 RM’000

Other receivables, deposits
and prepayments 21,927 5,667
Amount due from related companies (a) 140,755 116,749
Amount due from originators (b) 20,398 117,712
Profit receivable 34,411 35,683
Deferred charges 53,240 35,853
270,731 311,664

(a) Amount due from related companies are unsecured, non-profit bearing and are repayable
on demand.

(b) Amount due from originators represents personal financing acquired from originators for
onward sale to Cagamas Berhad as mentioned in Note 22.
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17. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

18.

The carrying amount of intangible assets are as follows:

Computer software

Cost

Balance at beginning of the financial year

Additions
Reclassification/Adjustments

Balance at end of the financial year

Accumulated amortisation

Balance at beginning of the financial year
Amortisation for the financial year (Note 35)
Balance at end of the financial year

Carrying amount

DEPOSITS FROM CUSTOMERS

(i)

By type of deposit:

Savings deposit
Wadiah
Commodity Murabahah
Qard

Demand deposit
Wadiah
Commodity Murabahah
Qard

Term Deposit :
Commodity Murabahah
Qard

Total

2018 2017
RM000 RNMPO00
1,377 899
1,020 478
(171) -
2,226 1,377

929 885

920 44

1,019 929
1,207 448
2018 2017
(Restated)

RMW000 RNM’000

- 2,119,573
2,005,599 -
14,279 -

- 4,245,545
4,841,876 -
22,777 -
19,373,738 20,008,971
235,533 462,608
26,493,802 26,836,697

Included in deposits from customers are deposits of RM272.9 million (31 March 2017:

RM251.7 million) held as collateral for financing and advances.
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18. DEPOSITS FROM CUSTOMERS (CONT'D.)

(i) The deposits are sourced from the following types of customers:

(iif)

Government and statutory bodies
Business enterprises

Individuals
Others

The maturity structure of term deposits are as follows:

Due within six months

Over six months to one year
Over one year to three years
Over three years to five years
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2018 2017
(Restated)

RM’000 RM’000
4,614,846 5,505,230
10,150,411 11,000,848
11,051,343 9,634,498
677,202 696,121
26,493,802 26,836,697
12,235,496 13,020,116
6,006,987 6,293,829
369,329 645,709
997,459 511,925
19,609,271 20,471,579
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19. INVESTMENT ACCOUNTS OF CUSTOMERS

2018 2017
RM’000 RM’000
Unrestricted investment accounts:
Without maturity
- Wakalah 20,387 24,374
With maturity
- Mudarabah 118,569 -
138,956 24,374

The investments accounts are sourced from the following types of customers:

Business enterprises 118,793 443
Individuals 20,163 23,931
: 138,956 24,374

Wakalah Mudarabah

RM’000 RM’000
(a) Movement in the investment account is as follows: }

As at 1 April 2016 18,411 -
Funding inflows/(outflows
Net movement during the financial year 5,953 -
Income from investment 643 -
Bank's share of profit
Profit distributed to mudarib (633) -
As at 31 March 2017/ 1 April 2017 24,374 Co-
Funding inflows/(outflows)
New placement during the financial year - 131,744
Net movement during the financial year (3,998) (13,209)
Income from investment 673 40
Bank's share of profit
Profit distributed to mudarib (662) (6)
As at 31 March 2018 20,387 118,569
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19. INVESTMENT ACCOUNTS OF CUSTOMERS (CONT'D.)

(a) Movement in the investment account is as foliows: (Cont'd.)

Wakalah Mudarabah

RM’000 RM’000
Investment asset:
2018
Interbank placement 20,387 -
House financing - 118,569
Total investment 20,387 118,569
2017
Interbank placement 24,374 -
Total investment 24,374 -

For the current financial year and financial year ended 31 March 2017, the Bank did not
impose Wakalah fees on the {nvestment Account Holders.

(b) Average Rate of Return and Average Performance Incentive Fee for the investment
accounts are as follows:

Investment account holder

Average Average
Profit Average rate Performance
sharing ratio of return incentive fee
(%) (%) (%)
2018
Maturity :
less than 3 months 83.98 0.20 3.01
2017
Maturity :
less than 3 months - 0.05 3.03
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20. DEPOSITS AND PLACEMENTS OF BANKS AND OTHER FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS

2018 2017
(Restated)
RM’000 RM’000
Non-Mudarabah
Licensed Islamic banks 399,256 397,889
Licensed investment banks 339,430 350,022
Other financial institutions 479,050 500,679
Bank Negara Malaysia 5,788 17,747
1,223,524 1,266,337
21. INVESTMENT ACCOUNT DUE TO A LICENSED BANK

2018 2017
Note RM’000 RM’000

Restricted investment account
- Mudarabah Mugayyadah (a) 2,859,110 1,600,000

Note: :

(@) The RIA contract is a contract based on the Shariah concept of Mudarabah between two
parties, that is, capital provider and entrepreneur to finance a business venture where the
business venture is managed solely by the Bank as the entrepreneur. The profit of the
business venture is shared between both parties based on a pre-agreed ratio. Losses shall

be borne solely by the capital provider. The capital provider for the RIA contracts is
(M) Berhad ("AmBank"), a related company.

AmBank

On 29 September 2017, the Bank entered into a new contract with AmBank for the sum of

RM529.4 million. This contract is for a period of 367 days.

On 19 December 2017, the Bank entered into another new contract with AmBank for the
sum of RM857.6 million. This contract's tenure is based on the contractual maturity of the

financing funded which ranges between 3 months to 14 years.

As at 31 March 2018, the tenure of the RIA contracts is for a period of 6 months to
(31 March 2017: 2 years to 4 years).
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21. INVESTMENT ACCOUNT DUE TO A LICENSED BANK (CONT'D.)

(b) Movement in the investment account is as follows:

()

Balance at beginning of the financial year

Funding inflows/(outflows)
New placement during the financial year
Redemption made during the financial year
Income attributable to investment

account holders (Note 34)
income from investment

Bank's share of profit
Profit distributed to mudarib

Balance at end of the financial year

Investment asset:
Financing
Total investment

2018 2017
RM’000 RM’000
1,600,000 1,000,000
1,387,045 1,000,000
(127,935) (400,000)
(92,281) (60,633)
102,502 67,364
(10,221) (6,731)
2,859,110 1,600,000
2,859,110 1,600,000
2,859,110 1,600,000

Profit Sharing Ratio and Average Rate of Return for the investment account are as follows:

Investment account holder

Profit
sharing
ratio
(%)

Maturity :
up to 1 year 90
between 1 year to 2 years 90
between 2 years to 5 years 90
more than 5 years 90

105

2018

Average rate
of return
(%)

4.50
4.55
4.40
477

2017

Average rate
of return
(%)

4.78
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22. RECOURSE OBLIGATION ON FINANCING SOLD TO CAGAMAS BERHAD

23.

Recourse obligation on financing sold to Cagamas Berhad represents the proceeds received
from the Bank's financing sold directly or those acquired from the originators (as disclosed in
Note 15(b) ) to Cagamas Berhad with recourse. Under this arrangement, the Bank undertakes to
administer the financing on behalf of Cagamas Berhad and to buy back any financing, which are
regarded as defective based on prudential criteria with recourse to the Bank. Under the back-to-
back arrangement with the originators, the Bank acts as the intermediary financial institution and
undertakes to administer the receivables on behalf of Cagamas Berhad and to buy back any
receivables which are regarded as defective based on prudential criteria with recourse against
the originators.

TERM FUNDING

2018 , 2017
(Restated)
RM’000 RM’000
Senior Sukuk (a) 1,000,000 1,850,000
Structured Product (b) 80,000 135,000
1,080,000 1,985,000

(@) The movement in Senior Sukuk are as follows:
2018 2017
(Restated)
RM’000 RM’000
Balance at beginning of the financial year 1,850,000 1,850,000
Repayment during the financial year (850,000) -
Balance at end of the financial year 1,000,000 1,850,000

In the financial year ended 31 March 2011, the Bank implemented a Senior Islamic
securities issuance ("Senior Sukuk") programme under the Shariah principle of Musharakah
with nominal value of up to RM3.0 billion. The Senior Sukuk was reaffirmed a rating of
AA2/Stable by RAM.

On 20 September 2010, the Bank had issued RM550.0 million Senior Sukuk under this
programme. The Senior Sukuk bears profit rate at 4.30% per annum and has a tenure of
seven years.

On 5 November 2014, the Bank issued the second tranche of Senior Sukuk of RM100.0
million. This tranche bears profit rate of 4.40% per annum and has a tenure of five years.

On 6 March 2015, the Bank issued the third and fourth tranches of Senior Sukuk of
RM300.0 million and RM900.0 million respectively. These tranches bear profit rate of 4.25%
and 4.45% per annum and have a tenure of 2.5 years and 5 years respectively.
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23. TERM FUNDING (CONT'D.)

(b)

On 6 September 2017, the Bank redeemed the third tranche of this programme amounting
to RM300.0 million.

On 20 September 2017, the Bank redeemed the first tranche of this programme amounting
to RM550.0 million.

The movement in structured deposits is as follows:

2018 2017

(Restated)

RM’000 RM’000

Balance at beginning of the financial year 135,000 450,000
Repayment during the financial year (55,000) (315,000)
Balance at end of the financial year 80,000 135,000

This includes non-principal guaranteed deposit placed by customers and structured
products that are only principal guaranteed on maturity. The structured products include
investment products with an embedded derivative where the embedded derivative is
normally linked to the performance of an underlying asset such as profit rates, equities,
commodities and foreign currency rates. Upon maturity, the customer will receive either
cash payment or pre-determined units of the underlying asset. The structured products will
mature from 3 years to 4 years.

24. SUBORDINATED SUKUK

(a)

2018 2017
Note RM’000 RM’000
Sukuk Musharakah (a) - 130,000
Sukuk Murabahah (net of unamortised issuance
costs of RM161,000; 2017: RM321,000) (b) 999,839 849,679
999,839 979,679
The movement in Subordinated Sukuk Musharakah are as follows:
2018 2017
RN’000 RNM’000
Balance at beginning of the financial year 130,000 800,000
Repayment during the financial year (130,000) (670,000)
Balance at end of the financial year - 130,000

107



Company No. 295576-U

24. SUBORDINATED SUKUK (CONT'D.)

Subordinated Sukuk Musharakah

On 30 September 2011, the Bank implemented a Subordinated Sukuk Musharakah
programme (“Sukuk Musharakah”) of up to RM2.0 billion. The purpose of the programme is
to increase the Bank’s Tier 2 Capital.

The Sukuk Musharakah is for a period of ten (10) years. The Bank may exercise its call
option and redeem in whole (but not in part) the Sukuk Musharakah on the 5th anniversary
of the issue date or on any anniversary date thereafter at 100% of the principal amount
together with the expected profit payments.

On the same date, RM600.0 million ("First Tranche") of the Sukuk Musharakah was issued,
which carries a profit rate of 4.40% per annum, and is payable on a semi-annual basis and
has a tenure of ten years.

On 31 January 2012, RM200.0 million ("Second Tranche") of the Sukuk Musharakah was
issued, which carries a profit rate of 4.35% per annum, and is payable on a semi-annual
basis and has a tenure of ten years.

On 24 December 2012, RM200.0 million ("Third Tranche”) of the Sukuk Musharakah was
issued, which carries a profit rate of 4.45% per annum, and is payable on a semi-annual
basis and has a tenure of ten years.

The Sukuk Musharakah qualify as Tier 2 Capital under BNM's capital adequacy framework.
Effective 1 January 2013, the Sukuk Musharakah qualify as Tier 2 Capital as a capital
instrument eligible for gradual phase-out treatment under the transitional arrangements of
the Basel lll accord.

The Bank had repurchased from the market and subsequently cancelled RM200.0 million of
the Sukuk Musharakah between 19 December 2013 and 20 January 2014. The
repurchases were granted prior approval by BNM and represent the portion of the Sukuk
Musharakah that do not qualify for recognition as Tier 2 capital in the computation of capital
adequacy ratio for the calendar years 2013 and 2014, under the Basel Il pronouncements.

On 30 September 2016, the Bank early redeemed the First Tranche of the Sukuk
Musharakah on its first call date with nominal value amounting to RM480.0 million.

On 31 January 2017, the Bank early redeemed the Second Tranche of the Sukuk
Musharakah on its first call date with nominal value amounting to RM180.0 million.

On 26 December 2017, the Bank redeemed the remaining RM130.0 million of nominal
value of the Sukuk Mushakarah on its first call date, and the Sukuk Mushakarah
Programme was duly cancelled after redemption of the last tranche issued under this
programme.

The movement in Subordinated Sukuk Murabahah are as foliows:

2018 2017

RM’000 RM’000

Balance at beginning of the financial year 849,679 599,528
Amortisation of issuance expenses 160 151
Issuance during the financial year 150,000 250,000
Balance at end of the financial year 999 839 849,679
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24. SUBORDINATED SUKUK (CONT'D.)
Basel 11l Subordinated Sukuk Murabahah

On 28 February 2014, the Bank implemented a Subordinated Sukuk Murabahah
programme of RM3.0 billion. The objective of the programme is to enable the issuance of
Tier 2 capital from time to time, for the purpose of enhancing the Bank’s total capital
position. The programme is set-up in accordance to the requirements speit out in the Capital
Adequacy Framework for Islamic Banks (Capital Components) issued by BNM, and the
securities issued under this programme qualified for recognition as Tier 2 Capital for the
purpose of capital adequacy ratio computation.

The programme has a tenure of thirty (30) years from the date of the first issuance under
the programme. Each issuance of Tier 2 Subordinated Sukuk under this programme shall
have a tenure of at least five (5) years from the issue date, and is callable on any profit
payment date after a minimum period of five (5) years from the date of issuance of each
tranche. The Tier 2 Subordinated Sukuk have been assigned a credit rating of AA3 by RAM
Rating Services Berhad ("RAM").

On 28 February 2014, the Bank had issued the first tranche of Tier 2 Subordinated Sukuk
Murabahah of RM200.0 million under this programme. The profit rate of this tranche is at
5.07%, payable on a semi-annual basis and has a tenure of ten (10) years.

Subsequently, on 25 March 2014, the Bank had issued the second tranche of Tier 2
Subordinated Sukuk Murabahah of RM150.0 million under this programme. The profit rate
of this tranche is at 5.05%, payable on a semi-annual basis and has a tenure of ten (10)
years.

On 21 December 2015, the Bank had issued Tranche 3 of the Subordinated Sukuk
amounting to RM250.0 million under this programme. The profit rate of this tranche is at
5.35% per annum, payable semi-annually and has a tenure of ten (10) years.

On 30 December 2016, the Bank had issued Tranche 4 of the Subordinated Sukuk
amounting to RM10.0 million under this programme. The profit rate of this tranche is at
5.50% per annum, payable semi-annually and has a tenure of ten (10) years.

On 15 March 2017, the Bank had issued Tranche 5 of the Subordinated Sukuk amounting
to RM240.0 million under this programme. The profit rate of this tranche is at 5.20% per
annum, payable semi-annually and has a tenure of ten (10) years.

On 23 February 2018, the Bank had issued Tranche 6 of the Subordinated Sukuk
amounting to RM150.0 million under this programme. The profit rate of this tranche is at
5.23% per annum, payable semi-annally and has a tenure of ten (10) years.

The full amount of all tranches issued qualify for recognition of Tier 2 capital in the capital
adequacy ratio computation. '
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Company No. 295576-U

26. OTHER LIABILITIES

2018 2017
Note RM’000 RM’000
Profit payable 217,072 195,442
Other creditors and accruals 42,458 36,976
Deferred income 15,165 12,773
Advance rentals 2,568 1,934
Amount due to related companies 179 1,384
Provision for commitments
and contingencies (a) 10,698 11,521
Provision for taxation 6,133 14,266
294,273 274,296

Amount due to related companies are unsecured, non-profit bearing and are repayable on
demand.

(@) The movements in provision for commitments and contingencies are as follows:

2018 2017

RM’000 RM’000
Balance at beginning of the financial year 11,521 11,603
Writeback of provision during the financial year (801) 41)
Foreign exchange differences (22) (41)
Balance at end of the financial year 10,698 11,521
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27. SHARE CAPITAL

28.

Issued and fully paid:

Ordinary shares

Balance at beginning of the

financial year

Balance in share premium
account transferred in as

paid up share capital

Issuance of ordinary shares

Balance at end of the
financial year

Number of ordinary shares Amount
2018 2017 2018 2017
Units'000 Units'000 RW’'000 RM’000
462,922 462,922 1,187,107 462,922
- - - 724,185
31,447 - 200,000 -
494,369 462,922 1,387,107 1,187,107

On 29 September 2017, the Bank increased its issued and paid-up ordinary share capital by
RM200.0 million from RM1,187.1 million to RM1,387.1 by way of issuance of 31,446,541 new
ordinary shares at an issue price of RM6.36 per ordinary share. The new ordinary shares
issued during the current financial year rank pari passu in all respects with the existing

ordinary shares of the Bank.

RESERVES

Statutory reserve
Regulatory reserve
Available-for-sale deficit
Retained earnings

Note

2018 2017
RwW000 RM'000

: - 483,345
327,683 58,430

(5,492) (5,149)

1,632,472 1,179,283

1,954,663 1,715,909

(a) The statutory reserve is maintained in compliance with Section 57(2)(f) of the lslamic
Financial Service Act 2013. During the current financial year, pursuant to BNM's revised
policy documents, Capital Funds and Capital Funds for Islamic Bank issued on 3 May
2017, the balance in the Statutory Reseve was transferred to Retained Earnings as
under the revised policy documents, the Bank is no longer required to maintain a

reserve fund.

(b) Regulatory reserve is maintained in accordance with BNM's Policy Document on
Classification and Impairment Provisions for Loans/Financing as an additional credit risk

absorbent.

(c) Available-for-sale reserve/(deficit) is in respect of unrealised fair value gains/ (losses) on
financial investments Available-for-sale.

(d) The Bank can distribute dividends out of its entire retained earnings under the single-tier

system.
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29. INCOME DERIVED FROM INVESTMENT OF DEPOSITORS' FUNDS

2018 2017
RM’000 RM’000

Finance income and hibah:
Financing and advances

- Financing income 1,369,587 1,397,627

- Financing income on impaired financing ’ 1,782 8,678
Financial assets held-for-trading 34,119 8,851
Financial investments available-for-sale 24,723 3,668
Financial investments held-to-maturity 53,095 55,888
Deposits and placements with banks and other

financial institutions 86,646 99,011
Receivables: Investments not quoted in active

markets 50,027 29,562
Total finance income and hibah 1,619,979 1,603,285
Other operating income:
Fee and commission income:

- Brokerage fees, commission and rebates 2 38

- Fees on financing, advances and securities 30,278 26,545

- Guarantee fees 11,089 10,426

- Remittances 89 88

- Service charges and fees 2,668 2,928

- Others 4,565 4,315
Foreign exchange 21,524 5,583
Gain from disposal of financial assets

held-for-trading N 3,317 2,584
Gain/(loss) on revaluation of financial assets held-

for-trading 1,890 (957)
Gain from disposal of financial investments

available-for-sale 749 67
Gain on derivatives 2,762 10,457
Others 20 36
Total other operating income 78,953 62,110
Total 1,698,932 1,665,395
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30. INCOME DERIVED FROM INVESTMENT OF INVESTMENT ACCOUNT FUNDS

2018 2017
RMW000 RM’000
Note
Income derived from investment of:
Restricted investment account (a) 102,502 67,364
Unrestricted investment accounts (b) 713 643
103,215 68,007

(a) Income derived from investment of restricted investment account

Finance income and hibah:
Financing and advances
- Financing income 102,502 67,364

Total finance income and hibah 102,502 67,364

(b) Income derived from investment of unrestricted investment accounts

Finance income and hibah:
Financing and advances

- Financing income 40 -
Deposits and placements with banks and other

financial institutions 673 643
Total finance income and hibah 713 643
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31.

32,

INCOME DERIVED FROM INVESTMENT OF SHAREHOLDER'S FUNDS
2018 2017
RM’000 RM’000
Finance income and hibah:
Financial investments available-for-sale 104,187 82,668
Total finance income and hibah 104,187 82,668
Other operating income:
Fee and commission income:
- Bancassurance commission . 8,160 2,528
- Fees on financing, advances and securities 30 17
- Remittances 2,867 3,598
- Service charges and fees 2,957 2,250
Gain from disposal of financial investments
available-for-sale 3,566 2,389
Unrealised gain/(loss) on fair value hedge (Note 13) 598 (99)
Loss on derivatives (2,825) (2,491)
Total other operating income 15,353 8,192
Total 119,540 90,860

ALLOWANCE FOR/(WRITEBACK OF) IMPAIRMENT ON FINANCING AND ADVANCES

2018 2017
RM’000 RM’000

Allowance for impairment on financing and advances:
Individual allowance, net [Note 12(j}] 29,090 16,108
Collective allowance [Note 12(j}] 137,829 78,288
166,919 94,396
Impaired financing and advances recovered, net (105,523) (118,739)
61,396 (24,343)
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33. INCOME ATTRIBUTABLE TO THE DEPOSITORS AND OTHERS

34,

2018 2017
(Restated)
RM’000 RM’000
Non-Mudarabah fund
Deposits from customers 865,574 819,642
Deposits and placements of banks and other
financial institutions 38,401 41,427
903,975 861,069
Others 29,057 52,172
Total 933,032 913,241
INCOME ATTRIBUTABLE TO THE INVESTMENT ACCOUNT HOLDERS
2018 2017
RM’000 RM’000
Unrestricted
Customers - investment accounts 45 10
Restricted
Licensed bank - investment account 92,281 60,633
92,326 60,643
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35. OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES

2018 2017
RW000 RM’000
Personnel costs':
- Salaries, allowances and bonuses 12,570 11,325
- Amortisation for shares and options granted under
AMMB ESS - write back (86) (191)
- Contributions to EPF/Private Retirement Scheme® 2,026 1,802
- Social security cost 77 62
- Others 4,069 2,326
18,656 15,324
Establishment costs:
- Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 17) 90 44
- Cleaning, maintenance and security (200) 303
- Computerisation costs 878 635
- Depreciation of property and equipment (Note 16) 100 80
- Rental of premises 776 638
- Others 51 57
1,695 1,757
Marketing and communication expenses:
- Communication, advertising and marketing expenses 5,454 7,131
- Others 151 127
5,605 7,258
Administration and general expenses:
- Card operation charges from a related company - 3,821
- Professional services 21,363 8,493
- Others 29,859 32,850
51,222 45,164
Service transfer pricing expenses (net) 345,213 346,091
422,391 415,594

1 During the current financial year, the AMMB Group had offered its eligible employees a
Mutual Separation Scheme ("MSS"). As at 31 March 2018, the AMMB Group had
completed its MSS exercise and the payout by the Bank from this exercise amounted to
approximately RM1.0 million. The MSS was introduced as part of the AMMB Group’s
Top Four Strategy, to enhance efficiency and productivity within the AMMB Group. To
aid employees with this transition, career transition programmes, workshops and on-
ground job search support continues to be provided. »

2 Contribution to EPF (a substantial shareholder of the holding company) by the Bank
amounted to RM1.8 million (31 March 2017: RM1.7 million) respectively.

118



Company No. 295576-U
35. OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES (CONT'D.)

The above expenditure includes the following statutory disclosures:

Auditors’ remuneration

- Audit

- Regulatory and assurance related
- Other services

2018
RM’000

704
250
628

2017
RM’'000

173
106
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Company No. 295576-U

38.

39.

FINANCE COST

Finance cost is mainly in respect of income attributable to investors of the Subordinated
Sukuk and Senior Sukuk programmes.

TAXATION

Taxation consists of the following:

2018 - 2017
RM’000 RM’000
Current tax :
Estimated tax payable 57,543 74,202
Under/(over) provision in prior financial years 1,220 (3,481)
58,763 70,721
Deferred tax (Note 25) :
Origination and reversal of temporary
differences 4,911 (4,882)
(Over)/under provision in prior financial years (1,945) 212
2,966 (4,670)
Taxation 61,729 66,051

Domestic income tax is calculated at the statutory tax rate of 24% (2017: 24%) on the
estimated chargeable profit for the financial year.
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Company No. 295576-U

39. TAXATION (CONT'D.)

40.

A reconciliation of taxation applicable to profit before zakat and taxation at the statutory tax
rate to taxation at the effective tax rate of the Bank is as follows:

2018 2017
RM’000 RM’' 000
Profit before zakat and taxation 302,892 323,214
Taxation at Malaysian statutory tax rate 72,694 77,571
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes - 4,278 1,936
Income not subject to tax (14,354) (9,919)
Tax recoverable recognised on income
subject to tax remission (164) (268)
Under/(over) provision of current tax in prior financial
years 1,220 (3,481)
(Over)/under provision of deferred tax in prior
financial years (1,945) 212
Taxation for the financial year 61,729 66,051
BASIC EARNINGS PER SHARE
2018 2017
Net profit attributable to equity holder of the Bank
(RM'000) 239,129 255,658
Number of ordinary shares at beginning of
financial year ('000) 462,922 462,922
Effect of issuance of shares ('000) 15,853 -
Weighted average number of ordinary
shares in issue at the end of the _
financial year ("000) 478,775 462,922
Basic Earnings per share (sen) 49.95 55.23
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Company No. 295576-U

41. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control the other party or
exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial or operational decisions;
or if one party controls both parties.

The related parties of the Bank are:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

Related companies
These are subsidiaries of the holding company.
Key management personnel

Key management personnel are defined as those persons having authority and
responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Bank, either
directly or indirectly. The key management personnel of the Bank includes the Chief
Executive Officer and Non-Executive Directors of the Bank.

Joint ventures of the holding company ("Joint Ventures")

The joint ventures of the holding company are AmMetlife Takaful Berhad and AmMetlife
Insurance Berhad.

Companies in which certain Directors have substantial financial interest

These are entities in which significant voting power in such entities; directly or indirectly
resides with certain Directors of the Bank.

Companies which have significant influence over the holding company

These are entities who are substantial shareholders (including its related parties) of the
holding company of the Bank.
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Company No. 295576-U
41. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONT'D.)

(c) The transactions between the Bank and related parties took place at terms agreed
between the parties during the financial year.

(d) Key management personnel compensation

The remuneration of the Chief Executive officer and the Directors, who are also the key
management personnel, during the year is disclosed in Note 36.

42. CREDIT TRANSACTIONS AND EXPOSURES WITH CONNECTED PARTIES

2018 2017
Outstanding  credit  exposures  with
connected parties (RM'000) 353,241 580,950
Percentage of outstanding credit
exposures to connected parties as .
proportion of total credit exposures (%) 113 192
Percentage of outstanding credit
exposures with connected parties which is
impaired or in default (%) 0.00 0.01
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Company No. 295576-U
42, CREDIT TRANSACTIONS AND EXPOSURES WITH CONNECTED PARTIES (CONT'D.)

The disclosure on Credit Transaction and Exposures with Connected Parties above is
presented in accordance with Paragraph 9.1 of Bank Negara Malaysia's revised Guidelines
on Credit Transactions and Exposures with Connected Parties for Islamic Banks issued on
16 July 2014,

Based on these guidelines, a connected party refers to the following:
(i) directors of the Bank and their close relatives;
(i) controlling shareholder and his close relatives;
(ili) influential shareholder and his close relatives;

(iv) executive officer, being a member of management having authority and responsibility
for planning, directing and/or controlling the activities of the Bank, and his close
relatives;

(v) officers who are responsible for or have the authority to appraise and/or approve credit
transactions or review the status of existing credit transactions, either as a member of a
committee or individually, and their close relatives;

(vi) firms, partnerships, companies or any legal entities which control, or are controlled by
any person listed in (i) to (v) above, or in which they have an interest as a director,
partner, executive officer, agent or guarantor, and their subsidiaries or entities controlled
by them;

(vii) any person for whom the persons listed in (i) to (v) above is a guarantor; and
(viiiy subsidiary of or an entity controlied by the Bank and its connected parties.

Credit transactions and exposures to connected parties disclosed includes the extension of
credit facility and/or off-balance sheet credit exposures such as guarantees, trade-related
facilities and financing commitments. It also includes holdings of equities and sukuk issued
by the connected parties.
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Company No. 295576-U
42. CREDIT TRANSACTIONS AND EXPOSURES WITH CONNECTED PARTIES (CONT'D.)

The credit transactions with connected parties above are ali transacted on an arm's length
basis and on terms and conditions not more favourable than those entered into with other
counterparties with similar circumstances and credit worthiness. Due care has been taken to
ensure that the credit worthiness of the connected party is not less than that normally
required of other persons.

43. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

The Bank has no capital commitments as at 31 March 2018 and 31 March 2017.

44. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS

The Bank has lease commitments in respect of rented premises and equipment on hire, all of
which are classified as operating leases. The future minimum lease payments under non-
cancellable operating leases, net of sub-leases are as follows:

2018 2017

RM’000 RM’000

Within one year 1,040 604
Between one and five years 685 201
1,725 805

The minimum lease rentals are not adjusted for operating expenses which the Bank is
obligated to pay. These amounts are insignificant in relation to the minimum lease
obligations. In the normal course of business, leases that expire will be renewed or replaced
by leases on other properties, thus it is anticipated that future annual minimum lease
commitments will not be less than rental expenses for the financial year.
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Company No. 295576-U
45. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

In the normal course of business, the Bank makes various commitments and incurs certain
contingent liabilities with legal recourse to its customers. No material losses are anticipated
as a result of these transactions. The commitments and contingencies are not secured
against the Bank’s assets.

The principal/notional amounts of the commitments and contingencies of the Bank are as

follows:
2018 2017
RM'000 RM'000
Contingent liabilities
Direct credit substitutes 327,186 231,275
Transaction related contingent items 821,035 812,765
Short-term self liquidating
trade-related contingencies 54,608 50,029
Obligations under on-going underwriting
agreements - 65,000

1,202,829 1,159,069

Commitments
Other commitments, such as formal

standby facilities and credit lines, with an

original maturity of up to one year 4,991,310 3,621,122
Other commitments, such as formal

standby facilities and credit lines, with an

original maturity of over one year 809,748 858,147
Unutilised credit card lines 1,289,967 715,072
Forward asset purchase 213,975 10,022

7,305,000 5,204,363

Derivative financial instruments
Foreign exchange related contracts:

- One year or less 1,539,601 1,880,550

- Over one year to five years 689,469 696,535
Profit rate related contracts

- Over one year to five years ' 260,000 370,000

- Over five years 350,000 550,000

2,839,070 3,497,085

Total 11,346,899 9,860,517
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Company No. 295576-U
46. MATURITY ANALYSIS OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

The table below shows assets and liabilities analysed according to when they are expected to

be recovered or settled.

Up to Over
12 months 12 months Total
RM’000 RM’000 RM’000
2018
ASSETS
Cash and short-term funds 1,588,429 - 1,588,429
Deposits and placements with banks
and other financial institutions 200,000 - 200,000
Derivative financial assets 35,762 51,646 87,408
Financial assets held-for-trading 1,342,644 241,988 1,584,632
Financial investments available-for-sale 1,610,206 1,228,360 2,838,566
Financial investments held-to-maturity : - 1,090,010 1,090,010
Financing and advances 9,792,719 17,983,117 27,775,836
Receivables: Investments not quoted in
active markets 74,853 715,980 790,833
Statutory deposit with Bank Negara
Malaysia - 821,000 821,000
Other assets 228,601 42,130 270,731
Property and equipment - 426 426
Intangible assets - 1,207 1,207
TOTAL ASSETS 14,873,214 22,175,864 37,049,078
LIABILITIES
Deposits from customers 25,127,014 1,366,788 26,493,802
Investment accounts of customers 138,956 - 138,956
Deposits and placements of banks and
other financial institutions 1,219,941 3,583 1,223,524
Investment account due to a licensed bank 495,285 2,363,825 2,859,110
Recourse obligation on financing sold to
Cagamas Berhad 502,055 18,350 520,405
Derivative financial liabilities 35,278 57,661 92,939
Term funding - 1,080,000 1,080,000
Subordinated Sukuk - 999,839 999,839
Deferred tax liability - 2,947 2,947
Other liabilities 277,319 16,954 294,273
Provision for zakat 1,513 - 1,513
TOTAL LIABILITIES 27,797,361 5,909,947 33,707,308
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46. MATURITY ANALYSIS OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (CONT'D.)

Up to Over
12 months 12 months Total
RMW’000 RM’000 RWM’000
2017 (Restated)
ASSETS
Cash and short-term funds 2,286,658 - 2,286,658
Deposits and placements with banks and
other financial institutions 635,000 - 635,000
Derivative financial assets 27,136 15,245 42,381
Financial assets held-for-trading 681,465 - 681,465
Financial investments available-for-sale 1,116,570 1,319,154 2,435,724
Financial investments held-to-maturity 196,287 1,081,934 1,278,221
Financing and advances 10,704,674 16,535,082 27,239,756
Receivables: Investments not quoted in
active markets - 814,720 814,720
Statutory deposit with Bank Negara
Malaysia - 810,000 810,000
Other assets 178,306 133,358 311,664
Property and equipment - 320 320
Intangible assets - 448 448
TOTAL ASSETS 15,826,096 20,710,261 36,536,357
LIABILITIES
Deposits from customers 25,679,063 1,157,634 26,836,697
Investment accounts of customers 24,374 - 24,374
Deposits and placements of banks and
other financial institutions 1,259,809 6,528 1,266,337
Investment account due to a licensed bank - 1,600,000 1,600,000 ¢
Recourse obligation on financing sold to
Cagamas Berhad 9,661 608,052 617,713
Derivative financial liabilities 26,954 20,916 47.870
Term funding 850,000 1,135,000 1,985,000
Subordinated Sukuk - 979,679 979,679
Deferred tax liability - 89 89
Other liabilities 262,211 12,085 274,296
Provision for zakat 1,286 - 1,286
TOTAL LIABILITIES 28,113,358 5,519,983 33,633,341
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47. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The capital and risk management of the banking subsidiaries of the AMMB Group are
managed collectively at Group level. The Group's capital management approach is driven by
its desire to maintain a strong capital base to support the development of its businesses, to
meet regulatory capital requirements at all times and to maintain good credit ratings.

Strategic, business and capital plans are drawn up annually covering a 3 year horizon and
approved by the Board. The capital plan ensures that adequate levels of capital and an
optimum mix of different components of capital are maintained by the Bank to support its
strategy.

The capital plan takes the following into account:

(a) Regulatory capital requirements; and
(b) Capital requirement to support business growth, strategic objectives, buffer for material
regulatory risks and stress test results.

The Bank uses internal models and other quantitative techniques in its internal risk and
capital assessment. The models help to estimate potential future losses arising from credit,
market and other risks, and using regulatory formulae to simulate the amount of capital
required to support them. In addition, the models enable the Bank to gain a deeper
understanding of its risk profile, e.g., by identifying potential concentrations, assessing the
impact of portfolio management actions and performing what-if analysis.

Stress testing and scenario analysis are used to ensure that the Bank’s internal capital
assessment considers the impact of extreme but plausible scenarios on its risk profile and
capital position. They provide an insight into the potential impact of significant adverse events
on the Bank and how these events could be mitigated. The Bank’s target capital levels are
set taking into account its risk appetite and its risk profile under future expected and stressed
economic scenarios.

The Bank’s assessment of risk appetite is closely integrated with its strategy, business
planning and capital assessment processes, and is used to form senior management’s views
on the level of capital required to support the Bank’s business activities.

The Bank uses a capital model to assess the capital demand for material risks, and support
its internal capital adequacy assessment. Each material risk is assessed, relevant mitigants
considered, and appropriate levels of capital determined. The capital modelling process is a
key part of the Bank’s management disciplines.
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47. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (CONT'D.)

The capital that the Bank is required to hold is determined by its statement of financial
position, commitments and contingencies, counterparty and other risk exposures after
applying collateral and other mitigants, based on the Bank’s risk rating methodologies and
systems. BNM has the right to impose further capital requirements on Malaysian Financial
Institutions.

The Bank operates processes and controls to monitor and manage capital adequacy across
the organisation. Capital is maintained on the basis of the local regulator’'s requirements. It is
overseen b?/ the Group Assets & Liabilites Committee (“GALCO”). GALCO is also
responsible for managing the Bank's statement of financial position, capital and liquidity.

A strong governance and process framework is embedded in the capital planning and
assessment methodology. Overall responsibility for the effective management of risk rests
with the Board. The Risk Management Committee (“RMC”) is specifically delegated the
task of reviewing all risk management issues including oversight of the Bank’s capital
position and any actions impacting the capital levels. The AEC reviews specific risk areas
and the issues discussed at the key capital management committees.

GALCO proposes internal triggers and target ranges for capital management and
operationally oversees adherence with these. For the current financial year ended 31 March
2018 (“FY 2018"), these ranges are 9.5% to 11.5% for the Common Equity Tier 1 (*CET1")
Capital ratio, 10.0% to 12.0% for the Tier 1 Capital ratio, and 14.0% to 16.0% for the Total
Capital ratio. The Bank has been generally operating within these ranges.

The Capital and Balance Sheet Management Department, is responsible for the on-going
assessment of the demand for capital and the updating of the Bank’s capital pian.

Appropriate policies are also in place governing the transfer of capital within the Bank. These
ensure that capital is remitted as appropriate, subject to complying with regulatory
requirements and statutory and contractual restrictions.

There are no current material, practical or legal impediments to the prompt transfer of capital
resources in excess of those required for regulatory purposes or repayment of liabilities
between AMMB and its group entities when due.

(a) Capital adequacy

The capital adequacy ratios of the Bank as at 31 March are as follows:

Common Equity Tier 1 Capital ratio 11.561% 10.498%
Tier 1 Capital ratio 11.561% 10.498%
Total Capitai ratio 16.569% 15.069%
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47. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (CONT'D.)

(a) Capital adequacy (Cont'd.)

Notes:

@)

(ii)

The capital adequacy ratios are computed in accordance to BNM's guidelines on
Capital Adequacy Framework (Capital Components) issued by the Prudential
Financial Policy Department on 2 February 2018 (replacing the same guidelines
issued previously on 13 October 2015), which is based on the Basel Il capital
accord. The Bank has adopted the Standardised Approach for Credit and Market
Risks, and the Basic Indicator Approach for Operational Risk, based on the BNM's
Guidelines on Capital Adequacy Framework for Islamic Banks (Basel Il - Risk-
Weighted Assets).

Pursuant to the revised BNM's guidelines on Capital Adequacy Framework for
Islamic Banks (Capital Components) issued on 2 February 2018, the minimum
capital adequacy ratio maintained under the guidelines remain consistant at 4.5%
for CET1 Capital, 6.0% for Tier 1 Capital and 8% for Total Capital ratio. Banking
institutions are also required to maintain capital buffers. The capital buffers shall
comprise the sum of the following:

(a) a Capital Conservation Buffer ("CCB") of 2.5%; and

(b) a Countercyclical Capital Buffer ("CCyB") determined as the weighted-
average of the prevailing CCyB rates applied in the jurisdictions in which the
Bank has credit exposures.

The CCB requirements under transitional arrangements shall be phased-in starting
from 1 January 2016 as follows:

ccB
Calendar year 2016 0.625%
Calendar year 2017 1.25%
Calendar year 2018 1.875%
Calendar year 2019 onwards 2.5%
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47. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (CONT'D.)

(b) The components of Common Equity Tier 1 Capital, Tier 2 Capital and Total Capital of

the Bank as at 31 March are as follows:

Common Equity Tier 1 Capital

Ordinary shares

Retained earnings

Available-for-sale deficit

Statutory reserve

Regulatory reserve

Less : Regulatory adjustments applied on CET1 Capital

- Intangible assets
- Regulatory reserve attributable to financing

CET1 Capital/Tier 1 Capital '

Tier 2 Capital
Tier 2 Capital instruments meeting all relevant criteria

for inclusion
Tier 2 Capital instruments (subject to gradual phase-out
treatment) '
Collective allowance
Tier 2 Capital

Total Capital

The breakdown of the RWA in various categories of risk are as follows:

Credit RWA
Less : Credit RWA absorbed by Profit
Sharing Investment Account ("PSIA")
Total Credit RWA
Market RWA

Operational RWA
Total Risk Weighted Assets
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2018 2017
RM'000 RM'000
1,387,107 1,187,107
1,632,472 1,179,283
(5,492) (5,149)
- 483,345
327,683 58,430
(1,207) (448)
(327,683) (58,430)
3,012,880 2,844,138
1,000,000 850,000
- 130,000
305,028 258,458
1,305,028 1,238,458
4,317,908 4,082,596
2018 2017
RM'000 RM'000
27,390,400 27,107,178
(2,988,135)  (1,604,369)
24,402,265 25,502,809
277,093 178,976
1,380,469 1,410,237
26,059,827 27,092,022
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48. RISK MANAGEMENT
48.1 GENERAL RISK MANAGEMENT
Risk Management Framework

The Risk Management Framework takes its lead from the Board's Approved Risk
Appetite Framework that forms the foundation of the AMMB Group to set its risk/reward
profile.

The Risk Appetite Framework is approved annually by the Board taking into account the
AMMB Group’s desired external rating and targeted profitability/return on equity (‘ROE")
and is reviewed periodically throughout the financial year by both the executive
management and the Board to consider any fine tuning/amendments taking into account
prevailing or expected changes to the environment that the AMMB Group operates in.

The Risk Appetite Framework provides portfolio limits/triggers for Credit Risk, Traded
Market Risk, Non-Traded Market Risk and Operational Risk incorporating, inter alia,
limits/triggers for countries, industries, single counterparty group, products, value at risk,
stop loss, stable funding ratio, liquidity and operational risk.

The AMMB Group Risk Direction

The AMMB Group’s strategic direction is to be top four in each of the 4 growth
segments (Mass Affluent, Affluent, Small and Medium Enterprise ("SME"), Mid-Corp),
top four in each of the four focus products (Cards & Merchants, Transaction Banking,
Markets, Wealth Management) and to sustain top four position in each of the current
engines (Corporate Loans, Debt Capital Market ("DCM"), Funds Management).

« The AMMB Group aims to maintain an external rating of AA1 or better based on
reference ratings by RAM Rating Services Berhad ("RAM").

«  The AMMB Group aims to achieve and sustain a Return on Risk Weighted Assets
("RoRWA") in the range of 1.5% to 1.8%, based on AIRB.
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48. RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT'D.)
48.1 GENERAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT'D.)

The AMMB Group Risk Direction (Cont'd.)

- The AMMB Group aims to maintain Available Financial Resources in excess of the
capital requirements as estimated in the Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment
Process ("ICAAP").

« The AMMB Group recognizes the importance of funding its own business. It aims
to maintain the following:
- Liquidity Coverage Ratio (“‘LCR”) at least 10% above prevailing regulatory
minimum.
- NSFR above the prevailing regulatory minimum (effective from 2019)
- Stressed LCR above the regulatory requirement

«  The AMMB Group aims to maintain the following Capital Adequacy Ratios ("CARs")
under normal conditions:
- CETH1, Tier 1 and total capital ratio of at least 2 percentage points above
regulatory minimum.

. The AMMB Group aims to maintain adequate controls for all key operational risks
(including but not limited to regulatory, compliance, technology, conduct and
reputational risks):

- Keep operational losses and regulatory penalties below 2% of Profit after Tax
and Minority Interest ("PATMI").

- Remain vigilant in risk identification and management to protect its reputation
and business franchise.

+ The AMMB Group aims to limit the Group’s earnings volatility such that mean
Adjusted Return volatility over a period of the last 3 years is Below 0.3*".

. The AMMB Group aims to maintain Risk Weighted Assets ("RWA") efficiency
Credit Risk Weighted Assets ("CRWA")/Exposure at Default ("EAD") in the range
of 50% to 60%, based on AIRB.
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48. RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT'D.)
48.1 GENERAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT'D.)
Risk Management Governance

The Board is ultimately responsible for the management of risks within the AMMB
Group. The RMC is formed to assist the Board in discharging its duties in overseeing
the overall management of all risks covering market risk, liquidity risk, credit risk and
operational risk and IT and Cyber Risk.

The Board has also established the Management Risk Committees to assist it in
managing the risks and businesses of the AMMB Group. The Management Risk
committee addresses all classes of risk within its Board delegated mandate: balance
sheet risk, credit risk, legal risk, operational risk, market risk, Shariah risk, compliance
risk, reputational risk, product risk and business and IT project risk.

The AMMB Group has an independent risk management function, headed by the Group
Chief Risk Officer who:

- is responsible for establishing an enterprise wide risk management framework in all
areas including financial, credit, market, operational, reputational, security,
technological and emerging risks.

. essentially champions and embeds a positive risk culture across the Group to
ensure that risk taking activities across the Group are aligned to the Group’s risk
appetite and strategies.

« through the RMC, has access to the Board and the boards of the respective
banking entities to facilitate suitable escalation of issues of concern across the
organization.
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48. RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT'D.)

48.2 CREDIT RISK MANAGEMENT

e ldennfy/recogmse credit nsk" n trans
-Select asset'and portfolic

.+ Internal credit rating system.
~+ Probability of default (‘PD’}.
* « Loss given default ("LGD"

« Exposure at.default ("EAD

» Menitor and report bortfolio mix
* Review customers under Classified Accounts
« Review customers under Rescheduled and Restructured Account -

- Monitoring/ -
. Review .

Credit risk is the risk of loss due to the inability or unwillingness of a counterparty to
meet its payment obligations. Exposure to credit risk arises from financing, securities
and derivative exposures. The identification of credit risk is done by assessing the
potential impact of internal and external factors on the Bank’s transactions and/ or
positions as well as Shariah compliance risk.

The primary objective of credit risk management is to maintain accurate risk recognition -
identification and measurement, to ensure that credit risk exposure is in line with the
Group Risk Appetite Framework ("GRAF") and related credit policies.
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48. RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT'D.)

48.2 CREDIT RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT'D.)

For non-retail credits, risk assessment is a combination of both qualitative and
quantitative assessment (including the financial standing of the customer or
counterparty using the Bank's credit rating model where the scores are translated into
rating grade) on the customer or counterparty. The assigned credit rating grade forms a
crucial part of the credit analysis undertaken for each of the Bank’s credit exposures
and the overall credit assessment is conducted either through a program lending or
discretionary lending approach.

For retail credits, credit-scoring systems to better differentiate the quality of customers
are being used to complement the credit assessment and approval processes.

To support credit risk management, our rating models for major portfolios have been
upgraded to facilitate:

- improvement in the accuracy of individual obligor risk ratings;
« enhancement to pricing models;

» financing loss provision calculation;

+ stress - testing; and

» enhancement to portfolio management.

Financing activities are guided by internal credit policies and the Risk Appetite
Framework that are approved by the Board. The Bank's Risk Appetite Framework is
refreshed at least annually and with regard to credit risk, provides direction as to
portfolio management strategies and objectives designed to deliver the Bank’s optimal
portfolio mix. Credit risk portfolio management strategies include, amongst others:

» Concentration threshold/review trigger:
- single counterparty credit;
- industry sector; and
- country.

+ Setting financing to value limits for asset backed financing (i.e., property exposures
and other coliateral);

- Classified Account processes for identifying, monitoring and managing customers
exhibiting signs of weakness and higher risk customers;

+ Rescheduled and Restructured (“R&R”) Account Management sets out the controis
in managing R&R financing pursuant to the BNM’s revised policy on Classification
and Impairment Provisions for Loans/Financing; and

» Setting Guidelines on Wholesale Pricing which serve as a guide to the minimum
returns the Bank requires for the risk undertaken, taking into account operating
expenses and cost of capital.
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48.2 CREDIT RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT'D.)

Individual credit risk exposure exceeding certain thresholds are escalated to Credit and
Commitments Committee (“CACC”) for approval. In the event such exposure exceeds
CACC authority it will be submitted to Board Credit Committee (“BCC”) for review or
approval, as the case may be. Portfolio credit risk is reported to the relevant
management and board committees.

The Group Management Risk Committee ("GMRC") regularly meets to review the
quality and diversification of the Bank’s financing portfolio and review the portfolio risk
profile against the GRAF, and recommend or approve new and amended credit risk
policy.

Group Risk prepares monthly Risk Reports which detail important portfolio composition
and trend analysis incorporating asset growth, asset quality, impairment, flow rates of
financing delinquency buckets and exposures by industry sectors are reported monthly
by Group Risk to executive management and to all meetings of the Board.

The Bank applies the Standardised Approach to determine the regulatory capital charge
related to credit risk exposure.

Credit Risk Exposure and Concentration

The Bank's concentrations of risk are managed by industry sector, risk grade asset
quality and single customer limit. The Bank applies single customer limits ("SCL") to
monitor the large exposures to single counterparty risk.

For financial assets recognised in the statement of financial position, the maximum
exposure to credit risk before taking account of any collateral held or other credit
enhancements equals the carrying amount. For contingent exposures, the maximum
exposure to credit risk is the maximum amount the Bank would have to pay if the
instrument is called upon. For committed facilities which are undrawn, the maximum
exposure to credit risk is the full amount of the committed facilities.

The following tables show the maximum exposure to credit risk from financial
instruments, including derivatives, by industry and by geography, before taking account
of any collateral held or other credit enhancements.

143




1440

108G 60L'2€ 1v6'L1G 91L720L 300'€Z}'C €880 698' 1161 ovi'zel 08L'veT saniqel) JusbuRuod

pug sjusawiliwiod jejol
288'880'} 000's 888'€EL 6LL'pS £29'658 9v'TL 09.°01€ PSH'SL 9/6 safigey juabuguod
9.2'212'Y 60.'L2 650'¥8¢€ 166'269 58€'295') 127'82 601'102'} Z6T°LL) y08'€€2 SjusWIWWOY
¥02'880'0L LYG'EES Y LEV'L0L L 161'02¢’) 6.6'268'L ¥6G'L0% 69/'29¢€'S 929'16L°) 121'2LLL s)asse |BIouBUl [BIOL
959'881 006'891 988 - 192l 160' 995 98z'e 091 S}2SSE [BUEBUY JAYIO

- . . . - - eisfejepy eseban
yueg ypm usodap Aoymens

086'GLL - - - 6%9'L - - Lee'0L - SiaNJew aAoe Ut
pajonb JOU SJUBWIISBAUY| (SB|GBAIR0aY
1/€'G69'01 919'261°L $£5'966 ££1°02€'L 119'088 66£'90€ 760'22¢' 600°0¥0'L 116'969'1
- - H - - - - - B SOUEMOY|R 2AIDBII0D) 1S58
920'295'} - rv'ey 8/9'L0S §86'22 - . Zr1'656 glo'c $9.'62 apell
G00'GL0°L - LEL'6L 866'L02 08L'6.E - §6Z'0vZ 1€L'9 o110l saul| ysed
L26'221'e 8y 161 L 0sZ'62¢ 8zL'ThL 180’812 $£9'26 666°/18 151'61 8e9'9le sypa.to Buinjorsy
e1ZT'TLL'Y - 9£6'L9% 900'19¢ $0.'602 €L6'112 6vL'€LT'L SS'G00°4 00L'zve’L Bupueuy 6uiBpuq pue ulay
:saouBApe pue Bupueuy sjesodio) -
8/€'291 96¢ cya'LlL 8LY'€8 S6E0E 920’ 216'92 828’ G€9'8 sseUi0 -
- - - - - - - - - pJ4ed jipas) -
Lie'sy 09L L92'Y 65L'SL GSY'LL - €6€'e Lzl 056'4 abebuol -
299G 9Ll G99 98¥'L 112z a9l 280°L - 98t aseyoind aiH -
saoueApe pue fupueuly
Z51'998 - 000'sy - (4NN 4] - - - - ynyns psjonbun -
AUnjeLW-0}-piaYy SJUSWISBAUY [BIOUB UL
9/8'L¥E'T L1Y'2L0'T $00'GL 1 - 80.'66 - £0.'6€ - 86'v|
808'1E8 60%'295 $00'SLL - 80.'66 - €0.'6€ - 86'v1 }nyns pajonbun -
890°015'1 890015t - - - - - - - senunoas 1ayew Aauop -
o|es-10}
-3|qBliEAR S)USWIISAAU] [BIOUBUI Y
686658 0£8'G.9 200°01 - $60'0L 860001 - - -
621'959 0.2'9LY £00'01 - 6002 850°001 - - - ynyns pajonbun -
095'661 095°661 - - - - - - - salunoas jexew Asuop -
Buipe.i-10)-piay S}esse (eloueul
12e°L8 658'08 - 85 - - P14 - - S}aSSE [BOURUY SAHBALSQ
000'002 000'002 - - - - - - - suonmysut
|BIOUBUE 12Y}0 PUB S{UEeq
yim syuawaoeld pue siisodaq
668'0E1 658'9¢1 - - - - - - - SpUN} WR)-UoYs pue Yseo
000,Wy 000.WY 000.W 000.W¥ 000.W¥ 000.W¥ 000,W 000.Wy 000.Wy
1eloIqns aaueInsu| UoOREIIUNWIILOYD  SjuBINE)say uopoNSU0D 1918 M\ Bupnoeynuepy Buifiienp aanjnouby 8102
pue pue abeisoyg puE jajoH pue ses) pue Butuipy
asueulq ‘Hodsues] pue apeJ] |te1e¥ ‘A)oyoa|3

pue ajessjoym
sisAlguy Ansnpuy (1)
("G, ANOD) INFWIDOVYNVYIN MSR 11a3HD 28

('Q.LNOD) INIWIADYNVIN MSI "8¥

N~9£556Z "ON Auedwod




628°05'8 - £e0't 902'916't G90'91} SLb'09) LLY'86L GLB'ElT 8G9'10€'S saniqel| Juabunuod
PUE SJUaWIIWILIOD (B0
628202 - - 181'1 £0.'8¥ 160'%9 - 288'880'L saniiqey juabuguod
000'60€'L €e0't 90Z'9L6'} 8L8'V1L 2L 0zZv'veL sLe'ele 9LLZITY SjuBIWILIOD
120'€86'9S 20L'68 006'LLY'EL vzl vee' vy ¥EY'GES'E £61'29v' #02'880'9} sjasse |BIOUBUY [E10],
£1£'902 yre'L } - orl £08'2 80l 959'881 sjesse |epueuy JaUI0
000°128 - - - - - 000128 - eisfee|y eiebaN
sueg yum usodsp Aojnjers
£€8'06L - - - - £68'vL - 086'GL4 SsjedIew AHo. Ul
UEODU 10U SJUBWIISIAU| (S3|(RAIDIDY
9£8'6LL'L2 198y 668'LLY'EL v9'LZL) 8.Z'lEY 160'842'C - 12£'669'0L
ANBN,mva - - - - - - - 2IUBMOIIE BAISL0D $S97
82¥'285'L - - [44°] 6€8'LL 108 - 920'295'} apely,
6v5'91E") - Lol £91'02 ¥25'06 ovg'LLL - G00'GL0'} sau) ysed
LEV'ELO'Y - S LLP'ELY ezy'se 120°L€8 - LL8'221'e sppa1d Buinjorsy
826'LLL'9 gee 195°)E 622997 686'192 665'6€2') - e1z'eLL'y Butoueuy Subpuq pue uua )
.S80UBADE pue mc_ucm_._c mum._oa._oo -
999'986'1 6eg'lL ye0'z6L'L »L9'8 0Lz’ 1.6'e - 8L£'L91 SJaYlo -
9/9'G6¥ - 9,9'GeY - - - - - pieo #palQ -
L62'65b'S 99l'e 96€'59€'S Ge6'9lL £66'91 9€5'LL - Le'sy abebpop -
121'e8L'S Lz Y0Z'PLL'S 80L'} ¥82'L Le - 198'6 sseyund anH -
saoueApe pue Bupueuly
010'060'} - - - - - 858'€22 261'998 Amins pajonbun -
AJuNIEW-0}-piaYy SIUSWISAAUI jBIDUBUIH
996'8€8'2 yov'e8 - - 908'6 _199'6/L £18'€ze 9/8'L¥E'T
G89'v0L°} yor'eg - - 908’6 199'6L1 - 808°'l€8 ¥nyns pajonbun -
lgg'eel’t - - - - - £18'€2e 890'01G'} Sa)unoas Josiew AsUop -
2|es-10)
-SigejieAe SJUaLSBAUL |elDUBUIS
2£9'785°L - - - - - £49'82L 686'568
62¥ 959 - - - - - - 62¥'959 ¥nyns pajonbur -
€02'826 - - - - - £49'82L 095'661 safunoas Javew ASUo -
Bupesy-ioj-piay siasse {eoueul
80v'.L8 .8 - - - - - 12¢'28 sjosse |efoueul aAleALag
000'002 - - - - - - 000'002 suoynsul
|EIDUBULY JSYI0 PUB Sueq
Yim sjuswadeid pue siisodaqg
621'885'} - - - - - 0L5'15¥'} 65891 SpUN) WISY-HOYS pue ysed
000, 000, 000, 000, 000, 000, 0004 000,
IeJoL DIENTS) ployssnoH Wpjeay pue SIAIY BETCENTEN syuegq abed 810z
uoneonp3 ssauisng {esjua) pue m:o_>whn woly
JUBWILIDAOSD |eyoigns

(‘pauoD) sishieuy Ansnpuy (1)
{(*d.LNOD) LNIWIDYNYIN WSIY LIGID Z'8Y

(*A.LNOD) LNINIOYNYI MSIY ‘8¥

N-9.6562 "ON Auedwod



feids

orz'ose’y yLL'60L 629'609 765028 508'880°1L G6S'LS evv'eseL £68°'82 601'€6E samiqel| Juabunguos

; . pUE SIUBWINLLLIOD [B}0)
8€2¢50°} 00002 €8l'/2) 1GE'611 £L£'60S SYS'oL 1£1'102 S0g'L ¥0€'} saiigey abuguon
200862’ yLi'6E avry'8Ly SEZ'LOL zEV'6LS 050'6€ TLTIG0'L 885°12 598'16€ SjuBWIILIWOY
069'061'91 82€£'26E'Y 8¥2'669°L 098'2€2°L 0¥8'890'2 282'001 529'2¥0'c 120'€L9') 98%'2#0'2 $)9SSE [BIOUBUY [BIOL
6.8'852 168'1¥2 (o] X} - LL9'2t - $e2 89l'e 6S1 sjesse {eoueul JBYl0

- - - - - eisfejey eiebaN
yueg yum yisodep Aloiniels

0ZL'GLL - - - 6Y9'L - - 1L0'80L - S}oNIEU BARDE Ul
pajonb Jou S)UBLISIALY (S3|qRAIS0Y
20L'61G' LY 6E0'pPS’ L 981'8/6'L GG8'LE2 L 286G LLL'Y 282'001 Zy8'6L0'E G86'C68 LE€'220'C
- - - - - - . - - - B0UBMO[fE BAD3(I0D 15587
180'26€'} - z92'82 899'02¥ 196'22 - 880'968 119 6.¥'22 apes)
1€6'169 - 16.'6¥ £0€'28L £.8'981 - GZ1'o8lL SSY'L $20'6L saul Used
GL6'6L2'Y 168'Z95'L 599°.¥8 $0€'vLT 697'061 629'8L ovs'LLe 006’y 1¥5'0€9 spaso Bunorsy
60%'296' - 266'2€9 8/6'6.2 698'699 €€1'02 98£'9¢c2'} yve'6ee8 1y1'€82't Buoueuy Buibpuq pue ulR}
:saoueape pue Bupueuy djesodio) -
1£T'82) 182 szo'el GLL'eS 958'sZ 8z¢'l 95h'vZ £58 £99'8 DENE
- - - - - - - - - paeo 1paid -
168'0Y 164 oey'y 19601 660'LL - 8EG'E 86.°L o2’z abebyop -
zio'cl oL 1012 998’ 697y zrl 604 8l L£9 aseyoind auH -
saoueApe pue Bupueuly
8££'008 - 000'sy - 8£e’ 128 - - - - 3nyns patonbun -
Aunjew-o}-pjay SjustiisaA U BloUBULY
59/.'L6L°L G6.LLG') 252'GL - 009'601 - 290'02 - 066'v1
81Z'I0L ErzAlN:i4 2S¢'SL - 099'601 - 290°0C - 966'v1 3nyns pajonbun -
295’9601 1¥5'960'L - - - - - - - S8NUNJ3s JaxJew ASUo -
a|es-10}
-3lqEjieAR SJUBLISaAUL [BDUBULY
188'6€1 188'6€1 - - - - - - -
188'6E) 188'6€1 - - - - - - - ynyns pajonbun -
- - - - - - - - - Sa1uNoas JaxIew Asuol -
Buipe.j-10}-pay sjesse [erueuld
ore'Zy 150°2¢ - S - - 18Y°2 262°L - S195SE |2DUBUY SANBALRQ
000'6€9 000'65€9 - - - - - - - suogmnsul
|EIDUBUY JOYI0 PUE SHUBG
yim sjuawaoed pue syisodag
599'122 599'122 - - - - - - - SPpUny ULIBJ-HOLS pue Yse)
00044 000.WM 000N 000, 000,44 000, 000,44 000, 000,
jej01ang ERILEN UORBJIUNWIWOYD  SIUBINE}say uolINNsSUSD FETITY Buumaegnuey Buikiieny a1nyjnouby 2102
pue pue sbeing pue |aj0H pue seg) pue Bujuiy
ELULITE] ‘wodsuesy pUB apeL] {telay ‘f3o10013

pue aiesajoyp
(‘pauod) sishieuy Ansnpuy (1)
{"Q.INOD) INIWIADYNYIN MSIY 1IGaND 8%

{*.INOD) LNIWIOYNYI MSIN 8%

N~92656Z "ON Auedwo)




Lyl

2eY'e9e’9 0se'L ZL5°T8L') Z12'6L1 89.'€G 89€'08Y 220'01 0vZ'0SE'y sanIqel} usbunuoo
pUE SJUSWIIWILIOD je30)
690°6G1°L - - 169 865°CY 285'09 - 8€2'250'} ey Juabuguo)
£9€'¥02'S 0sZ't TL6°T6L') 19G'vLL 0L1'804 98L'61LY 220'01 200'862'C SIuBWRWIWOY
20b'L6Y'98 966'G1L 1 0S0'€LY'Z) $£0'2L0L 886'€6E 088'109'2 #80°'192't 069'961'91 s)assE [edueuy jejo)
LLY'eLT 90¢'L 2 - oyl ovL's Gze'ol 6.8'852 sjasse [eoueUY 1Yo
000'01L8 - - - - - 000'018 - eisfejeny eieban
sueg yum ysodap Aloinelg
0zZL'v18 - - - - 000'66 - 0zL'ShL sjodJew dAdE Ul
UQO:U 10U SjuaLusanu DBAIDIDY
95.'6£2'L2 056'L1L £20'€LY'2L 110'20L £90'78¢ 188'06€'Z - 20L'61G'LL
(082'252) - - - - - - - 20LIBMOJjE DAHD3]I0D) 15537
$62'80%"L - - [T 784 2Ly - 180'L6E' apes]
$68'766 - 16v'6 ¥62'91 925°19 250'0L2 - 1€6'169 saulf ysed
961'052'S - 4! z1e'eLL G68'LE 095'092 - S.6'6L2'Y sypao Buinjoney
G68'2€L'L PYE'TL gz6'ee oly'sey 081’852 Lze'00t'L - 609'296't Buioueuy Guibpuq pue uus |
:saoueApe pue Bupueuy ayeiodio) -
L1e'6eT') 189 1€6'8L0') 786’8 6p'G1 886°C - 1€2'821 s12YI0 -
FAcAIRY - we'Le - - - - - pJEd UPaID -
162'128' 729’y ovlL'LzL'e 9z6'8l1 169'21 $60'21L - L68'9¥ abebyon -
Lye'62e’L €0€ 892'90¢€°L zse'e 0.2'2 g€l - zIo'el aseyound ailH -
saoueape pue Supueul
122'842') - - - - - £88'LLY 8€€'998 . ynyns pajonbun -
btamEuou.U_mc SUSULHSOAUL [BIOUBUIY
yeLeer'e 0v9'96 - - 191'6 652601 662'22¢ S9LLBL'Y
8/8'016 0¥9'96 - - 19.'6 652'604 - 81Z'10L Anyns pajonbupy -
aye'els'y - - - - - 662°22¥ L¥5'960'} SaNLN0SS JseLl ASUOI -
a|es-10§
-9]qEjIEAR SJUBWIISAAUL j2IoUBUIS
S9%'189 - - - - - #86'L¥S 188'6E1
188'6EL - - - - - - 188'6EL ynyns pajyonbup -
8S°LYS - - - - - $86'1L¥S - SajuNoas JaxIew AaUop -
Buipe.l-Joj-pjay S}9SSE |eiouBu
18€'2y - - Ll vZ - - ore'zy S}OSSE [BDUBUY SALEAURQ
000'5€9 - - - - - - 000'5€9 suonniisul
: edURUY 12YJ0 PUE SYUE]
um sjuawaoeld pue sysodaQ
859'082'2 - - - - - £66'$90'2 699'1Z2 SPUN} LIB}-HOYS pue Use)
000,y 000.NY 000, 000,41 000y 000N 0001 000,WY
12101 s12Y10 ployasnoy thieaH pue saiAlOY ajelsa |eay s)yueg abed 2102
uvoiteanpg ssauisng jeJzuad pue snoiaald woyy
JUBILIDACL) felolang

(pauoo) siskieuy Ansnpuy {1}
(‘Q.LNOD) INIWIDYNYW MSIY 1Ia3xD Z'8y

("Q.INOD) INFWIDVYNYI MSIN ‘8¢

N-9.5662 "ON Auedwo)d




Company No. 295576-U

48. RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT'D.)
48.2 CREDIT RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT'D.)

(ii) Geographical Analysis

2018 ) In Outside
Malaysia Malaysia Total
RM'000 RM'000 RM'000
Cash and short-term funds 1,551,570 36,859 1,688,429
Deposits and placements with
banks and other financial institutions 200,000 - 200,000
Derivative financial assets 87,408 - 87,408
Financial assets held-for-trading
- Money market securities 928,203 - 928,203
- Unquoted sukuk 656,429 - 656,429
1,584,632 - 1,584,632

Financial investments
available-for-sale

- Money market securities 1,733,881 - 1,733,881
- Unquoted sukuk 1,104,685 - 1,104,685
2,838,566 - 2,838,566
Financial investments held-to-
maturity
- Unguoted sukuk 1,090,010 - 1,090,010
Financing and advances
- Hire purchase 5,783,127 - 5,783,127
- Mortgage 5,459,297 - 5,459,297
- Credit card 495 676 - 495,676
- Others 1,986,666 - 1,986,666
- Corporate financing and advances:
Term and bridging financing 6,771,928 - 6,771,928
Revolving credit 4,613,437 - 4,613,437
Cash lines © 1,316,549 - 1,316,549
Trade 1,582,428 - 1,582,428
Less: Collective allowance (233,272) - (233,272)
27,775,836 - 27,775,836
Receivables: Investments not quoted
in active markets 790,833 - 790,833
Statutory deposit with Bank
Negara Malaysia 821,000 - 821,000
Other financial assets 206,313 - 206,313
Total financial assets 36,946,168 36,859 36,983,027
Commitments 7,305,000 - 7,305,000
Contingent liabilities 1,202,829 - 1,202,829
Total commitments and
contingent liabilities 8,507,829 - 8,507,829
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(ii)) Geographical Analysis (Cont'd.)

2017 In Outside
Malaysia Malaysia Total
RN'000 RM'000 RN'000
Cash and short-term funds 2,264,993 21,665 2,286,658
Deposits and placements with
banks and other financial institutions 635,000 - 635,000
Derivative financial assets 42,381 - 42,381
Financial assets held-for-trading
- Money market securities 541,584 - 541,584
- Unguoted sukuk 139,881 - 139,881
: 681,465 - 681,465

Financial investments
available-for-sale

- Money market securities 1,518,846 - 1,618,846
- Unquoted sukuk 916,878 - 916,878
2,435,724 - 2,435,724
Financial investments held-to-maturity
- Unguoted sukuk 1,278,221 - 1,278,221
Financing and advances
- Hire purchase 7,325,341 - 7,325,341
- Mortgage 3,827,297 - 3,827,297
~ Credit card 317,242 - 317,242
- Others 1,235,317 - 1,235,317
- Corporate financing and advances:
Term and bridging financing 7,132,895 - 7,132,895
Revolving credits 5,250,756 - 5,250,756
Cash lines 994,894 - 994,894
Trade 1,408,294 - 1,408,294
Less: Collective allowance (252,280) - (252,280)
27,239,756 - 27,239,756
Receivables: Investments not quoted
in active markets 814,720 - 814,720
Statutory deposit with Bank
Negara Malaysia 810,000 - 810,000
Other financial assets 273,477 - 273,477
Total financial assets 36,475,737 21,665 36,497,402
Commitments 5,204,363 - 5,204,363
Contingent liabilities 1,159,069 - 1,159,069
Total commitments and
contingent liabilities 6,363,432 - 6,363,432
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Main Types of Collateral Taken by The Bank

Collateral is generally taken as security for credit exposure as a secondary source of
payment in case the counterparty cannot meet its contractual payment obligations from
cash flow generation. Types of collateral typically taken by the Bank include:

» Cash and term deposits;

- Exchange traded shares, sukuk and marketable securities;

« Non-exchange traded debt securities/sukuk;

- Unit trusts (including Amanah Saham Nasional, Amanah Saham Bumiputera and
mutual funds);

- Non-exchange traded shares;

- Residential and non-residential property;

+ Plantation land, mining land, quarry land and vacant land;

- Passenger vehicle, commercial vehicle, construction vehicle and vessel; and

+ Plant and machineries.

The Bank can only accept Shariah-approved assets as collateral.

Where the customer risk profile is considered very sound (or by nature of the product,
for instance small limit products such as credit cards), a transaction may be provided on
an “unsecured” basis, that is, not supported by collateral.

In addition to rating the customer’s probability-of-default via an internal risk rating
system, the Bank uses Security Indicators (*Sis”) in its non-retail portfolio to assess the
strength of collateral supporting its exposures.

The AMMB Group Collateral Policy is the internally recognised collateral framework for
financing purposes as well as for regulatory capital.

Processes for Collateral Management

To support the development of processes around collateral valuation and management,
the concept of legal enforceability and certainty are central to collateral management. In
order to achieve legal enforceability and certainty, the Bank has standard collateral
instruments, and where applicable, security interests are registered.
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Guarantee Support

Guarantee support for financing proposals are an integral component in transaction .
structuring for the Bank. The guarantee of a financially strong party can help improve
the risk grade of a transaction through its explicit support of the customer, where the
customer’s risk grade will be enhanced with the guarantor’s risk grade.

Guarantees that are recognised for risk grading purposes may be provided by parties
that include associated entities, banks or sovereigns. Credit policies provide threshold
parameters to determine acceptable counterparties in achieving risk grade
enhancement of the transaction. Guarantee by a counterparty with lower rating than the
customer is not recognised as part of the risk grade enhancement.

Use of Credit Derivatives and Netting for Risk Mitigation

Currently, the Bank does not use credit derivatives and netting for risk mitigation.
Transaction Structuring to Mitigate Credit Risk

Besides tangible security and guarantee support described above, credit risk mitigation
techniques are used in structuring transactions. These include duration limits managing
the number of years the financing is extended, amortisation schedules and financing
covenants. These assist in managing credit risk and in providing early warning signals,
whereby should financing covenants be breached, the Bank and the customer can work
together to address the underlying causes and as appropriate, restructure facilities.

Concentrations of Credit Risk Mitigation

The Bank carefully monitors collateral concentrations via portfolio management
reporting and amendments as necessary to its Risk Appetite Framework and related
policies governing Financing to Value metrics.

The main types of collateral undertaken by the Bank are properties, motor vehicles and
exchange traded shares.
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Credit Quality

The credit quality of financial assets are analysed based on broad categories. Internal
credit rating grades assigned to corporate and retail financing business are currently
alligned to 8 rating categories (seven for non-defaulted and one for those that have
defaulted) in accordance with the Capital Adequacy Framework (Basel Il — Risk-Weighted

Assets). The following categories based on the descriptions appended below.

Description of the Categories for Retail Banking

1t0 6

Exceptionally
Strong

0.0001% to
0.0737%

Exceptionally good credit risk profile.

- Very strong willingness to meet its
financial commitments.

» Exhibits high degree resilience to

adverse development.

7to12

Very strong

0.0738% to
0.5942%

» Very Good credit risk profile.

« Strong willingness to meet its financial
commitments.

» Exhibits high degree resilience to
adverse development.

13 to 14

Strong

0.5943% to
1.0159%

» Good credit risk profile.

» Exhibit willingness to meet its financial
commitments.

» Generally in a position to withstand
adverse development.

15to 16

Satisfactory

1.0160% to
2.2722%

« Satisfactory credit risk profile.

» Adequate willingness to meet its
financial commitments.

« Generally in a position to resolve any
apparent shortcoming within an
acceptable time frame.

17 to 18-

Moderate

2.2723% to
4.1028%

» Moderate credit risk profile.

« Willingness to meet its financial
commitments would be uncertain in
normal circumstances and economic
conditions.

19+ to 20-

Marginal

4.1029% to
8.2931%

» Marginal credit risk profile.

» Willingness to meet its financial
commitments would be uncertain under
normal circumstances and economic

conditions.
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Credit Quality (Cont'd.)

Description of the Categories for Retail Banking

>=8.2932% |+ Substandard credit risk profile.
» Exhibit less willingness to meet its
financial commitments under normal

circumstances and economic conditions.

21to 24 |Substandard

99 Impaired 100% + Classified as impaired as per the
Policy on Definition of Default/lmpaired
for Credit Facility.

Description of the categories for Wholesale Banking

Excep ldhélly Highest rating, for e;ceptioﬁally gtfong government institutions and a small
strong number of very large multinational institutional clients. The key]
characteristics are:-

- Exceptionally solid and stable operating and financial performance.
Debt servicing capacity has been exceptionally strong over the long
term.

- All available information, of which there is a substantial quantity of
extremely high quality, supports the view that these historical
performance standards will be maintained for the foreseeable future.

- Highly unlikely to be adversely affected by foreseeable events.

Very Strong  |Strong government institutions or institutional clients, with identifiably

higher, albeit modest, long term risk but still demonstrating solid and stable

operating and financial performance. The key characteristics are:-

- Based on their activities, financial profile and past capacity to repay,

- counterparties with this rating carry a small, but clearly identifiable
degree of risk.

- Debt servicing capacity in previous period has been substantial and
solid, and is projected to continue over the medium term but may be
more vulnerable to changes in business, economic and financial
conditions than is the case for stronger ratings.
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Credit Quality (Cont'd.)

Description of the categories for Wholesale Banking

stability and consistency but they are identifiably susceptible to cyclical
trends or variability in earnings. The key characteristics are:-

- Counterparties present an identifiable degree of generally acceptable
risk, possibly expressing itself as variability in financial and/or operating
performance.

- Debt servicing capacity is quite good but adverse changes in
circumstances and economic conditions are more likely to impair this
capacity.

Satisfactory

Counterparties demonstrate adequate medium term operational and
financial stability. Protection factors are considered sufficient for prudent
investment. The key characteristics are:-

- Counterparties present a mostly satisfactory risk that requires
mitigation, possibly expressing itself as variability in financial and/ or
operating performance.

- Debt servicing capacity is satisfactory but adverse changes in
circumstances and economic condition may impair this capacity.

- Counterparty’s financial and/ or non-financial profile provides a limited
buffer to mitigate the negative impact of any future adverse changes in
circumstances and economic conditions.

Moderate

Counterparties demonstrate limited operational and financial stability and
may have a track record of fluctuating and poor earnings and profitability
evidencing their past susceptibility to cyclical trends. The key
characteristics are:-

- Capacity for timely fulfilment of financial obligations exists.

- Adverse economic condition or changing business environment is more
likely to lead to weakened capacity to meet timely repayment in the
long run.

- Overall credit quality may be more volatile within this category.
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Credit Quality (Cont'd.)

Description of the categories for Wholesale Banking

'K/I—arginal Counterparties demonstrate sustained operational and financial instability
The key characteristics are:-
- Erratic performance with one or more recent loss periods, increased
borrowings or patchy account conduct.
- Debt servicing capacity is marginal.
- Often under strong, sustained competitive pressure.
- Variability and uncertainty in profitability and liquidity is projected to
continue over the short and possibly medium term.
- Significant changes and instability in senior management may be
observed.
Substandard |Lowest rating for counterparties that continuously demonstrate operational
and financial instability. The key characteristics are:-
- Mediocre financials with consistent loss periods, increased borrowings
and/or poor account conduct.
- Current and expected debt servicing capacity is inadequate.
- Financial solvency is questionable and/or financial structure is weak.
- Deteriorating state of business and require significant changes in
strategies or practices to return business to sustainable state.
- Experiencing difficulties, which may result in default in the next one to
two years.
Impaired Impaired account. The key characteristic is that the counterparty has been
classified as “impaired” as per the Classified Account Management Policy
for Credit Facility.
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Impairment
Definition of Past Due and Impaired Financing and advances
All financing and advances are categorised as either:
» Neither past due nor impaired;
» Past due but not impaired; or

* Impaired

An asset is considered past due when any payment (whether principal and/or profit) due
under the contractual terms are received late or missed.

A financing is classified as impaired under the following circumstances:

(@) When the principal or profit or both is past due' or the amount outstanding is in
excess of approved limit (for revolving facilities), each for more than 90 days or 3

months on any material obligationz; or

(b) For financing where repayments are scheduled on intervals of 3 months or longer,
the financing is to be classified as impaired 1+30 days or 1 day+1 month past due

(the 30-days grace period is to allow for exclusion of administrative default®); or

(¢) For trade bills/facilities, an account is deemed defaulted and impaired when the
past due is 90 days from due date of the bill.

1 For credit card facilities, an account is "past due" when the card member fails to settle the minimum
monthly repayment due before the next billing date.

2 Material obligation as determined by Management. Current “material” threshold is set at more than
RM200.00.

3 Administrative defaults include cases where exposures become overdue because of oversight on the part
of the obligor and/or the banking institution. Instances of administrative defaults may be excluded from the
historical default count, subject to appropriate policies and procedures established by the banking
institution to evaluate and approve such cases.
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48.2 CREDIT RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT'D.)

Impairment (Cont'd.)

Definition of Past Due and Impaired Financing (Cont'd.)

(d) A financing may also be classified as impaired:

iii.

If it is probable that the bank will be unable to collect all amounts due
(including both profit and principal) according to the contractual terms of the
agreement; or
Due to cross-default. Cross-default occurs when:
- a default of a financing obligation of a customer triggers a default of
another financing obligation of the same customer; or

- a default of a financing obligation of a customer triggers a default of a
financing obligation of other customers within the same customer group.

The Watchlist and Classification Committee ("WACC") is allowed to waive
the declaration of cross-default across all accounts of the same customer or
accounts of all customers within the same customer group; or

if deemed appropriate by the WACC or CACC.

(e) Debt instruments (for example, corporate bond and sukuk, debt converted
instruments etc.) shall be classified as impaired.

When the coupon/profit payment or face/nominal value redemption is one (1)
day past due after the grace period, where there is a stipulated grace period
within the contractually agreed terms; or

When an event of default ("EOD") has been declared by the Trustee/Facility '
Agent® for reasons other than payment in default (as outlined in the Trust
Deeds Guidelines issued by the Securities Commission of Malaysia); or
Where it is deemed appropriate to classify as impaired and approved by the
WACC.

() The financing is deemed impaired when it is classified as R & R in the Central
Credit Reference Information System (“CCRIS”).

4 In cases where the bond/sukuk holdings are not governed by a Trust Deed, the Facility Agent may declare,
if so requested in writing by the bond/sukuk holders by way of Special Resolution that an EOD has
occurred (subject to the Agency Agreement between issuers and facility agent), notwithstanding the stated
maturity of the bond/sukuk.
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Company No. 295576-U
48. RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT'D.)
48.2 CREDIT RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT'D.)

Aging Analysis of Past Due But Not Impaired Financial Assets

2018
Upto1 > 1 month
month to 3 months Total
RM'000 RM'000 RM'000
Gross financing and advances
- Hire purchase 1,525,765 291,110 1,816,875
- Mortgage 705,357 167,891 873,248
- Credit card 67,932 22,068 90,000
- Others 181,398 60,888 242,286
- Corporate financing and advances:
Term and bridging financing 48,894 7,224 56,118
Cash lines 7,483 - 7,483
2,536,829 549,181 3,086,010
2017
Up to1 > 1 month
month to 3 months Total
RM'000 RM'000 RM'000
Gross financing and advances
- Hire purchase 1,895,833 335,866 2,231,699
- Mortgage 432,414 107,450 539,864
- Credit card ‘ 40,175 15,318 55,493
- Others 125,013 42,632 167,645
- Corporate financing and advances: ‘
Term and bridging financing 48,556 11,880 60,436
2,541,991 513,146 3,055,137
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Company No. 295576-U
48. RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT'D.)
48.2 CREDIT RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT'D.)
Collateral Repossessed

There was no collateral taken into possession during the financial year and held as at
the end of year.

Methodology for Determination of Individual and Collective Allowances

An assessment is performed to determine whether objective evidence of impairment
exists individually for financial assets that are individually significant, and collectively for
financial assets that are not individually significant or not individually impaired.

Individual Assessment

Individual assessment is divided into 2 main processes — detection of an event(s) and
an assessment of impairment:

(a) Trigger management

In trigger management, financial assets which are above the pre-set individual
assessment threshold are assessed using the relevant impairment triggers for
objective evidence of impairment.

(b) Valuation of assets

Financial assets which are triggered by the impairment triggers will be measured
for evidence of high likelihood of impairment, that is, estimated recoveries (based
on the discounted cash flow projection method and taking into account economic
conditions) is less than carrying value or fair value is less than the carrying value.

Collective Assessment

Financing and advances, and commitments and contingencies below the significant
threshold and those not assessed to be individually impaired, will be subject to collective
assessment and a collective allowance will be computed accordingly. The collective
impairment assessment and provisioning methodology uses historical loss data to derive
the level of provisions. The collective provisions are computed after making the
necessary adjustments to reflect current economic conditions.

With effect from 31 December 2015, the Bank is required to maintain, in aggregate,
collective impairment allowances and regulatory reserves of no less than 1.2% of total

outstanding ﬁnancing5 net of individual impairment.

5 Excluding financing with an explicit guarantee from the Government of Malaysia.
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Company No. 295576-U
48. RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT'D.)
48.3 LIQUIDITY RISK MANAGEMENT

Liquidity risk is the risk that the organisation either does not have sufficient financial
resources available to meet all its obligations and commitments as they fall due, or can
only access these financial resources at an unreasonable cost. Liquidity risk exposure
arises mainly from the deposit taking and financing activities and market disruption, and
to a lesser extent, significant drawdown of funds from previously contracted financing
and purchase commitments. Funding management is the ongoing ability to raise
sufficient funds to finance actual and proposed business activities at a reasonable cost.
Improper funding management may lead to liquidity problem. On the other hand,
insufficient liquidity risk management may also give rise to funding risk.

The liquidity risk management process is depicted in the table below:

'MonitotingI, S « Monitor limits
“Review ' . g » Periodical review and reporting

The liquidity risk management of the Bank is aligned to the LCR policy issued by BNM.
The primary objective of the Bank’s liquidity risk management is to ensure the
availability of sufficient funds at a reasonable cost to honour all financial commitments
when they fall due. This objective is partly managed through maintenance of a portfolio
of high-quality liquid assets to protect against adverse funding conditions and support
day-to-day operations. The secondary objective is to ensure an optimal funding
structure and to balance the key liquidity risk management objectives, which includes
diversification of funding sources, customer base and maturity period.
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Company No. 295576-U
48. RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT'D.)
48.3 LIQUIDITY RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT'D.)

The Board provides the liquidity risk management oversight including setting and
reviewing the liquidity risk appetite and approves the Bank's liquidity management while
the GALCO and/or GMRC is management committee established by the Board to
oversee the overall liquidity management of the Bank. IBMR jointly with Global Treasury
and Markets ("GTM") and Cash Balance Sheet Management ("CBSM") develop the
liquidity scenario assumptions that are to be approved by the Board.

The AMMB Group has put in place a Contingency Funding Plan which is established by
CBSM to identify early warning signals of possible liquidity problem. The Contingency
Funding Plan also sets out the detailed responsibilities among the relevant departments
in the event of actual liquidity crises occurring to ensure orderly execution of procedures
to restore the liquidity position and confidence in the organisation.

The Bank has in place various liquidity measurements that support the broader strategic
objectives of the Bank and amongst others include the BNM LCR, Depositors
Concentration Ratio and other Liquidity Ratios. IBMR is responsible for monitoring the
controls and limits while the GTM is responsible to ensure the controls and limits are
within the thresholds.

Stress testing is undertaken to assess and plan for the impact for various scenarios
which may put the Bank’s liquidity at risk. The Bank further stresses the importance of
the stable funding sourceto finance financing to customers. They are monitored using
the financing to available funds ratio, which compares financing and advances to
customers as a percentage's of the Bank's total available funds.

To measure the quality of the Bank's funding sources, the composition of core funds
indicator is monitored on a regular basis. The core funds is defined as deposits from
retail and small business customers, operational deposits, non-financial institutions
deposits more than 1 year and debt instrument/long term borrowings more than 1 year.

In preparation to the impending implementation of BNM’s Basel lll Net Stable Funding
Ratio (“NSFR”), the Bank is already monitoring the NSFR and continues to pursue
strategies to ensure the availability of cost effective liquidity.
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Company No. 295576-U
48. RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT'D.)
48.4 MARKET RISK MANAGEMENT

Market risk is the risk of losses due to adverse changes in the level or volatility of
market rates or prices, such as profit rates, credit spreads, equity prices and foreign
exchange rates. The Bank differentiates between two types of market risk: Traded
Market Risk (“TMR”) and Non-Traded Market Risk (“NTMR”). Assessment, control and
monitoring of these risks are the responsibilities of Investment Banking and Markets
Risk (“iIBMR”).

Traded Market Risk

The TMR management process is depicted in the table below.

Moriitoringl o «  Monitor limits
" Review » Periodical review and reporting

TMR arises from transactions in which the Bank acts as principal with clients or the
market. It involves taking positions in fixed income, equity, foreign exchange,
commodities and/or derivatives. The objectives of TMR management are to understand,
accurately measure and work with the business to ensure exposures are managed
within the Board and GMRC approved limit structures and risk appetite. This is done via
robust traded market risk measurement, limit setting, limit monitoring and collaboration
and agreement with Business units.
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48. RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT'D.)
48.4 MARKET RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT'D.)
Traded Market Risk (Cont'd.)

VaR, Loss Limits, HSL and other detailed management controls are used to measure,
monitor and control TMR exposures. VaR is a quantitative measure which applies
recent historic market conditions to estimate potential losses in market value, at a
certain confidence level and over a specified holding period. Loss limits serve to alert
management on the need to take relevant and appropriate action once they are
triggered.

To complement VaR, HSL is used as a measure of the potential impact on portfolio
values due to more extreme, albeit plausible, market movements. In addition, HSL is
used to gauge and ensure that the Bank is able to absorb extreme, unanticipated
market movements.

Apart from VaR, Loss Limits and HSL, additional sensitivity controls and indicators are
used to monitor changes in portfolio value due to changes in risk factors under different
market conditions.

IBMR monitors and reports risk exposures against limits on a daily basis. Portfolio
market risk positions are also reported to GMRC, RMC and the Board. Furthermore,
policies and procedures are in place to ensure prompt action is taken in the event of non-
adherence to limits. Business Units exposed to TMR are required to maintain risk
exposures within approved risk limits. Business Units are required to provide an action
plan to address any non-adherence to limits. The action plan must be approved by
Senior Management.

The Bank adopts the Standardised Approach for market risk capital charge
computation. The capital charge serves as a buffer against losses from potential
adverse market movements.

IBMR is committed to on-going improvements in market risk processes and systems,
and allocates substantial resources to this endeavour.
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48. RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT'D.)
48.4 MARKET RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT'D.)
Non-Traded Market Risk
Rate of Return Risk in Banking Book ("RORBB")

The RORBB risk management process is depicted in the table below:

Mon_itori'nglb' : * Monitor fimits
Review T « Periodical review and reporting

RORBB arises from changes in market profit rates that impact core net profit income,
future cash flows or fair values of financial instruments. This risk arises from
mismatches between repricing dates of assets and liabilities, changes in yield curves,
volatilities in profit margins and implied volatilities on profit rate options. The provision of
retail and wholesale banking products and services (primarily financing and deposit-
taking activities) creates profit rate sensitive positions in the Bank's statement of
financial position.

The principal objectives of balance sheet risk management are to manage profit income
sensitivity while maintaining acceptable levels of RORBB and funding risk, and to
manage the economic value of the Bank’s capital.

The Board’s oversight of RORBB is supported by the GALCO and/or GMRC. GALCO
and/or GMRC is responsible for the alignment of Bank-wide risk appetite and funding
needs, taking into consideration Bank-wide business strategies: GALCO and/or GMRC
consistently oversees the Bank’s gapping positions, asset growth and liability mix
against the profit rate outlook. It also reviews strategies to ensure a comfortable level of
RORBB is maintained. The Bank has successfully engaged long-term borrowings and
written profit rate swaps to manage RORBB and maintained an acceptable gapping
profile as a resuit. In accordance with the Bank’s policy, positions are monitored on a
daily basis and hedging strategies are employed to ensure risk exposures are
maintained within Management-established limits.
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48. RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT'D.)
48.4 MARKET RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT'D.)
Non-Traded Market Risk (Cont'd.)
Rate of Return Risk in Banking Book ("RORBB") (Cont'd.)

The Bank measures the risk of losses arising from potential adverse movements in
market profit rates and volatilities using VaR. VaR is a quantitative measure of RORBB
which applies recent historic market conditions to estimate the potential loss in
economic value, at a certain confidence level and over a specified holding period.

The Bank complements VaR by stress testing RORBB exposures to highlight potential
risk that may arise from extreme market events that are rare but plausible.

Key assumptions in the gap and sensitivity analysis relate to the behaviour of profit rates
and spreads, changes in financing and deposit product balances due to behavioural
characteristics under different profit rate environments. Material assumptions include the
repricing characteristics and the stickiness of indeterminate or non-maturity deposits
and financing.

The profit rate scenarios may include rapid ramping of profit rates, gradual ramping of
profit rates, and narrowing or widening of spreads. Usually each analysis incorporates
what management deems the most appropriate assumptions about customer behaviour
in a profit rate scenario. However, in certain cases, assumptions are deliberately
changed to test the Bank’s exposure to a specified event.

The Bank’s strategy seeks to optimise exposure to RORBB within Management-
approved limits. This is achieved through the ability to reposition the profit rate exposure
of the statement of financial position using dynamic product and funding strategies,

~ supported by profit rate hedging activities using profit rate swaps and other derivatives.
These approaches are governed by the Bank’s policies in the areas of product and
liquidity management as well as the banking book policy statements, hedging policies
and Non-Traded Profit Rate Risk Framework.

RORBB exposures are monitored by IBMR and positions reported to GALCO and/or
GMRC, RMC and Board.
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48. RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT'D.)

48.4 MARKET RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT'D.)
Market Risk Sensitivity
(i) Rate of Return Risk

Rate of return risk is that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to
changes in market profit rate and is managed through gap and sensitivity analysis.
Profit rate movements also affect the Bank's income and expense from assets and
liabilities as well as capital fund. The Bank has adopted profit rate risk hedging
measures to cushion the profit rate volatility.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity of the Bank's profit before zakat
and taxation and equity to a reasonable possible change in profit rate with all the
other variables remaining constant.

Traded Market Risk:

2018 2017
Rate of Return Rate of Return Rate of Return  Rate of Return
+ 100 bps - 100 bps + 100 bps -100 bps
(RM'000) (RM'000) (RM'000) (RM'000)
Impact on profit
before zakat
and taxation (20,415) 22,102 (14,105) 15,463
Non-Traded Market Risk:
2018 2017
Rate of Return Rate of Return Rate of Return  Rate of Return
+ 100 bps - 100 bps + 100 bps -100 bps
(RM'000) (RM'000) (RM'000) (RM'000)
Impact on profit
before zakat
and taxation 194,535 (194,576) 155,586 (155,596)
Impact on equity (56,828) 61,657 (61,379) 67,034
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(ii) Foreign Exchange Risk

Foreign exchange risk arises from changes in foreign exchange rates to exposure
on the Bank’s financial instruments denominated in currencies other than the
functional currency of the transacting entity. Position limits are imposed to prevent
the Bank from exposure to excessive foreign exchange risk.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity of the Bank's profit before zakat
and taxation to a reasonable possible change in exchange rates with all other
variables remaining constant.

2018 2017

Exchange rate Exchange rate  Exchange rate = Exchange rate

Currency +10 % -10 % +10 % -10%
(RM'000) (RM'000) (RM'000) (RM'000)

usDb 5,665 (5,665) 1,508 (1,508)
SGD 50 (50) 72 (72)
EUR (6) 6 - -
JPY (0) 0 - -
Others 238 (238) 199 (199)

There is no impact to equity for 2018 and 2017 in respect of foreign exchange risk.
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(iii) Equity Price Risk

Equity price risk arises from the adverse movements in the price of equities. Equity
price risk is controlled via position size, loss limits and VaR limits.

There is no impact to profit before zakat and taxation and equity for 2017 and 2016
in respect of equity price risk.

48.5 OPERATIONAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The operational risk management process is depicted in the table below:

« Monitoring and reporting of loss incidents by Event
Type, Portfolio and Line of Business and entity’

E e reporting of operational risk board and management

Monitoring/ " triggers,risk profile status, key risk indicator breaches

,Reyiew o ceet R and key control testing exeptions.
o : - : « Periodical review of risk profile within Line of
Business

Operational risk is defined as the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal
processes, people and systems or from external incidents which includes, but is not
limited to, legal risk and Shariah compliance risk. It excludes strategic, systemic and
reputationat risk.
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48.5 OPERATIONAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT'D.)

Operational Risk Appetite (‘ORA”) is set as part of overall GRAF, which sets the
acceptable tolerance levels of operational risk that the Bank is willing to accept, taking
into consideration of the relevant financial and non-financial risk or return attributes in
order to support the achievement of the Bank’s strategic plan and business objectives.
The ORA statements and measurements are classified based on operational loss event
types, which are grouped into five (5) categories as below and monitored via Incident
Management and Data Collection, Key Risk Indicator and Key Control Testing.

Fraud (internal and external);

Employment Practices and Workplace Safety;

Client, Products and Business Practices;

Business Disruption, System Failures and Damage to Physical Assets; and
Execution, Delivery and Process Management.

The strategy for managing operational risk in the Bank is anchored on the three (3) lines
of defence concept which are as foliows:

The First Line of Defence ("FLOD") is responsible for the management of
operational risk in order that accountability and ownership are as close as possible
to the activity that creates the risk and ensuring that effective action is taken to
manage them. Enhanced FLOD provides a business specific focus on the
implementation of operational risk management activities and supports more
effective day-to-day monitoring of operational risks.

In the second line, Group Operational Risk is responsible for exercising
governance over operational risk through the management of the operational risk
framework, policy development, quality assurance of internal controls, operational
risk measurement, validation of FLOD effectiveness and capital allocation, fraud
strategy and reporting of operational risk issues to GMRC, RMC and the Board.

Group Internal Audit acts as the third and final line of defence by providing
independent assurance on the internal control effectiveness through periodic audit
programme.
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48.5 OPERATIONAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT'D.)

i. Business Continuity Management

The Business Continuity Management (*BCM”) process is depicted in the table
below:

.+ BCM Plan testing and exercise
'« ReviewofBCMPlan
s Planmaintenance - -

The BCM function forms an integral part of Operational Risk Management. It
places the importance of maintaining a BCM framework and policies to identify
events that could potentially threaten the Bank’s operations and establishment of
critical functions recovery against downtimes. BCM builds the resilience and
recovery capability to safeguard the interest of the Bank’s stakeholders by
protecting our brand and reputation.

The BCM process complements the effort of the recovery team and specialist units
to ensure the Bank has the required critical capabilities and resources, such as IT
system disaster recovery, alternate workspace and effective communication during
interruptions.

The Bank is continuously reviewing the level of business operations resiliency and
conduct periodical testing to enhance the BCM capability throughout all critical
departments and branches across the region. Training is an on-going agenda to
heighten the BCM awareness and inculcate a business resilience culture.
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48.6 CYBER RISK MANAGEMENT

Cyber threat is an emerging risk as the migration to the electronic platform intensifies, in
part driven by the green agenda. As digitization has presented us with opportunities to
innovate our banking solutions, and with greater volumes of data stored digitally now
than before, the resilience of the AMMB Group’s IT infrastructure and cyber security
capabilites are of paramount importance, especially with regards to safeguarding
customers’ information. Thus, we are mindful of the need to have adequate safeguards
against cyber-security threats.To this end, in FY 18, the AMMB Group has acknowledged
the importance of cyber security and resiliency and therefore, has broadened its
operational risk management capabilities to encompass cyber risk management.

48.7 LEGAL RiISK

In all the jurisdictions that the Bank conducts its business, it is subject to legal risks
arising from potential breaches of applicable laws, unenforceability of contracts,
lawsduits, or adverse judgement, failure to respond to changes in regulatory framework
and failure to protect assets (including intellectual properties) owned by the Bank which
may lead to incurrence of losses, disruption or otherwise impact on the Bank’s financials
or reputation.

Legal risk is overseen by GMRC, upon advice by internal legal counsel and, where
necessary, in consultation with external legal counsel to ensure that such risk is
appropriately managed.

48.8 REGULATORY COMPLIANCE RISK

The AMMB Group has in place a compliance framework to promote the safety and
soundness of the AMMB Group by minimising financial, reputational and operational
risks arising from regulatory non-compliance.

The AMMB Group believes in and embraces a stronger compliance culture to reflect a
corporate culture of high ethical standards and integrity where the Board and Senior
Management lead by example.

The AMMB Group continues to exercise and enhance its due diligence governance
process and remains vigilant towards emerging risk as well as sensitive towards
heightened regulatory surveiliance and enforcement.
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48.9 SHARIAH RISK

AmBark islamic

Bomdof
: Directors
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The AMMB Group has established the Shariah governance structure for its Islamic
banking operations in accordance with the requirements of the IFSA and BNM's
"Shariah Governance Framework for Islamic Financial Institutions”. This is to ensure
that the operations and business activities of the Bank comply with Shariah principies
and its requirements.
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Apart from Shariah Research & Advisory, Shariah Risk Management and Shariah
Review functions which reside in the Bank, the Bank’s Shariah governance structure
leverages on the Group platform of Group Internal Audit Department for Shariah Audit
function. '

Board of Directors

The Board is accountable and responsible for the overall oversight on the Shariah
governance and Shariah compliance, including the assessment, appointment and
remuneration of the Shariah Committee members. The Board performs its oversight
through various committees such as AEC, RMC and the Shariah Committee.

Audit Examination Committee ("AEC") of Directors

AEC is a Board committee responsible for assisting the Board in ensuring Islamic
Banking operations of the AMMB Group are Shariah compliant through oversight of the
Shariah Audit function performed by Group Internal Audit Department. The updates on
Shariah Review are also presented to the AEC.

Risk Management Committee

Risk Management Committee is a Board committee responsible for assisting the
Board in ensuring risk management and control processes are in place and functioning,
including Shariah risk management.

Shariah Committee

The Shariah Committee is responsible and accountable on matters related to Shariah.
This includes advising the Board and Management on Shariah matters and endorsing
and validating products and services, Shariah policies and the relevant documentation in
relation to Islamic Banking operations. The Shariah Committee also provides advice and
guidance on management of zakat fund, charity and other social programmes or
activities.
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Shariah Oversight Committee

The Shariah Oversight Committee, which is a sub-committee to the Shariah Committee,
performs an oversight function on banking operations from Shariah perspective. The
Committee provides guidance and advice on matters pertaining to Shariah non-
compliant incidences as well as treatment of Shariah non-compliant income (if any).

Management/Chief Executive Officer

The Management/Chief Executive Officer ("CEQ") is responsible to make reference to
the Shariah Committee and/or Shariah Oversight Committee on Shariah matters and to
take necessary measures for implementation. The Management/CEO is also
responsible in setting the infrastructure and providing the environment and adequate
resources to support the Shariah governance structure. This includes putting in place
adequate systems and controls in order to ensure compliance with Shariah and to
mitigate Shariah non-compliance risk.

Shariah Research and Advisory

The Shariah Research and Advisory Department is accountable to the Shariah
Committee and is responsible for providing day-to-day Shariah advisory, including
Shariah legal aspects, conducting Shariah research, formulating Shariah policies and
acting as Secretariat to the Shariah Committee and the Shariah Oversight Committee.

Shariah Risk Management

The Shariah Risk Management (“SRM”) section is accountabie to the RMC. The SRM
is a function to systematically identify, measure, monitor and control of Shariah non-
compliance risks to mitigate any possible non-compliance events.

The Shariah Risk Management is executed through the three lines of defence in
managing Shariah risk. The three lines of defence are: 1st-The Business Units and
Functional Lines; 2nd- Shariah Risk Management, Shariah Review, Shariah Research
and Advisory; 3rd - Shariah Audit.
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Shariah Review

The Shariah Review Section is accountable to the Shariah Oversight Committee. The
objective of the Shariah review function is to provide reasonable self-assurance for the
Bank in its daily activities and operations thus to add value and improve the degree of
Shariah awareness and compliance.

Shariah Audit

The Shariah Audit Section is accountable to the AEC. A designated team within the
Group Internal Audit Department is responsible to conduct independent assessment on
the level of Shariah compliance of Islamic banking business and operations. The
Shariah audit covers all activities particularly the operational components of the Bank
(including functions outsourced to AmBank (M) Berhad or Aminvestment Bank Berhad)
that are subjected to the risk of Shariah non-compliance including but not limited to
products, operational processes, the technology supporting the operations, the people
involved in key areas of risk, documentation and contracts, policies and procedures and
other activities that require the adherence to Shariah principles.

Shariah Non-Compliant Income

For the financial year ended 31 March 2018, there was one (1) SNC incident with SNC
income of RM3,699. Purification of the SNC income is made in accordance with the
method as approved by the Shariah Oversight Committee. The incident is attributed due
to the lack of awareness of the staff in handling extension case for Islamic financing.
Pursuant to the incident, the Bank has implemented certain measures to mitigate
recurrence of similar incident in the future, including heigthened staff awareness and
review of process. There had been no actual SNC incident and SNC income for the
financial year ended 31 March 2017. ‘
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Financial instruments are contracts that gives rise to both a financial asset of one enterprise
and a financial liability or equity instrument of another enterprise. The fair value of a financial
instrument is the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged or settled between
knowledgeable and willing parties in an arm’s length transaction, other than a forced or
liquidated sale. The information presented herein represents best estimates of fair values of
financial instruments at the reporting date.

Where available, quoted and observable market prices are used as the measure of fair
values. Where such quoted and observable market prices are not available, fair values are
estimated based on a number of methodologies and assumptions regarding risk
characteristics of various financial instruments, discount rates, estimates of future cash flows
and other factors. Changes in the assumptions could materially affect these estimates and
the corresponding fair values.

In addition, fair value information for non-financial assets and liabilities such as deferred
taxation are excluded, as they do not fall within the scope of MFRS 7 Financial Instruments:
Disclosures, which requires the fair value information to be disclosed.
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a) Financial instruments not measured at fair value (excluding those financial instruments
where the carrying amounts are reasonable approximation of their fair values).

2018 2017
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
value value value value
RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000
Financial assets
Financial investments held-to
-maturity 1,090,010 1,064,610 1,278,221 1,261,006
Financing and advances * 5,553,567 5,659,787 6,947,483 7,047,928
Receivables : Investments
not quoted in
active markets ** 715,980 735,722 814,720 824,749
7,359,557 7,460,119 9,040,424 9,133,683
Financial liabilities
Recourse obligation on
financing soid to Cagamas
Berhad 520,405 527,427 617,713 623,391
Term funding 1,080,000 1,072,268 1,850,000 1,852,141
Subordinated Sukuk 999,839 1,009,509 979,679 989,342
2,600,244 2,609,204 3,447,392 3,464,874

Note
* excluding financing and advances of RM22,222,269,000 (2017: RM20,292,273,000)
where the carrying amounts are reasonable approximation of their fair values.

**  excluding receivables for investments not quoted in active markets of RM74,853,000
(2017: RM Nil) with maturity of less than six months. The carrying amounts are
reasonable approximation to their fair values.
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b) The following table provides the fair value measurement hierarchy of the Bank's assets
and liabilities. '

Valuation techniques

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM’000
2018
Financial assets measured
at fair value
Derivative financial assets 87,408 - 87,408

Financial assets held-
for-trading

- Money market securities 928,203 - 928,203
- Unquoted sukuk 656,429 - 656,429
Financial investments
available-for-sale
- Money market securities 1,733,881 - 1,733,881
- Unquoted sukuk 1,104,685 - 1,104,685
Assets for which fair
values are disclosed
Financial investments
held-to-maturity 1,064,610 - 1,064,610
Financing and advances 5,659,787 - 5,659,787
Receivables : Investments
not quoted in
active markets 725,734 9,988 735,722
11,960,737 9,988 11,970,725
Financial liabilities
measured at fair value
Derivative financial liabilities 92,939 - 92,939
Financial liabilities for
values are disclosed
Recourse obligation of
financing sold to Cagamas
Berhad 527,427 - 527,427
Term funding 1,072,268 - 1,072,268
Subordinated Sukuk 1,009,509 - 1,009,509
2,702,143 - 2,702,143
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b) The following table provides the fair value measurement hierarchy of the Bank’s assets
and liabilities (Cont'd.).

Valuation techniques

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000
2017
Financial assets measured
at fair value
Derivative financial assets - 42,381 - 42,381
Financial assets held-
for-trading ,
- Money market securities - 541,583 - 541,583
- Unquoted sukuk - 139,882 - 139,882
Financial investments
available-for-sale
- Money market securities - 1,518,846 - 1,518,846
- Unquoted sukuk - 916,878 - 916,878
Assets for which fair
values are disclosed
Financial investments
held-to-maturity - 1,261,006 - 1,261,006
Financing and advances - 7,047,928 - 7,047,928
Receivables : Investments
not quoted in
active markets - 815,325 9,424 824,749
- 12,283,829 9,424 12,293,253
Financia! liabilities
measured at fair value
Derivative financial liabilities - 47,870 - 47,870
Liabilities for which fair
values are disclosed
Recourse obligation of
financing sold to
Cagamas Berhad - 623,391 - 623,391
Term funding - 1,852,141 - 1,852,141
Subordinated Sukuk - 989,342 - 989,342
- 3,512,744 - 3,512,744
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Determination of fair value

The following describes the methodologies and assumptions used to determine fair values for
those financial instruments which are not already recorded at fair value in the financial
statements.

(a)

(b)

(c)

Assets for which fair value approximates carrying value

For financial assets and financial liabilities that have a short-term maturity (less than six
months), demand deposits and savings accounts without a specific maturity, the
carrying amounts approximate to their fair value. For other variable rate instruments, an
adjustment is also made to reflect the change in required credit spread since the
instrument was initially recognised.

Fixed rate financial instruments

The fair value of fixed rate financial assets and liabilities carried at amortised cost are
estimated by comparing market profit rates when they were initially recognised with
current market rates for similar financial instruments. The estimated fair value of fixed
profit bearing deposits is based on discounted cash flows using prevailing money
market profit rates for debts with similar credit risk and maturity. For quoted debt issued,
the fair values are determined based on quoted market prices. For notes issued where
quoted market prices are not available, a discounted cash flow model is used based on
a current profit rate yield curve appropriate for the remaining term to maturity and credit
spreads to the extent such observable inputs are available, or based on indicative rate
of return of the instrument with similar credit risk if relevant observable inputs are not
available.

Financial investments available-for-sale

Financial investments available-for-sale are valued using valuation techniques or pricing
models primarily consist of unquoted sukuk.
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(d) Recourse obligation on financing sold to Cagamas Berhad

(e)

The fair values for recourse obligation on financing sold to Cagamas Berhad are
determined based on discounted cash flows of future instaliment payments at prevailing
rates quoted by Cagamas Berhad as at reporting date.

Contingent liabilities and undrawn credit facilities

The fair value of contingent liabilites and undrawn credit facilities are not readily
ascertainable. These financial instruments are presently not sold or traded. They
generate fees that are in line with market prices for similar arrangements. The
estimated fair value may be represented by the present value of the fees expected to be
received, less associated costs and potential loss that may arise should these
commitments crystallise. The Bank assesses that their respective fair values are
unlikely to be significant given that the overall level of fees involved is not significant.

Determination of fair value hierarchy

The Bank uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of
financial instruments by valuation technique:

Level 1 : Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;
Level 2 : Other techniques for which all inputs which have a significant effect on the

recorded fair value are observable, either directly or indirectly;

Level 3 : Techniques which use inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair

value that are not based on observable market data.

Financial assets and liabilities measured using a valuation technigue based on assumptions
that are supported by prices from observable current market transactions are assets and
liabilities for which pricing is obtained via pricing services, but where prices have not been
determined in an active market, financial assets with fair values based on broker quotes,
investments in private equity funds with fair values obtained via fund managers and assets
that are valued using the Bank’s own models whereby the majority of assumptions are
market observable.
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Determination of fair value hierarchy (Cont'd.)

Non market observable inputs means that fair values are determined, in whole or in part,
using a valuation technique (model) based on assumptions that are neither supported by
prices from observable current market transactions in the same instrument, nor are they
based on available market data. The main asset classes in this category are unlisted equity
investments and debt instruments. Valuation techniques are used to the extent that
observable inputs are not available, thereby allowing for situations in which there is little, if
any, market activity for the asset or liability at the measurement date. However, the fair value
measurement objective remains the same, that is, an exit price from the perspective of the
Bank. Therefore, unobservable inputs reflect the Bank's own assumptions about the
assumptions that market -participants would use in pricing the asset or liability (including
assumptions about risk). These inputs are developed based on the best information
‘available, which might include the Bank's own data.
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51. BUSINESS SEGMENT ANALYSIS

Segment information is presented in respect of the Bank’s business segments. The business
segment information is prepared based on internal management reports, which are regularly
reviewed by the chief operating decision-maker in order to allocate resources to a segment
and to assess its performance.

The Bank comprises the following main business segments:

(a)

(b)

Retail Banking

Retail Banking continues to focus on building mass affluent, affluent and small business
customers. Retail Banking offers products and financial solutions which includes auto
finance, mortgages, personal loans, credit cards, small business loans, priority banking
services, wealth management, remittance services and deposits.

Wholesale Banking

Wholesale Banking comprises Corporate and Commercial Banking and Markets:

(i) Corporate and Commercial Banking

Corporate and Commercial Banking offers a full range of products and services of
corporate lending, trade finance, and cash management solutions to wholesale
banking clients.

(iiy Global Markets

Global Markets includes proprietary trading as well as providing full range of
Shariah compliant products and services relating to treasury activities, including
foreign exchange, derivatives and fixed income. It also offers Shariah compliant
customised investment solutions for customers.

(iiiy Islamic Capital Markets

Islamic Capital Markets offer Islamic advisory services and a wide range of Shariah-
compliant financial and investment solutions that include sukuk origination, islamic
equity or equity related capital markets offerings, Islamic structured finance and
Islamic syndicated financing.

During the current financial year, a new division called Business Banking ("BB") was
established to enhance the Bank's focus on the small and medium sized enterprises
("SME") segment in line with the Bank's strategy. BB comprises two focus areas,
namely Enterprise Banking and Commercial Banking. In view of BB's contribution to the
Bank in terms of revenue, profit and total assets for the current financial year, it is not
disclosed as a reportable segment but included in Wholesale Banking division for
purposes of Business segment analysis.
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(¢) Group Funding and Others

Group Funding and Others comprise activities to maintain the liquidity of the Bank as
well as support operations of its main business units and non-core operations of the
Bank.

Measurement of Segment Performance

The segment performance is measured on income, expenses and profit basis. These are
shown after allocation of certain centralised costs, funding income and expenses directly
associated with each segment. Transactions between segments are recorded within the
segment as if they are third party transactions and are eliminated on aggregation.

Operating Revenue

Operating revenue of the Bank comprises all type of revenue derived from the business
segments.

Major Customers

No revenue from one single customer amounted to greater than 10% of the Bank’s revenue
for the current and previous financial year.

Note:

The revenue generated by a majority of the operating segments substantially comprise
finance income. The Chief Operating Decision Maker relies primarily on the net finance
income information to assess the performance of, and to make decisions about resources to
be allocated to these operating segments.
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Company No. 295576-U
52. RESTATEMENT OF COMPARATIVE INFORMATION

Certain comparative figures were restated arising from BNM circular dated 21 June 2017 on
Classification and Regulatory Treatment for Structured Products under the FSA and IFSA as
per Note 4.2.

The effects arising from the restatement of comparative information is as follows:
(i) Reconciliation of statement of financial position

As previously Reclassification
reported (Notes 18,20,23) As restated

RM'000 RM'000 RNM'000

As at 1 April 2016
Deposits and placements of

of banks and other

financial institutions 1,443,510 (450,000) 993,510
Term funding 1,850,000 450,000 2,300,000
As at 31 March 2017
Deposits from customers 26,891,697 (65,000) 26,836,697
Deposits and placements of

of banks and other

financial institutions 1,346,337 (80,000) 1,266,337
Term funding 1,850,000 135,000 1,985,000

(il Reconciliation of statement of profit or loss

As previously Reclassification

reported (Note 33) As restated
RM'000 RM000 RM'000
For the financial year
ended 31 March 2017
Income attributable to the
depositors and others:
Deposits and placements of
banks and other financial
institutions 59,978 (18,551) 41,427
Others 33,621 18,551 52,172
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Company No. 295576-U
52. RESTATEMENT OF COMPARATIVE INFORMATION (CONT'D.)
(i) Reconciliation of statement of cash flows

As previously
reported Reclassification As restated

RM'000 RM'000 RM'000
For the financial year
ended 31 March 2017
Deposits from customer (1,492,086) (55,000)  (1,547,086)
Deposits and placements of banks
and other financial institutions (97,173) 370,000 272,827
Term funding - (315,000) (315,000)
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